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NOTE TO THE PROSPECTUS 

This prospectus, which contains material information concerning Adobe Systems Incorporated, was 
established pursuant to articles 211-1 to 216-1 of the AMF General Regulation. Pursuant to Article 25 of 
Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 of 29 April 2004 as amended by Commission Delegated 
Regulations (EU) No 486/2012 of 30 March 2012, No 862/2012 of 4 June 2012 and No 759/2013 of 30 
April 2013 (as so amended, the “Prospectus Regulation”), this prospectus is composed of the following 
parts in the following order:  

(1) a table of contents, 

(2) the summary provided for in Article 5(2) of Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and 
of the European Council of 4 November 2003, as amended by Directive 2010/73/EU and 
Directive 2014/51/EU (the “Prospectus Directive”) (Part I constitutes the prospectus summary), 

(3) the risk factors linked to the issuer and the type of security covered by the issue, and 

(4) excerpts from Annexes I and III of the Prospectus Regulation which, by application of Articles 3, 
4, and 6 of the Prospectus Regulation and question 71 of the European Securities and Markets 
Authority (“ESMA”) Q&A, 1 are required for this offering of equity securities to employees of Adobe 
Systems Incorporated and its affiliates. 

This prospectus also contains supplemental information concerning the ESPP (Part II - Section B) as well 
as the following documents (Exhibits): 

- The Adobe Systems Incorporated 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended; and 

- Current Report on Form 8-K furnished by Adobe Systems Incorporated to the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on March 17, 2015. 

When used in this prospectus, the terms “we,” “us” or “our” mean Adobe Systems Incorporated and its 
subsidiaries and affiliates. 

All references to “$” in this prospectus refer to U.S. dollars. 

                                                      
1  Frequently Asked Questions, Prospectuses: Common positions agreed by ESMA Members 22nd updated version – October 

2014 (21 October 2014 | ESMA/2014/1279). 
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1.1 Mark Garrett, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, acting for and on behalf of 
Adobe Systems Incorporated. 

1.2 To my knowledge, after having taken all reasonable measures for this purpose, the information 
contained in this prospectus fairly reflects the current situation and no material omission has been 
made. 

1.3 Adobe Systems Incorporated has obtained a letter from its independent registered public 
accounting firm in relation to this prospectus.  The independent registered public accounting firm 
has, in accordance with the professional standards and interpretations applicable to it under the 
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) pursuant to AU 
Section 550, Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements, read the 
information pertaining to the financial condition and consolidated financial statements of Adobe 
Systems Incorporated contained in this prospectus and read the prospectus. 

/s/ Mark Garrett 
Mark Garrett 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
of Adobe Systems Incorporated 

San Jose, California, U.S.A., May 20, 2015 

COMPANY REPRESENTATIVE FOR PROSPECTUS 
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PART I — PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

VISA NUMBER 15-211 DATED MAY 21, 2015 OF THE AMF 

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as "Elements." These Elements are 
numbered in Sections A – E (A.1 – E.7).  

This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of securities 
and Issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the 
numbering sequence of the Elements.  

Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of securities 
and Issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element. In this case a 
short description of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of "not applicable." 

SECTION A — INTRODUCTION AND WARNINGS 

A.1 Warning to the 
reader 

This summary should be read as an introduction to the prospectus.  Any 
decision to invest in the securities should be based on consideration of the 
prospectus as a whole by the investor.  Where a claim relating to the 
information contained in a prospectus is brought before a court, the 
plaintiff investor might, under the national legislation of the Member States 
of the European Union or States party to the EEA Agreement, have to 
bear the costs of translating the prospectus before the legal proceedings 
are initiated.  Civil liability attaches to those persons who have presented 
the summary including any translation thereof, and applied for its 
notification, but only if the summary is misleading, inaccurate or 
inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the prospectus or it 
does not provide, when read together with the other parts of the 
prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when considering 
whether to invest in such securities. 

A.2 Consent to use of 
the prospectus 

Not applicable. There is no subsequent resale or final placement of 
securities by financial intermediaries. 

 

SECTION B — ISSUER 

B.1 Legal and 
commercial name 
of the issuer 

Adobe Systems Incorporated (“Adobe” or the “Company”). 

B.2 Domicile and legal 
form of Adobe, the 
legislation under 
which it operates 
and its country of 
incorporation 

Adobe's principal offices are located at 345 Park Avenue, San Jose, 
California 95110, U.S.A. The Company is a corporation incorporated 
under the laws of the State of Delaware, U.S.A.  
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B.3 Description of the 
nature of Adobe's 
current operations 
and its principal 
activities 

Founded in 1982, Adobe is one of the largest and most diversified 
software companies in the world. Adobe offers a line of products and 
services used by creative professionals, marketers, knowledge workers, 
application developers, enterprises and consumers for creating, 
managing, delivering, measuring, optimizing and engaging with 
compelling content and experiences across multiple operating systems, 
devices and media. Adobe markets and licenses its products and 
services directly to enterprise customers through its sales force and to 
end-users through app stores and its own website at www.adobe.com. 
Adobe offers many of its products via a Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) 
model or a managed services model (both of which are referred to as a 
hosted or cloud-based model) as well as through term subscription and 
pay-per-use models. Adobe also distributes certain products and services 
through a network of distributors, value-added resellers, systems 
integrators, independent software vendors, retailers and original 
equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”). In addition, Adobe licenses its 
technology to hardware manufacturers, software developers and service 
providers for use in their products and solutions. Adobe's products run on 
personal and server-based computers, as well as on smartphones, 
tablets and other devices, depending on the product. Adobe has 
operations in the Americas, Europe, Middle East and Africa and Asia-
Pacific. 

Adobe has the following reportable segments:  

• Digital Media—Its Digital Media segment provides tools and solutions 
that enable individuals, small and medium businesses and 
enterprises to create, publish, promote and monetize their digital 
content anywhere. Its customers include traditional content creators, 
web application developers and digital media professionals, as well 
as their management in marketing departments and agencies, 
companies and publishers. Its customers also include knowledge 
workers who create, collaborate and distribute documents. 

• Digital Marketing—Its Digital Marketing segment provides solutions 
and services for how digital advertising and marketing are created, 
managed, executed, measured and optimized. Its customers include 
digital marketers, advertisers, publishers, merchandisers, web 
analysts, chief marketing officers, chief information officers and chief 
revenue officers. 

• Print and Publishing—Its Print and Publishing segment addresses 
market opportunities ranging from the diverse authoring and 
publishing needs of technical and business publishing to its legacy 
type and OEM printing businesses. 

Adobe's segment results for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012 were as follows 
(dollars in thousands): 

 Digital Media  
Digital  

Marketing  
Print and 

Publishing  Total 
Fiscal 2014        
Revenue $ 2,603,179  $ 1,355,216  $ 188,670  $ 4,147,065 
Fiscal 2013            
Revenue $ 2,625,913  $ 1,228,868  $ 200,459  $ 4,055,240 
Fiscal 2012            
Revenue $ 3,101,864  $ 1,085,042  $ 216,771  $ 4,403,677 
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B.4a Recent trends On March 17, 2015, Adobe reported financial results for its first quarter of 
fiscal year 2015 ended February 27, 2015.  In the first quarter of fiscal 
2015, Adobe achieved revenue of $1.11 billion, above the high end of its 
targeted range of $1.05 billion to $1.10 billion. Adobe’s diluted earnings 
per share were $0.17 on accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) basis and Adobe’s cash flow 
from operations was $183 million. 

On January 27, 2015, Adobe completed its acquisition of privately held 
Fotolia, a leading marketplace for royalty-free photos, images, graphics 
and HD videos, for approximately $800 million in cash. Adobe financed 
the acquisition using existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term 
investment balances and newly issued debt. During the first quarter of 
fiscal 2015, Adobe began integrating Fotolia into its Digital Media 
reportable segment.  

B.5 Organizational 
structure 

Adobe is the head of the Adobe group. Adobe wholly owns, directly or 
indirectly, each of its subsidiaries. As of January 5, 2015, Adobe had 13 
subsidiaries in the Americas, 25 subsidiaries in Europe, one (1) 
subsidiary in Africa, 11 subsidiaries in Asia and one (1) subsidiary in the 
Middle East. 

B.6 Interests in 
Adobe's capital or 
voting rights 

Not applicable. Pursuant to its Q&A, ESMA considers that Item 18 of 
Annex I of the Prospectus Regulation is generally not pertinent for offers 
of shares to employees and can thus be omitted from the prospectus in 
accordance with Article 23.4 of the Prospectus Regulation. 

B.7 Financial information concerning Adobe for the fiscal years ended November 28, 2014, 
November 29, 2013 and November 30, 2012, and for the quarters ended February 27, 2015 
and February 28, 2014 

The selected financial data of Adobe set out in this prospectus have been derived in part from Adobe’s 
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.  

SELECTED THREE-YEAR FINANCIAL DATA 
(In thousands of US Dollars, except per share amounts and employee data) 

  Fiscal Years 
  2014  2013  2012 
Operations:       

Revenue  $ 4,147,065   $ 4,055,240   $ 4,403,677 
Gross profit  $ 3,524,985   $ 3,468,683   $ 3,919,895 
Income before income taxes  $ 361,376   $ 356,141   $ 1,118,794 
Net income  $ 268,395   $ 289,985   $ 832,775 
Net income per share:             

Basic  $ 0.54   $ 0.58   $ 1.68 
Diluted  $ 0.53   $ 0.56   $ 1.66 

Shares used to compute basic net income per share   497,867    501,372    494,731 
Shares used to compute diluted net income per share   508,480    513,476    502,721 
Cash dividends declared per common share  $ —   $ —   $ — 

Financial position:(1)            
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments  $ 3,739,491   $ 3,173,752   $ 3,538,353 
Working capital  $ 2,107,893   $ 2,520,281   $ 3,125,314 



PART I — PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

 8 
1302370-v6\NYCDMS 

Total assets  $ 10,785,829   $ 10,380,298   $ 10,040,229 
Debt and capital lease obligations, non-current  $ 911,086   $ 1,499,297   $ 1,496,938 
Stockholders’ equity  $ 6,775,905   $ 6,724,634   $ 6,665,182 

Additional data:            
Worldwide employees   12,499    11,847    11,144 

(1) Information associated with Adobe's financial position is as of the Friday closest to November 30 for the three fiscal periods 
through 2014. 

SELECTED QUARTERLY DATA 
(In thousands of US Dollars, except per share data – Unaudited)

  Three months ended 
  February 27, 2015 February 28, 2014 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income Data    
Total revenue  $ 1,109,181 $ 1,000,120 
Gross profit  $ 942,383 $ 851,611 
Income before income taxes  $ 163,248 $ 64,892 
Net income  $ 84,888 $ 47,046 
Basic net income per share  $ 0.17 $ 0.09 
Diluted net income per share  $ 0.17 $ 0.09 

 
  February 27, 2015 November 28, 2014* 
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Data    
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments  $ 3,176,820 $ 3,739,491 
Total assets  $ 11,008,422 $ 10,785,829 
Debt and capital lease obligations  $ 1,901,618 $ 1,514,315 
Total liabilities  $ 4,419,402 $ 4,009,924 
Total stockholders’ equity  $ 6,589,020 $ 6,775,905 

*  Derived from audited consolidated balance sheet.      
 

B.8 Pro forma financial 
information 

Not applicable. Pursuant to its Q&A, ESMA considers that Item 20.2 of 
Annex I of the Prospectus Regulation is generally not pertinent for offers 
of shares to employees and can thus be omitted from the prospectus in 
accordance with Article 23.4 of the Prospectus Regulation. 

B.9 Profit forecast Not applicable. This prospectus does not contain any profit forecast. 

B.10 Qualifications in 
the audit report on 
the historical 
financial 
information 

Not applicable. There are no such qualifications in the auditors' report. 

B.11 Working capital 
statement 

Not applicable. Adobe's working capital is sufficient for its present 
requirements. 

 

SECTION C — SECURITIES 

C.1 Type and class of 
the securities 
being offered, 
including the 
security 

Adobe's shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Shares”) 
offered pursuant to this prospectus can be either treasury shares or newly 
issued Shares, at Adobe’s sole discretion. 

The Shares are or will, after their issuance, be listed on Nasdaq Global 
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identification code Select Market (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “ADBE.” The CUSIP for the 
Shares is 00724F101. 

C.2 Currency of the 
securities issue 

The United States Dollar is the currency of the securities issue. 

C.3 Number of shares 
issued 

As of February 27, 2015, Adobe was authorized to issue 900,000,000 
Shares and 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per 
share.  As of March 20, 2015, there were 500,269,100 Shares 
outstanding and no shares of preferred stock issued or outstanding.  

C.4 Rights attached to 
the securities 

No Participating Employee (as defined in Element E.3 below) shall have 
any voting, dividend, or other stockholder rights with respect to any 
offering under the ESPP until the Shares have been purchased and 
delivered to the Participating Employee.  Following such purchase and 
delivery, the Participating Employee shall be entitled to the rights attached 
to the Shares, as further described below: 

Dividend Rights. Adobe’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation does not 
provide for dividend rights for the Shares.  Under the General Corporation 
Law of the State of Delaware (US) (the “DGCL”) and subject to 
preferences that may apply to shares of Adobe preferred stock 
outstanding at the time, the holders of outstanding Shares are entitled to 
receive dividends either (1) out of the surplus, or (2) in case there shall be 
no such surplus, out of the company’s net profits for the fiscal year in 
which the dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal year as 
Adobe’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) may from time to time determine 
(see Section 170 DGCL).   

Voting Rights. Each holder of Shares is entitled to one vote for each 
Share held on all matters submitted to a vote of Adobe’s stockholders.  

Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions.  Upon a liquidation, 
dissolution or winding-up of the Company, the assets legally available for 
distribution to stockholders are distributable ratably among the holders of 
the outstanding Shares at that time after payment of any liquidation 
preferences on any outstanding preferred stock. 

No Preemptive, Redemptive or Conversion Provisions. The Shares 
are not entitled to preemptive rights and are not subject to conversion or 
redemption. 

C.5 Transferability 
restrictions 

Not applicable. The Shares in this offering are registered on Form S-8 
with the SEC and are generally freely transferable. 

C.6 Admission to 
trading on a 
regulated market 

Not applicable. As noted in Element C.1 above, the Shares are listed on 
NASDAQ. 

C.7 Dividend policy Adobe did not declare or pay any cash dividends on its Shares during 
fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 or fiscal 2012. Under the terms of its credit 
agreement and lease agreements, Adobe is not prohibited from paying 
cash dividends unless payment would trigger an event of default or one 
currently exists. Adobe does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in 
the foreseeable future. 
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SECTION D — RISKS 

D.1 Key risks related to 
Adobe or its 
industry 

Set forth below are summaries of the key risks, uncertainties and other 
factors that may affect Adobe's future results. The risks and uncertainties 
described below are not the only ones facing Adobe. 

• If Adobe cannot continue to develop, market and offer new products 
and services or enhancements to existing products and services that 
meet customer requirements, its operating results could suffer. 

• Introduction of new products, services and business models by existing 
and new competitors could harm Adobe's competitive position and 
results of operations. 

• If Adobe fails to successfully manage transitions to new business 
models and markets, its results of operations could suffer. 

• Security vulnerabilities in Adobe's products and systems could lead to 
reduced revenues or to liability claims. 

• Uncertainty about current and future economic conditions and other 
adverse changes in general political conditions in any of the major 
countries in which Adobe does business could adversely affect its 
operating results. 

• Adobe may not realize the anticipated benefits of past or future 
acquisitions, and integration of these acquisitions may disrupt its 
business and management. 

• Increasing regulatory focus on privacy issues and expanding laws and 
regulations could impact Adobe's new business models and expose it 
to increased liability. 

• Failure to manage Adobe's sales and distribution channels and third-
party customer service and technical support providers effectively 
could result in a loss of revenue and harm to its business. Adobe 
contracts with a number of software distributors, none of which is 
individually responsible for a material amount of its total net revenue 
for any recent period. 

• Adobe is subject to risks associated with compliance with laws and 
regulations globally which may harm its business. 

• Adobe has issued $1.9 billion of notes in a debt offering and may incur 
other debt in the future, which may adversely affect its financial 
condition and future financial results. 

D.3 Key risks related to 
the shares 

Participating Employees (as defined in Element E.3) assume the risk of 
any currency fluctuations from the time of their contributions to the ESPP 
by payroll deductions through the selling of their Shares purchased under 
the ESPP. 



PART I — PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

 11 
1302370-v6\NYCDMS 

 

SECTION E — OFFER 

E.1 Net proceeds Assuming that the 1,564 eligible employees in France, Germany, 
Romania and the United Kingdom would purchase the maximum amount 
of Shares under the ESPP offered pursuant to this prospectus, that is, a 
total of $42,438 each, then the gross proceeds of Adobe in connection 
with the offer under the ESPP pursuant to this prospectus would be 
approximately $66,373,032. The calculation of the gross proceeds is 
based on a hypothetical Purchase Price (as defined in Element E.3 
below) of $64.30 (85% of $75.65, the closing price on April 7, 2015) and 
assuming that the July 1, 2015 and the December 31, 2015 Share price, 
respectively, are less than the December 31, 2015 and June 30, 2016 
Share price, respectively. After deducting legal and accounting expenses 
in connection with the offer, the net proceeds would be approximately 
$66,283,032.   

E.2a Reasons for the 
offer and use of 
proceeds 

The purpose of the ESPP is to provide eligible employees of the 
participating company group with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary 
interest in the Company through the purchase of Shares. 

The net proceeds will be used for general corporate purposes. 

E.3 Description of the 
terms and 
conditions of the 
offer 

Adobe will offer eligible employees of Adobe and its subsidiaries the right 
to purchase its Shares under the ESPP.   

The offering of the ESPP may be considered a public offering of securities 
pursuant to the Prospectus Directive in the following EEA countries, 
subject to its applicable legislation: France, Germany, Romania and the 
United Kingdom.  The offering of the ESPP may also be made in the 
following EEA countries: Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, 
Finland, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Spain and Sweden 
(the “Additional Countries”).  However, such offering is not considered a 
public offering of securities and/or the obligation to publish a prospectus 
does not apply to the offering under the legislation implementing the 
Prospectus Directive in the Additional Countries.  The total amount of the 
offering of the ESPP in the EEA is more than €5 million over a 12-month 
period.2 

This prospectus will be made available to employees of the subsidiaries 
of Adobe based in the above-named countries where the offering of the 
ESPP may be considered a public offering of securities at the respective 
head offices of their employers. 

The ESPP is administered by the Board or a committee appointed by the 
Board (the “Committee”).  Eligible employees are offered participation in 
the ESPP and may decide to enroll in the ESPP (“Participating 
Employees”). The ESPP is composed of offering periods that are 

                                                      
2 Pursuant to this prospectus, the ESPP is offered to 1,564 eligible employees in France, Germany, Romania and the United 

Kingdom, where such offering is considered a public offering pursuant to the Prospectus Directive. In addition, the ESPP will 
be offered to approximately 319 eligible employees in the Additional Countries where such offering is not considered a public 
offering pursuant to the Prospectus Directive. The total amount of the offering of the ESPP in France, Germany, Romania and 
the United Kingdom and the Additional Countries is more than €5 million over a 12-month period. 
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approximately 24 months in duration (“Offering Periods”) which contain 
four successive six-month purchase periods (“Purchase Periods”). The 
first day of each Offering Period is referred to as the “Offering Date.” 
Purchase Periods commence on or about January 1 and July 1 of each 
year and end on or about June 30 and December 31.  Once enrolled, 
Participating Employees may purchase Shares at a discount on the last 
trading day of each Purchase Period (the “Purchase Date”). 

During each six-month Purchase Period, Participating Employees may 
elect to contribute to the ESPP through payroll deductions between 1% 
and 25% of their eligible compensation (i.e., the employer automatically 
deducts this amount from the Participating Employees’ compensation on 
each pay date). The accumulated payroll deductions are used to 
purchase Shares at the end of each Purchase Period. The purchase price 
per Share is 85% of the lesser of (1) the Fair Market Value3 of a Share on 
the first business day of the 24-month Offering Period or (2) the Fair 
Market Value of a Share on each purchase date within a 24-month 
Offering Period (the “Purchase Price”). 

The Purchase Price depends upon when the Participating Employee 
enrolls in the ESPP. If an employee enrolls in the ESPP during June 2015 
for participation in the July 1, 2015 Purchase Period, the Purchase Price 
will be 85% of the lower of (1) the Fair Market Value of a Share on 
December 31, 2015 (the Purchase Date) or (2) the Fair Market Value of a 
Share on July 1, 2015 (the Offering Date of this Participating Employee's 
Offering Period). However, as an example, for an employee who enrolled 
in the July 1, 2014 Offering Period, the Purchase Price will be 85% of the 
lower of the December 31, 2015 price (the Purchase Date) or the July 1, 
2014 price (the first day of this Participating Employee's Offering Period). 

Additionally, if the Fair Market Value of a Share on a new Purchase Date 
is less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on the previous Offering 
Date, the Participating Employee will be automatically withdrawn from the 
Offering Period and re-enrolled in the new Offering Period. The 
Participating Employee acknowledges that in the event of such re-
enrollment, the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the new Offering Date 
may be higher than that on the previous Offering Date (as the result of an 
increase in the Fair Market Value of the Shares between the Purchase 
Date and the Offering Date the next trading day).  The Participating 
Employee may withdraw from the ESPP as described below. 

The ESPP is offered to eligible employees of Adobe and its designated 
subsidiaries (“Participating Companies”), some of which are located in the 
EEA.  Eligible employees may only purchase (i) Shares having a Fair 
Market Value on the applicable Offering Date of not more than $25,000 
per calendar year and (ii) 5,000 Shares per 24-month Offering Period. 
Additionally, eligible employees may only contribute up to 25% of eligible 
compensation. 

An eligible employee may become a Participating Employee in an 
Offering Period by completing a subscription agreement and any other 
required documents (the “Enrollment Documents”) provided by Adobe 
and submitting them to the office designated by Adobe not later than the 

                                                      
3  The Fair Market Value is, as of any date, the closing sale price of a Share as quoted on the NASDAQ, as reported in The Wall 

Street Journal or such other source as the Company deems reliable. 
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close of business for such office on the last business day prior to the 
Offering Date of an Offering Period or such earlier date as the Company 
establishes for such Offering Period (the “Subscription Date”), pursuant to 
the rules prescribed by the Board. In order to participate in the Purchase 
Period beginning July 1, 2015, eligible employees must enroll by June 30. 
The Enrollment Documents will set forth the amount of the Participating 
Employee’s compensation contributed to the ESPP. Participating 
Employees do not need to complete Enrollment Documents for each 
Offering Period; their election to participate will be valid until they 
withdraw from the ESPP. A Participating Employee may change the 
percentage of authorized deductions by delivering to Adobe’s designated 
office an amended subscription agreement on or before the date prior to 
the beginning of the first pay period for which election is to be effective as 
established by Adobe. In addition, a Participating Employee may withdraw 
from the ESPP provided such written notice of withdrawal is made at any 
time prior to the end of an Offering Period.  

Rights under the ESPP may not be transferred in any way (other than by 
will, the laws of descent and distribution) by Participating Employees.   

As of May 1, 2015, there were 12,185,364 Shares available for issuance 
under the ESPP on a worldwide basis (out of a maximum 93 million 
Shares available under the ESPP).  

E.4 Description of 
material interest to 
the offer including 
conflict of interests 

Not applicable. There are no such interests. 

E.5 Name of the entity 
offering to sell the 
security 

Adobe Systems Incorporated. 

E.6 Maximum dilution Assuming that the Shares offered pursuant to this prospectus to the 1,564 
eligible employees in France, Germany, Romania and the United 
Kingdom would all be newly issued, the holdings of a stockholder of 
Adobe currently holding 1% of the total outstanding Share capital of 
Adobe as of March 20, 2015 (i.e., 5,002,691 Shares) and who would not 
participate in the offer, would be diluted as indicated in the following 
dilution table:  

 Percentage of the 
total outstanding 

Shares 

Total number of 
outstanding 

Shares 

Before the offering (as of 
March 20, 2015) 1.00% 500,269,100 

After issuance of 1,032,240 
Shares under the ESPP 0.998% 501,301,340 

E.7 Estimated 
expenses charged 
to the investor 

Not applicable. There are no such expenses. 
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THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION IS NOT PART OF THE PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

PART II — PROSPECTUS 

 

SECTION A — RISK FACTORS 

I. RISKS RELATED TO ADOBE’S BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY 

Our actual results could differ materially from our forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or 
contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed below. These and many 
other factors described in Adobe's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 27, 
2015, filed with the SEC on March 25, 2015 (“Adobe’s Form 10-Q”) could adversely affect our operations, 
performance and financial condition. 

If we cannot continue to develop, market and offer new products and services or enhancements to 
existing products and services that meet customer requirements, our operating results could 
suffer. 

The process of developing new high technology products and services and enhancing existing products 
and services is complex, costly and uncertain. If we fail to anticipate customers’ changing needs and 
emerging technological trends, our market share and results of operations could suffer. We must make 
long-term investments, develop or obtain appropriate intellectual property and commit significant 
resources before knowing whether our predictions will accurately reflect customer demand for our 
products and services. If we are unable to extend our core technologies into new applications and new 
platforms and to anticipate or respond to technological changes, the market’s acceptance of our products 
and services could decline and our results would suffer. Additionally, any delay in the development, 
production, marketing or offering of a new product or service or enhancement to an existing product or 
service could result in customer attrition or impede our ability to attract new customers, causing a decline 
in our revenues, earnings or stock price and weakening our competitive position. We maintain strategic 
relationships with third parties to market certain of our products and support certain product functionality. 
If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our strategic relationships with these third parties, 
our ability to compete in the marketplace, to reach new customers and geographies or to grow our 
revenues would be impaired and our operating results would suffer. 

We offer our products on a variety of personal computers, tablet and mobile devices. Recent trends have 
shown a technological shift from personal computers to tablet and mobile devices. If we cannot continue 
to adapt our products to tablet and mobile devices our business could be harmed. To the extent that 
consumer purchases of these devices slow down, or to the extent that significant demand arises for our 
products or competitive products on other platforms before we offer our products on those platforms, our 
business could be harmed. Releases of new devices or operating systems may make it more difficult for 
our products to perform or may require significant costs in order for us to adapt our solutions to such 
devices or operating systems. These potential costs and delays could harm our business. 

Introduction of new products, services and business models by existing and new competitors 
could harm our competitive position and results of operations. 

The markets for our products and services are characterized by intense competition, evolving industry 
standards, emerging business and distribution models, disruptive technology developments, short product 
and service life cycles, price sensitivity on the part of customers, and frequent new product introductions, 
including alternatives with limited functionality available at lower costs or free of charge. Any of these 
factors could create downward pressure on pricing and gross margins and could adversely affect our 
renewal and upgrade rates, as well as our ability to attract new customers. Our future success will 
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depend on our ability to enhance our existing products and services, introduce new products and services 
on a timely and cost-effective basis, meet changing customer needs, extend our core technology into new 
applications, and anticipate and respond to emerging standards, business models, software delivery 
methods and other technological developments, such as the evolution and emergence of digital 
application marketplaces as a direct sales and software delivery environment. These digital application 
marketplaces often have exclusive distribution for certain platforms, which may make it more difficult for 
us to compete in these markets. If any competing products, services or operating systems (that don’t 
support our solutions) achieve widespread acceptance, our operating results could suffer. In addition, 
consolidation has occurred among some of the competitors in the markets in which we compete. Further 
consolidations in these markets may subject us to increased competitive pressures and may therefore 
harm our results of operations. For additional information regarding our competition and the risks arising 
out of the competitive environment in which we operate, see the section entitled “Competition” contained 
in Item 1 of Adobe’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 28, 2014, filed with 
the SEC on January 20, 2015 (“Adobe’s Form 10-K”). 

If we fail to successfully manage transitions to new business models and markets, our results of 
operations could suffer. 

We often release new offerings and employ new software and services delivery methods in connection 
with our diversification into new business models and markets. It is uncertain whether these strategies will 
prove successful or whether we will be able to develop the necessary infrastructure and business models 
more quickly than our competitors. Market acceptance of new product and service offerings will be 
dependent on our ability (1) to include functionality and usability that address customer requirements, and 
(2) to optimally price our products in light of marketplace conditions, our costs and customer demand. 
New product and service offerings could subject us to increased risk of liability related to the provision of 
services as well as cause us to incur significant technical, legal or other costs. For example, with our 
cloud-based services and subscription-based licensing models, such as Creative Cloud, we have entered 
markets that may not be fully accustomed to cloud-based subscription offerings. Market acceptance of 
such services is affected by a variety of factors, including information security, reliability, performance, 
social/community engagement, local government regulations regarding online services and user-
generated content, the sufficiency of technological infrastructure to support our products in certain 
geographies, customer concerns with entrusting a third party to store and manage their data, public 
concerns regarding data privacy and the enactment of laws or regulations that restrict our ability to 
provide such services to customers in the U.S. or internationally. If we are unable to respond to these 
threats, our business could be harmed. 

From time to time we open-source certain of our technology initiatives, provide broader open access to 
our technology, license certain of our technology on a royalty-free basis, or release selected technology 
for industry standardization. Additionally, customer requirements for open standards or open-source 
products could impact adoption or use of some of our products or services. To the extent we incorrectly 
predict customer requirements for such products or services, or if there is a delay in market acceptance of 
such products or services, our business could be harmed.  

We also devote significant resources to the development of technologies and service offerings in markets 
where our operating history is less extensive, such as the marketplace for stock imagery. These new 
offerings and markets may require a considerable investment of technical, financial, compliance and 
sales resources, and a scalable organization. Some of our competitors may have advantages over us due 
to their larger presence, larger developer network, deeper market experience and larger sales, consulting 
and marketing resources. If we are unable to successfully establish new offerings in light of the 
competitive environment, our results of operations could suffer.  

The increased emphasis on a cloud strategy may give rise to risks that could harm our business.  

Over the past several years, our business has shifted away from pre-packaged creative software to focus 
on a subscription model that prices and delivers our products in a way that differs from the historical 
pricing and delivery methods of our creative tools. These changes reflect a significant shift from perpetual 
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license sales and distribution of our software in favor of providing our customers the right to access 
certain of our software in a hosted environment or use downloaded software for a specified subscription 
period. This cloud strategy requires continued investment in product development and cloud operations, 
and may give rise to a number of risks, including the following: 

• if customers desire only perpetual licenses or to purchase or renew only point product 
subscriptions rather than acquire the entire Creative Cloud offering, our subscription sales may 
lag behind our expectations; 

• our cloud strategy may raise concerns among our customer base, including concerns regarding 
changes to pricing over time, service availability, information security of a cloud solution and 
access to files while offline or once a subscription has expired; 

• small businesses and hobbyists may turn to competitive or open-source offerings; 

• we may be unsuccessful in maintaining our target pricing, new seat adoption and projected 
renewal rates; we may select a target price that is not optimal and could negatively affect our 
sales or earnings; or we may have to rely heavily on promotional rates to achieve target seat 
adoption, which could reduce average revenue per user; and 

• we may incur costs at a higher than forecasted rate as we expand our cloud operations. 

Subscription offerings and Enterprise Term License Agreements (“ETLAs”) create risks related to 
the timing of revenue recognition. 

Although the subscription model is designed to increase the number of customers who purchase our 
products and services and create a recurring revenue stream that is more predictable, it creates certain 
risks related to the timing of revenue recognition and potential reductions in cash flows. 

A portion of the subscription-based revenue we report each quarter results from the recognition of 
deferred revenue relating to subscription agreements entered into during previous quarters. A decline in 
new or renewed subscriptions in any period may not be immediately reflected in our reported financial 
results for that period, but may result in a decline in our revenue in future quarters. If we were to 
experience significant downturns in subscription sales and renewal rates, our reported financial results 
might not reflect such downturns until future periods. Our subscription model could also make it difficult 
for us to rapidly increase our revenues from subscription-based or hosted services through additional 
sales in any period, as revenue from new customers will be recognized over the applicable subscription 
term. Further, any increases in sales under our subscription sales model could result in decreased 
revenues over the short term if they are offset by a decline in sales from perpetual license customers. 

Additionally, in connection with our sales efforts to enterprise customers and our use of ETLAs, a number 
of factors could affect our revenues, including longer than expected sales and implementation cycles, 
potential deferral of revenue due to multiple-element revenue arrangements and alternate licensing 
arrangements. If any of our assumptions about revenue from our new businesses or our addition of a 
subscription-based model prove incorrect, our actual results may vary materially from those anticipated, 
estimated or projected. 

We may be unable to predict subscription renewal rates and the impact these rates may have on 
our future revenue and operating results.  

The hosted business model we utilize in our Adobe Marketing Cloud offerings typically involves selling 
services on a subscription basis pursuant to service agreements that are generally one to three years in 
length. Our individual Creative Cloud subscription agreements are generally month-to-month or one year 
in length, ETLAs for our Digital Media products and services are generally three years in length, and 
subscription agreements for other products and services may provide for shorter or longer terms. 
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Although many of our service and subscription agreements contain automatic renewal terms, our 
customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our services after the expiration of their 
initial subscription period, and some customers elect not to renew. We cannot provide assurance that 
these subscriptions will be renewed at the same or higher level of service, for the same number of 
seats/licenses or for the same duration of time, if at all. Moreover, under certain circumstances, some of 
our customers have the right to cancel their service agreements prior to the expiration of the terms of their 
agreements. We cannot be assured that we will be able to accurately predict future customer renewal 
rates. Our customers’ renewal rates may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including 
their level of satisfaction with our services, the reliability (including uptime) of our subscription services, 
the prices of our services, the perceived information security of our systems and services, the prices of 
services offered by our competitors, mergers and acquisitions affecting our customer base, reductions in 
our customers’ spending levels, or declines in customer activity as a result of economic downturns or 
uncertainty in financial markets. If our customers do not renew their subscriptions for our services or if 
they renew on less favorable terms to us, our revenues may decline. 

Our future growth is also affected by our ability to sell additional features and services to our current 
customers, which depends on a number of factors, including customers’ satisfaction with our products 
and services, the prices of our offerings and general economic conditions. If our efforts to cross-sell and 
upsell to our customers are unsuccessful, the rate at which our business grows might decline. 

Security vulnerabilities in our products and systems could lead to reduced revenues or to liability 
claims. 

Maintaining the security of our products, computers and networks is a critical issue for us and our 
customers. Security researchers, criminal hackers and other third parties regularly develop new 
techniques to penetrate computer and network security measures and, as we have previously disclosed, 
certain parties have in the past managed to breach certain of our data-security systems and misused 
certain of our systems and software in order to access our end users’ authentication and payment 
information. In addition, cyber-attackers also develop and deploy viruses, worms and other malicious 
software programs, some of which may be specifically designed to attack our products, systems, 
computers or networks. Sophisticated hardware and operating system applications that we produce or 
procure from third parties may contain defects in design or manufacture, including bugs and other 
problems that could unexpectedly compromise the security of the system. The costs to eliminate or 
alleviate cyber or other security problems, bugs, viruses, worms, malicious software programs and 
security vulnerabilities are significant, and our efforts to address these problems may not be successful 
and could result in interruptions, delays, cessation of service and loss of existing or potential customers 
that may impede our sales, manufacturing, distribution or other critical functions, as well as potential 
liability to the company. 

Outside parties have in the past and may in the future attempt to fraudulently induce our employees or 
users of our services to disclose sensitive information via illegal electronic spamming, phishing or other 
tactics. Unauthorized parties may also attempt to gain physical access to one of our facilities in order to 
infiltrate our information systems. These actual and potential breaches of our security measures and the 
accidental loss, inadvertent disclosure or unauthorized dissemination of proprietary information or 
sensitive, personal or confidential data about us, our employees or our customers, including the potential 
loss or disclosure of such information or data as a result of hacking, fraud, trickery or other forms of 
deception, could expose us, our employees, our customers or the individuals affected to a risk of loss or 
misuse of this information. This may result in litigation and potential liability or fines for us, or 
governmental inquiry and oversight, any of which could damage our brand and reputation, possibly 
impeding our present and future success in retaining and attracting new customers and thereby requiring 
time and resources to repair our brand image.  

These problems affect our products and services in particular because cyber-attackers tend to focus their 
efforts on the most popular offerings (such as those with large bases of users), and we expect them to 
continue to do so. Critical vulnerabilities may be identified in certain of our applications. These 
vulnerabilities could cause such applications to crash and could allow an attacker to take control of the 
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affected system, which could result in liability to us or limit our ability to conduct our business and deliver 
our products and services to customers. We devote significant resources to address security 
vulnerabilities through engineering more secure products, enhancing security and reliability features in 
our products and systems, code hardening, conducting rigorous penetration tests, deploying security 
updates to address security vulnerabilities and improving our incident response time, but these security 
vulnerabilities cannot be totally eliminated. The cost of these steps could reduce our operating margins, 
and we may be unable to implement these measures quickly enough to prevent cyber-attackers from 
gaining unauthorized access into our systems and products. Despite our preventative efforts, actual or 
perceived security vulnerabilities in our products and systems may harm our reputation or lead to claims 
against us (and have in the past lead to such claims), and could lead some customers to seek to return 
products, to stop using certain services, to reduce or delay future purchases of products or services, or to 
use competing products or services. If we do not make the appropriate level of investment in our 
technology systems or if our systems become out-of-date or obsolete and we are not able to deliver the 
quality of data security customers require, our business could be adversely affected. Customers may also 
increase their expenditures on security measures designed to protect their existing computer systems 
from attack, which could delay adoption of new technologies. Further, if we or our customers are subject 
to a future attack, or our technology is utilized in a third-party attack, it may be necessary for us to take 
additional extraordinary measures and make additional expenditures to take appropriate responsive and 
preventative steps. Any of these events could adversely affect our revenues or margins. Moreover, 
delayed sales, lower margins or lost customers resulting from the disruptions of cyber-attacks or 
preventative measures could adversely affect our financial results, stock price and reputation. 

Some of our lines of business rely on us or our third-party service providers to host and deliver 
services and data, and any interruptions or delays in these hosted services, security or privacy 
breaches, or failures in data collection could expose us to liability and harm our business and 
reputation. 

Some of our lines of business and services, including our online store at adobe.com, Creative Cloud, 
other hosted Digital Media offerings and our Adobe Marketing Cloud solutions, rely on hardware and 
services hosted and controlled directly by us or by our third-party service providers. We do not have 
redundancy for all of our systems, many of our critical applications reside in only one of our data centers, 
and our disaster recovery planning may not account for all eventualities. If our business relationship with 
a third-party provider of hosting or content delivery services is negatively affected, or if one of our content 
delivery suppliers were to terminate their agreement with us, we might not be able to deliver the 
corresponding hosted offerings to our customers, which could subject us to reputational harm and cause 
us to lose customers and future business, reducing our revenues. 

We hold large amounts of customer data, some of which is hosted in third-party facilities. A security 
incident at those facilities or ours may compromise the confidentiality, integrity or availability of customer 
data. Unauthorized access to customer data stored on our computers or networks may be obtained 
through break-ins, breach of our secure network by an unauthorized party, employee theft or misuse, or 
other misconduct. It is also possible that unauthorized access to customer data may be obtained through 
inadequate use of security controls by customers. While our products and services provide and support 
strong password controls, IP restriction and account controls, their use is controlled by the customer. 
Accounts created with weak passwords could allow cyber-attackers to gain access to customer data. 
Additionally, failure by customers to remove accounts of their own employees, or granting of accounts by 
the customer in an uncontrolled manner, may allow for access by former or unauthorized customer 
representatives. If there were an inadvertent disclosure of personal information, or if a third party were to 
gain unauthorized access to the personal information we possess on behalf of our customers, our 
operations could be disrupted, our reputation could be damaged and we could be subject to claims or 
other liabilities. In addition, such perceived or actual unauthorized disclosure of the information we collect 
or breach of our security could damage our reputation, result in the loss of customers and harm our 
business. 

Because of the large amount of data that we collect and manage on behalf of our customers, it is possible 
that hardware or software failures or errors in our systems (or those of our third-party service providers) 
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could result in data loss or corruption or cause the information that we collect to be incomplete or contain 
inaccuracies that our customers regard as significant. Furthermore, our ability to collect and report data 
may be delayed or interrupted by a number of factors, including access to the internet, the failure of our 
network or software systems, security breaches or significant variability in visitor traffic on customer 
websites. In addition, computer viruses may harm our systems causing us to lose data, and the 
transmission of computer viruses could expose us to litigation. We may also find, on occasion, that we 
cannot deliver data and reports to our customers in near real time because of a number of factors, 
including significant spikes in customer activity on their websites or failures of our network or software. If 
we supply inaccurate information or experience interruptions in our ability to capture, store and supply 
information in near real time or at all, our reputation could be harmed and we could lose customers, or we 
could be found liable for damages or incur other losses. 

Uncertainty about current and future economic conditions and other adverse changes in general 
political conditions in any of the major countries in which we do business could adversely affect 
our operating results.  

As our business has grown, we have become increasingly subject to the risks arising from adverse 
changes in economic and political conditions, both domestically and globally. Uncertainty about current 
and future economic and political conditions on us, our customers, suppliers and partners, makes it 
difficult for us to forecast operating results and to make decisions about future investments. If economic 
growth in countries where we do business slows, customers may delay or reduce technology purchases, 
advertising spending or marketing spending. This could result in reductions in sales of our products and 
services, longer sales cycles, slower adoption of new technologies and increased price competition. Our 
customers include government entities, including the U.S. federal government, and if spending cuts 
impede the government’s ability to purchase our products and solutions, our revenues could decline. 
Deterioration in economic conditions in any of the countries in which we do business could also cause 
slower or impaired collections on accounts receivable, which may adversely impact our liquidity and 
financial condition.  

A financial institution credit crisis could impair credit availability and financial stability of our customers, 
including our distribution partners and channels. A disruption in the financial markets may also have an 
effect on our derivative counterparties and could also impair our banking partners on which we rely for 
operating cash management. Any of these events would likely harm our business, results of operations 
and financial condition. 

Political instability in or around any of the major countries in which we do business would also likely harm 
our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

We may not realize the anticipated benefits of past or future acquisitions, and integration of these 
acquisitions may disrupt our business and management. 

We may not realize the anticipated benefits of an acquisition of a company, division, product or 
technology, each of which involves numerous risks. These risks include: 

• difficulty in integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired company; 

• difficulty in effectively integrating the acquired technologies, products or services with our current 
technologies, products or services; 

• difficulty in maintaining controls, procedures and policies during the transition and integration; 

• entry into markets in which we have minimal prior experience and where competitors in such 
markets have stronger market positions; 
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• disruption of our ongoing business and distraction of our management and other employees from 
other opportunities and challenges; 

• inability to retain personnel of the acquired business; 

• inability to retain key customers, distributors, vendors and other business partners of the acquired 
business; 

• inability to achieve the financial and strategic goals for the acquired and combined businesses; 

• inability to take advantage of anticipated tax benefits as a result of unforeseen difficulties in our 
integration activities; 

• incurring acquisition-related costs or amortization costs for acquired intangible assets that could 
impact our operating results; 

• potential additional exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates; 

• potential additional costs of bringing acquired companies into compliance with laws and 
regulations applicable to us as a multi-national corporation; 

• potential impairment of our relationships with employees, customers, partners, distributors or 
third-party providers of our technologies, products or services; 

• potential failure of the due diligence processes to identify significant problems, liabilities or other 
challenges of an acquired company or technology, including but not limited to, issues with the 
acquired company’s intellectual property, product quality or product architecture, data back-up 
and security (including security from cyber-attacks), privacy practices, revenue recognition or 
other accounting practices, employee, customer or partner issues or legal and financial 
contingencies; 

• exposure to litigation or other claims in connection with, or inheritance of claims or litigation risk 
as a result of, an acquisition, including but not limited to claims from terminated employees, 
customers, former stockholders or other third parties; 

• incurring significant exit charges if products or services acquired in business combinations are 
unsuccessful; 

• potential inability to assert that internal controls over financial reporting are effective; 

• potential inability to obtain, or obtain in a timely manner, approvals from governmental authorities, 
which could delay or prevent such acquisitions;  

• potential delay in customer and distributor purchasing decisions due to uncertainty about the 
direction of our product and service offerings; and 

• potential incompatibility of business cultures. 

Mergers and acquisitions of high technology companies are inherently risky. If we do not complete an 
announced acquisition transaction or integrate an acquired business successfully and in a timely manner, 
we may not realize the benefits of the acquisition to the extent anticipated, and in certain circumstances 
an acquisition could harm our financial position.  
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We may incur substantial costs enforcing or acquiring intellectual property rights and defending 
against third-party claims as a result of litigation or other proceedings. 

In connection with the enforcement of our own intellectual property rights, the acquisition of third-party 
intellectual property rights, or disputes relating to the validity or alleged infringement of third-party 
intellectual property rights, including patent rights, we have been, are currently and may in the future be 
subject to claims, negotiations or complex, protracted litigation. Intellectual property disputes and litigation 
are typically costly and can be disruptive to our business operations by diverting the attention and 
energies of management and key technical personnel. Although we have successfully defended or 
resolved many past lawsuits and other disputes, we may not prevail in the future. Third-party intellectual 
property disputes, including those initiated by patent assertion entities, could subject us to significant 
liabilities, require us to enter into royalty and licensing arrangements on unfavorable terms, prevent us 
from licensing certain of our products or offering certain of our services, subject us to injunctions 
restricting our sale of products or services, cause severe disruptions to our operations or the markets in 
which we compete, or require us to satisfy indemnification commitments with our customers, including 
contractual provisions under various license arrangements and service agreements. In addition, we may 
incur significant costs in acquiring the necessary third-party intellectual property rights for use in our 
products, in some cases to fulfill contractual obligations with our customers. Any of these occurrences 
could significantly harm our business. 

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights, including our source code, from 
third-party infringers or unauthorized copying, use or disclosure. 

Although we vigorously defend our intellectual property rights and attempt to combat unlicensed copying, 
access and use of software and intellectual property through a variety of techniques, preventing 
unauthorized use or infringement of our rights is inherently difficult. We actively combat software piracy as 
we enforce our intellectual property rights, but we nonetheless lose significant revenue due to illegal use 
of our software. If piracy activities continue at historical levels or increase, they may further harm our 
business. 

Additionally, we take significant measures to protect the secrecy of our confidential information and trade 
secrets, including our source code. Despite these measures, as we have previously disclosed, hackers 
have managed to access certain of our source code and may obtain access in the future. If unauthorized 
disclosure of our source code occurs through security breach, cyber-attack or otherwise, we could 
potentially lose future trade secret protection for that source code. The loss of future trade secret 
protection could make it easier for third parties to compete with our products by copying functionality, 
which could cause us to lose customers and could adversely affect our revenue and operating margins. 
We also seek to protect our confidential information and trade secrets through the use of non-disclosure 
agreements with our customers, contractors, vendors and partners. However, there is a risk that our 
confidential information and trade secrets may be disclosed or published without our authorization, and in 
these situations enforcing our rights may be difficult or costly. 

Increasing regulatory focus on privacy issues and expanding laws and regulations could impact 
our new business models and expose us to increased liability. 

Our industry is highly regulated, including for privacy and data security. We are also expanding our 
business in countries that have more stringent data protection laws than those in the U.S. Privacy laws 
globally are changing and evolving. Governments, privacy advocates and class action attorneys are 
increasingly scrutinizing how companies collect, process, use, store, share or transmit personal data. 
New laws and industry self-regulatory codes have been enacted and more are being considered that may 
affect our ability to reach current and prospective customers, to understand how our products and 
services are being used, to respond to customer requests allowed under the laws, and to implement our 
new business models effectively. These new laws and regulations would similarly affect our competitors 
as well as our customers. Any perception of our practices or products as an invasion of privacy, whether 
or not consistent with current regulations and industry practices, may subject us to public criticism, class 
action lawsuits, reputational harm or claims by regulators, industry groups or other third parties, all of 
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which could disrupt our business and expose us to increased liability. Additionally, both laws regulating 
privacy, as well as third-party products addressing perceived privacy concerns, could affect the 
functionality of and demand for our products, thereby harming our revenues. 

On behalf of certain customers, we collect and store anonymous and personal information derived from 
the activities of end users with various channels, including traditional websites, mobile websites and 
applications, email interactions, direct mail, point of sale, text messaging and call centers (collectively, 
“channels”). This enables us to provide such customers with reports on aggregated anonymous or 
personal information from and about end-user interactions with various channels in the manner 
specifically directed by each such individual customer. Federal, state and foreign governments and 
agencies have adopted or are considering adopting laws regarding the collection, use and disclosure of 
this information. Our compliance with privacy laws and regulations and our reputation among the public 
body of end users depend in part on such customers’ adherence to privacy laws and regulations and their 
use of our services in ways consistent with such end users’ expectations. We also rely on representations 
made to us by customers that their own use of our services and the information they provide to us via our 
services do not violate any applicable privacy laws, rules and regulations or their own privacy policies. We 
ask customers to represent to us that they provide their end users the opportunity to “opt-out” of the 
information collection associated with our services, as applicable. We do not formally audit such 
customers to confirm compliance with these representations. If these representations are false or if such 
customers do not otherwise comply with applicable privacy laws, we could face adverse publicity and 
possible legal or other regulatory action. In addition, some countries are considering enacting laws that 
would expand the scope of privacy-related obligations required of service providers, such as Adobe, that 
would require additional compliance expense and increased liability. 

If we fail to process transactions effectively our revenue and earnings may be harmed. 

We process a significant volume of transactions on a daily basis in both our Digital Marketing and Digital 
Media businesses. Due to the size and volume of transactions that we handle, effective processing 
systems and controls are essential; but even the most sophisticated systems and processes may not be 
effective in preventing all errors. The systems supporting our business are comprised of multiple 
technology platforms that may be difficult to scale. If we are unable to effectively manage these systems 
and processes, we may be unable to process customer data in an accurate, reliable and timely manner, 
which may harm our customer relationships or results of operations. 

Failure to manage our sales and distribution channels and third-party customer service and 
technical support providers effectively could result in a loss of revenue and harm to our business. 

We contract with a number of software distributors, none of which is individually responsible for a material 
amount of our total net revenue for any recent period. If any single agreement with one of our distributors 
were terminated, we believe we could make arrangements with new or existing distributors to distribute 
our products without a substantial disruption to our business; however, any prolonged delay in securing a 
replacement distributor could have a negative short-term impact on our results of operations. 

Successfully managing our indirect channel efforts to reach various customer segments for our products 
and services is a complex process across the broad range of geographies where we do business or plan 
to do business. Our distributors and other channel partners are independent businesses that we do not 
control. Notwithstanding the independence of our channel partners, we face potential legal risk and 
reputational harm from the activities of these third parties including, but not limited to, export control 
violations, workplace conditions, corruption and anti-competitive behavior. Although we have undertaken 
efforts to reduce these third-party risks, they remain present. We cannot be certain that our distribution 
channel will continue to market or sell our products effectively. If our distribution channel is not 
successful, we may lose sales opportunities, customers and revenues.  

Our distributors also sell our competitors’ products, and if they favor our competitors’ products for any 
reason, they may fail to market our products as effectively or to devote resources necessary to provide 
effective sales, which would cause our results to suffer. We also distribute some products through our 
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OEM channel, and if our OEMs decide not to bundle our applications on their devices, our results could 
suffer.  

In addition, the financial health of our distributors and our continuing relationships with them are important 
to our success. Some of these distributors may be adversely impacted by changes to our business model 
or unable to withstand adverse changes in economic conditions, which could result in insolvency and/or 
the inability of such distributors to obtain credit to finance purchases of our products. In addition, 
weakness in the end-user market could negatively affect the cash flows of our distributors who could, in 
turn, delay paying their obligations to us, which would increase our credit risk exposure. Our business 
could be harmed if the financial condition of some of these distributors substantially weakened and we 
were unable to timely secure replacement distributors. 

We also sell certain of our products and services through our direct sales force. Risks associated with this 
sales channel include longer sales and collection cycles associated with direct sales efforts, challenges 
related to hiring, retaining and motivating our direct sales force, and substantial amounts of training for 
sales representatives, including regular updates to cover new and upgraded systems, products and 
services. Moreover, recent hires may not become as productive as we would like, as in most cases it 
takes a significant period of time before they achieve full productivity. Our business could be seriously 
harmed if these expansion efforts do not generate a corresponding significant increase in revenues and 
we are unable to achieve the efficiencies we anticipate. In addition, the loss of key sales employees could 
impact our customer relationships and future ability to sell to certain accounts covered by such 
employees. 

We also provide products and services, directly and indirectly, to a variety of governmental entities, both 
domestically and internationally. Risks associated with licensing and selling products and services to 
governmental entities include longer sales cycles, varying governmental budgeting processes and 
adherence to complex procurement regulations and other government-specific contractual requirements. 
Ineffectively managing these risks could result in various civil and criminal penalties and administrative 
sanctions, including termination of contracts, payment of fines, and suspension or debarment from future 
government business, as well as harm to our reputation.  

We outsource a substantial portion of our customer service and technical support activities to third-party 
service providers. We rely heavily on these third-party customer service and technical support 
representatives working on our behalf, and we expect to continue to rely heavily on third parties in the 
future. This strategy provides us with lower operating costs and greater flexibility, but also presents risks 
to our business due to the fact that we may not be able to influence the quality of support as directly as 
we would be able to do if our own employees performed these activities. Our customers may react 
negatively to providing information to, and receiving support from, third-party organizations, especially if 
based overseas. If we encounter problems with our third-party customer service and technical support 
providers, our reputation may be harmed and we could lose customers and associated revenues. 

Certain of our enterprise offerings have long and complex sales cycles. 

Sales cycles for some of our enterprise offerings, including our Adobe Marketing Cloud Solutions and 
ETLAs in our Digital Media business, are long and complex. The complexity in these sales cycles is due 
to a number of factors, including: 

• the need for our sales representatives to educate customers about the use and benefit of our 
large-scale deployments of our products and services, including technical capabilities, security 
features, potential cost savings and return on investment; 

• the desire of large and medium size organizations to undertake significant evaluation processes 
to determine their technology requirements prior to making information technology expenditures;  
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• the need for our representatives to spend a significant amount of time assisting potential 
customers in their testing and evaluation of our products and services; 

• the negotiation of large, complex, enterprise-wide contracts, as often required by our and our 
customers’ business and legal representatives; 

• the need for our customers to obtain requisition approvals from various decision makers within 
their organizations; and 

• customer budget constraints, economic conditions and unplanned administrative delays. 

We spend substantial time and expense on our sales efforts without any assurance that potential 
customers will ultimately purchase our solutions. As we target our sales efforts at larger enterprise 
customers, these trends are expected to continue. Additionally, our enterprise sales pattern has 
historically been uneven, where a higher percentage of a quarter’s total sales occur during the final weeks 
of each quarter, which is common in our industry. Our long sales cycle for these products makes it difficult 
to predict when a given sales cycle will close. 

Catastrophic events may disrupt our business. 

We are a highly automated business and rely on our network infrastructure and enterprise applications, 
internal technology systems and our website for our development, marketing, operational, support, hosted 
services and sales activities. In addition, some of our businesses rely on third-party hosted services, and 
we do not control the operation of third-party data center facilities serving our customers from around the 
world, which increases our vulnerability. A disruption, infiltration or failure of these systems or third-party 
hosted services in the event of a major earthquake, fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, 
software or hardware malfunctions, cyber-attack, war, terrorist attack or other catastrophic event could 
cause system interruptions, reputational harm, loss of intellectual property, delays in our product 
development, lengthy interruptions in our services, breaches of data security and loss of critical data. Any 
of these events could prevent us from fulfilling our customers’ orders. Our corporate headquarters, a 
significant portion of our research and development activities, certain of our data centers and certain 
other critical business operations are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, and additional facilities 
where we conduct significant operations are located in the Salt Lake Valley Area, both of which are near 
major earthquake faults. We have developed certain disaster recovery plans and backup systems to 
reduce the potentially adverse effect of such events, but a catastrophic event that results in the 
destruction or disruption of any of our data centers or our critical business or information technology 
systems could severely affect our ability to conduct normal business operations and, as a result, our 
future operating results could be adversely affected. 

Net revenue, margin or earnings shortfalls or the volatility of the market generally may cause the 
market price of our stock to decline. 

The market price for our Shares has in the past experienced significant fluctuations and may fluctuate 
significantly in the future. A number of factors may affect the market price for our Shares, including: 

• shortfalls in our revenue, margins, earnings, the number of paid Creative Cloud subscribers, 
Annualized Recurring Revenue, bookings within our Adobe Marketing Cloud business or other 
key performance metrics; 

• changes in estimates or recommendations by securities analysts; 

• the announcement of new products, product enhancements or service introductions by us or our 
competitors; 
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• the loss of a large customer or our inability to increase sales to existing customers or attract new 
customers; 

• variations in our or our competitors’ results of operations, changes in the competitive landscape 
generally and developments in our industry; and 

• unusual events such as significant acquisitions, divestitures, litigation, general socio-economic, 
regulatory, political or market conditions and other factors, including factors unrelated to our 
operating performance. 

We are subject to risks associated with compliance with laws and regulations globally which may 
harm our business. 

We are a global company subject to varied and complex laws, regulations and customs domestically and 
internationally. These laws and regulations relate to a number of aspects of our business, including trade 
protection, import and export control, data and transaction processing security, payment card industry 
data security standards, records management, user-generated content hosted on websites we operate, 
privacy practices, corporate governance, employee and third-party complaints, gift policies, conflicts of 
interest, employment and labor relations laws, securities regulations and other regulatory requirements 
affecting trade and investment. The application of these laws and regulations to our business is often 
unclear and may at times conflict. Compliance with these laws and regulations may involve significant 
costs or require changes in our business practices that result in reduced revenue and profitability. Non-
compliance could also result in fines, damages, criminal sanctions against us, our officers or our 
employees, prohibitions on the conduct of our business, and damage to our reputation. We incur 
additional legal compliance costs associated with our global operations and could become subject to legal 
penalties if we fail to comply with local laws and regulations in U.S. jurisdictions or in foreign countries, 
which laws and regulations may be substantially different from those in the U.S. In many foreign 
countries, particularly in those with developing economies, it is common to engage in business practices 
that are prohibited by U.S. regulations applicable to us, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. 
Although we implement policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these laws, there 
can be no assurance that all of our employees, contractors and agents, as well as those companies to 
which we outsource certain of our business operations, including those based in or from countries where 
practices that violate such U.S. laws may be customary, will not take actions in violation of our internal 
policies. Any such violation, even if prohibited by our internal policies, could have an adverse effect on 
our business. 

We face various risks associated with our operating as a multi-national corporation. 

As a global business that generates approximately 42% of our total revenue from sales to customers 
outside of the Americas, we are subject to a number of risks, including: 

• foreign currency fluctuations; 

• changes in government preferences for software procurement; 

• international economic, political and labor conditions; 

• tax laws (including U.S. taxes on foreign subsidiaries); 

• increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities; 

• unexpected changes in, or impositions of, legislative or regulatory requirements; 

• changes in laws governing the free flow of data across international borders; 
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• failure of laws to protect our intellectual property rights adequately; 

• inadequate local infrastructure and difficulties in managing and staffing international operations; 

• delays resulting from difficulty in obtaining export licenses for certain technology, tariffs, quotas 
and other trade barriers; 

• the imposition of governmental economic sanctions on countries in which we do business or 
where we plan to expand our business; 

• transportation delays; 

• operating in locations with a higher incidence of corruption and fraudulent business practices; and 

• other factors beyond our control, including terrorism, war, natural disasters and pandemics. 

If sales to any of our customers outside of the Americas are delayed or canceled because of any of the 
above factors, our revenues may decline. 

In addition, approximately 52% of our employees are located outside the U.S. Accordingly, we are 
exposed to changes in laws governing our employee relationships in various U.S. and foreign 
jurisdictions, including laws and regulations regarding wage and hour requirements, fair labor standards, 
employee data privacy, unemployment tax rates, workers’ compensation rates, citizenship requirements 
and payroll and other taxes, which likely would have a direct impact on our operating costs. We may 
continue to expand our international operations and international sales and marketing activities. 
Expansion in international markets has required, and will continue to require, significant management 
attention and resources. We may be unable to scale our infrastructure effectively or as quickly as our 
competitors in these markets, and our revenues may not increase to offset these expected increases in 
costs and operating expenses, which would cause our results to suffer.  

We may incur losses associated with currency fluctuations and may not be able to effectively 
hedge our exposure. 

Our operating results are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. We attempt to 
mitigate a portion of these risks through foreign currency hedging, based on our judgment of the 
appropriate trade-offs among risk, opportunity and expense. We have established a hedging program to 
partially hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations for various currencies. We 
regularly review our hedging program and make adjustments as necessary based on the factors 
discussed above. Our hedging activities may not offset more than a portion of the adverse financial 
impact resulting from unfavorable movement in foreign currency exchange rates, which could adversely 
affect our financial condition or results of operations. 

We have issued $1.9 billion of notes in a debt offering and may incur other debt in the future, 
which may adversely affect our financial condition and future financial results.  

We have $1.9 billion in senior unsecured notes outstanding. We also have a $1.0 billion revolving credit 
facility, which is currently undrawn. This debt may adversely affect our financial condition and future 
financial results by, among other things:  

• requiring the dedication of a portion of our expected cash from operations to service our 
indebtedness, thereby reducing the amount of expected cash flow available for other purposes, 
including capital expenditures and acquisitions; and 

• limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry. 
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Our senior unsecured notes and revolving credit facility impose restrictions on us and require us to 
maintain compliance with specified covenants. Our ability to comply with these covenants may be 
affected by events beyond our control. If we breach any of the covenants and do not obtain a waiver from 
the lenders or noteholders, then, subject to applicable cure periods, any outstanding indebtedness may 
be declared immediately due and payable.  

In addition, changes by any rating agency to our credit rating may negatively impact the value and 
liquidity of both our debt and equity securities, as well as the potential costs associated with a refinancing 
of our debt. Under certain circumstances, if our credit ratings are downgraded or other negative action is 
taken, the interest rate payable by us under our revolving credit facility could increase. Downgrades in our 
credit ratings could also restrict our ability to obtain additional financing in the future and could affect the 
terms of any such financing.  

Changes in, or interpretations of, accounting principles could have a significant impact on our 
financial position and results of operations. 

We prepare our Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. These principles are 
subject to interpretation by the SEC and various bodies formed to interpret and create appropriate 
accounting principles. A change in these principles can have a significant effect on our reported results 
and may even retroactively affect previously reported transactions. Additionally, the adoption of new or 
revised accounting principles may require that we make significant changes to our systems, processes 
and controls. 

For example, the U.S.-based Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) is currently working 
together with the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) on several projects to further align 
accounting principles and facilitate more comparable financial reporting between companies who are 
required to follow U.S. GAAP under SEC regulations and those who are required to follow International 
Financial Reporting Standards outside of the U.S. These efforts by the FASB and IASB may result in 
different accounting principles under U.S. GAAP that may result in materially different financial results for 
us in areas including, but not limited to, principles for recognizing revenue and lease accounting. 
Additionally, significant changes to U.S. GAAP resulting from the FASB's and IASB's efforts may require 
that we change how we process, analyze and report financial information and that we change financial 
reporting controls. 

If our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets become impaired we could be required to record a 
significant charge to earnings.  

Under U.S. GAAP, we review our goodwill and amortizable intangible assets for impairment when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. U.S. GAAP requires us 
to test for goodwill impairment at least annually. Factors that may be considered a change in 
circumstances indicating that the carrying value of our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets may not 
be recoverable include declines in stock price, market capitalization or cash flows and slower growth 
rates in our industry. We could be required to record a significant charge to earnings in our financial 
statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets 
were determined, negatively impacting our results of operations.  

Changes in, or interpretations of, tax rules and regulations may adversely affect our effective tax 
rates. 

We are a United States-based multinational company subject to tax in multiple U.S. and foreign tax 
jurisdictions. A significant portion of our foreign earnings for the current fiscal year were earned by our 
Irish subsidiaries. In addition to providing for U.S. income taxes on earnings from the United States, we 
provide for U.S. income taxes on the earnings of foreign subsidiaries unless the subsidiaries’ earnings are 
considered permanently reinvested outside the United States. While we do not anticipate changing our 
intention regarding permanently reinvested earnings, if certain foreign earnings previously treated as 
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permanently reinvested are repatriated, the related U.S. tax liability may be reduced by any foreign 
income taxes paid on these earnings.  

Our income tax expense has differed from the tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 
due primarily to discrete items and to earnings considered as permanently reinvested in foreign 
operations. Unanticipated changes in our tax rates could affect our future results of operations. Our future 
effective tax rates could be unfavorably affected by changes in the tax rates in jurisdictions where our 
income is earned, by changes in, or our interpretation of, tax rules and regulations in the jurisdictions in 
which we do business, by unanticipated decreases in the amount of earnings in countries with low 
statutory tax rates, by lapses of the availability of the U.S. research and development tax credit, or by 
changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities. The United States, countries in the 
European Union and other countries where we do business have been considering changes in relevant 
tax, accounting and other laws, regulations and interpretations, including changes to tax laws applicable 
to corporate multinationals such as Adobe. These potential changes could adversely affect our effective 
tax rates or result in other costs to us. 

In addition, we are subject to the continual examination of our income tax returns by the U.S. Internal 
Revenue Service (“IRS”) and other domestic and foreign tax authorities, including a current examination 
by the IRS of our fiscal 2010, 2011 and 2012 tax returns. These tax examinations are expected to focus 
on our intercompany transfer pricing practices as well as other matters. We regularly assess the likelihood 
of outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income 
taxes and have reserved for potential adjustments that may result from the current examinations. There 
can be no assurance that the final determination of any of these examinations will not have an adverse 
effect on our operating results and financial position. 

If we are unable to recruit and retain key personnel our business may be harmed. 

Much of our future success depends on the continued service and availability of our senior management. 
These individuals have acquired specialized knowledge and skills with respect to Adobe. The loss of any 
of these individuals could harm our business, especially in the event that we have not been successful in 
developing adequate succession plans. Our business is also dependent on our ability to retain, hire and 
motivate talented, highly skilled personnel across all levels of our organization. Experienced personnel in 
the information technology industry are in high demand and competition for their talents is intense in 
many areas where our employees are located. If we are unable to continue to successfully attract and 
retain key personnel, our business may be harmed. Effective succession planning is also a key factor for 
our long-term success. Our failure to enable the effective transfer of knowledge and facilitate smooth 
transitions of our key employees could adversely affect our long-term strategic planning and execution. 

We believe that a critical contributor to our success to date has been our corporate culture, which we 
have built to foster innovation, teamwork and employee satisfaction. As we grow, including from the 
integration of employees and businesses acquired in connection with previous or future acquisitions, we 
may find it difficult to maintain important aspects of our corporate culture, which could negatively affect 
our ability to retain and recruit personnel who are essential to our future success. 

Our investment portfolio may become impaired by deterioration of the capital markets. 

Our cash equivalent and short-term investment portfolio as of February 27, 2015 consisted of corporate 
bonds and commercial paper, U.S. agency securities and U.S. Treasury securities, money market mutual 
funds, municipal securities, time deposits and asset-backed securities. We follow an established 
investment policy and set of guidelines to monitor and help mitigate our exposure to interest rate and 
credit risk. The policy sets forth credit quality standards and limits our exposure to any one issuer, as well 
as our maximum exposure to various asset classes. 

Should financial market conditions worsen in the future, investments in some financial instruments may 
pose risks arising from market liquidity and credit concerns. In addition, any deterioration of the capital 
markets could cause our other income and expense to vary from expectations. As of February 27, 2015, 
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we had no material impairment charges associated with our short-term investment portfolio, and although 
we believe our current investment portfolio has little risk of material impairment, we cannot predict future 
market conditions or market liquidity, or credit availability, and can provide no assurance that our 
investment portfolio will remain materially unimpaired. 

II. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

All market risk sensitive instruments were entered into for non-trading purposes. The information below is 
excerpted from Adobe’s Form 10-K. Adobe believes that there have been no significant changes in its 
market risk exposures for the three months ended February 27, 2015. 

2.1 Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign Currency Exposures and Hedging Instruments 

In countries outside the U.S., we transact business in U.S. Dollars and various other currencies which 
subject us to exposure from movements in exchange rates. We may use foreign exchange purchased 
options or forward contracts to hedge our foreign currency revenue denominated in Euro, British Pounds 
and Yen. Additionally, we hedge our net recognized foreign currency assets and liabilities with foreign 
exchange forward contracts. We hedge these exposures to reduce the risk that our earnings and cash 
flows will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates.  

Our revenue exposures for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012 were as follows (in millions, except Yen):  

            

 
Fiscal  
2014  

Fiscal  
2013  

Fiscal  
2012 

Euro € 455.5   € 434.7   € 530.7  
Yen (in billions) ¥ 28   ¥ 32.5   ¥ 34.8  
British Pounds £ 159.1   £ 145.3   £ 145.1  

As of November 28, 2014, the total absolute value of all outstanding foreign exchange contracts, 
including options and forwards, was $672.9 million which included the notional equivalent of $359.5 
million in Euros, $104.7 million in British Pounds, $159.5 million in Yen and $49.2 million in other foreign 
currencies. As of November 28, 2014, all contracts were set to expire at various dates through June 
2015. The bank counterparties in these contracts expose us to credit-related losses in the event of their 
nonperformance. However, to mitigate that risk, we only contract with counterparties who meet our 
minimum requirements under our counterparty risk assessment process. In addition, our hedging policy 
establishes maximum limits for each counterparty. 

A sensitivity analysis was performed on all of our foreign exchange derivatives as of November 28, 2014. 
This sensitivity analysis measures the hypothetical market value resulting from a 10% shift in the value of 
exchange rates relative to the U.S. Dollar. For option contracts, the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
was used. A 10% increase in the value of the U.S. Dollar and a corresponding decrease in the value of 
the hedged foreign currency asset would lead to an increase in the fair value of our financial hedging 
instruments by $40.9 million. Conversely, a 10% decrease in the value of the U.S. Dollar would result in a 
decrease in the fair value of these financial instruments by $28.9 million. 

As a general rule, we do not use foreign exchange contracts to hedge local currency denominated 
operating expenses in countries where a natural hedge exists. For example, in many countries, revenue 
in the local currencies substantially offsets the local currency denominated operating expenses.  

We also have long-term investment exposures consisting of the capitalization and retained earnings in 
our non-U.S. Dollar functional currency foreign subsidiaries. As of November 28, 2014 and November 29, 
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2013, this long-term investment exposure totaled a notional equivalent of $161.7 million and $355.6 
million, respectively. At this time, we do not hedge these long-term investment exposures. 

We do not use foreign exchange contracts for speculative trading purposes, nor do we hedge our foreign 
currency exposure in a manner that entirely offsets the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates. We 
regularly review our hedging program and assess the need to utilize financial instruments to hedge 
currency exposures on an ongoing basis. 

Economic Hedging—Hedges of Forecasted Transactions 

We may use foreign exchange purchased options or forward contracts to hedge foreign currency revenue 
denominated in Euros, British Pounds and Yen. We hedge these cash flow exposures to reduce the risk 
that our earnings and cash flows will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates. These foreign 
exchange contracts, carried at fair value, may have maturities between one and twelve months. We enter 
into these foreign exchange contracts to hedge forecasted revenue in the normal course of business and 
accordingly, they are not speculative in nature. 

We record changes in the intrinsic value of these cash flow hedges in accumulated other comprehensive 
income, until the forecasted transaction occurs. When the forecasted transaction occurs, we reclassify the 
related gain or loss on the cash flow hedge to revenue. In the event the underlying forecasted transaction 
does not occur, or it becomes probable that it will not occur, we reclassify the gain or loss on the related 
cash flow hedge from accumulated other comprehensive income to interest and other income, net on our 
Consolidated Statements of Income at that time. For the fiscal year ended November 28, 2014, net gains 
or losses recognized in other income relating to hedges of forecasted transactions that did not occur were 
insignificant. 

See Note 5 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Adobe's Form 10-K for information 
regarding our hedging activities. 

Balance Sheet Hedging—Hedging of Foreign Currency Assets and Liabilities 

We hedge exposures related to our net recognized foreign currency assets and liabilities with foreign 
exchange forward contracts to reduce the risk that our earnings and cash flows will be adversely affected 
by changes in foreign currency exchange rates. These foreign exchange contracts are carried at fair 
value with changes in the fair value recorded as interest and other income, net. These foreign exchange 
contracts do not subject us to material balance sheet risk due to exchange rate movements because 
gains and losses on these contracts are intended to offset gains and losses on the assets and liabilities 
being hedged. At November 28, 2014, the outstanding balance sheet hedging derivatives had maturities 
of 180 days or less. 

See Note 5 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Adobe's Form 10-K for information 
regarding our hedging activities. 

2.2 Interest Rate Risk 

Short-Term Investments and Fixed Income Securities 

At November 28, 2014, we had debt securities classified as short-term investments of $2.6 billion. 
Changes in interest rates could adversely affect the market value of these investments. The following 
table separates these investments, based on stated maturities, to show the approximate exposure to 
interest rates (in millions): 

    
Due within one year $ 607.2  
Due within two years 904.9  
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Due within three years 834.2  
Due after three years 275.3  

Total $ 2,621.6  

A sensitivity analysis was performed on our investment portfolio as of November 28, 2014. The analysis is 
based on an estimate of the hypothetical changes in market value of the portfolio that would result from 
an immediate parallel shift in the yield curve of various magnitudes. 

The following tables present the hypothetical fair values of our debt securities classified as short-term 
investments assuming immediate parallel shifts in the yield curve of 50 basis points (“BPS”), 100 BPS and 
150 BPS. The analysis is shown as of November 28, 2014 and November 29, 2013 (dollars in millions): 

                    

-150 BPS  -100 BPS  -50 BPS  
Fair Value 
11/28/14  +50 BPS  +100 BPS  +150 BPS 

2,663.3   2,656.3   2,641.9   2,621.6   2,599.8   2,578.0   2,556.2  

-150 BPS  -100 BPS  -50 BPS  
Fair Value 
11/29/13  +50 BPS  +100 BPS  +150 BPS 

2,363.7   2,360.9   2,353.8   2,338.5   2,320.5   2,302.5   2,284.5  

Senior Notes 

As of November 28, 2014, the amount outstanding under our senior notes was $1.5 billion, consisting of 
$600 million of 3.25% senior notes due February 1, 2015 (the “2015 Notes”) and $900 million of 4.75% 
senior notes due February 1, 2020 (the “2020 Notes” and, together with the 2015 Notes, the “Notes”). In 
June 2014, we entered into interest rate swaps that effectively converted the fixed interest rate on our 
2020 Notes to a floating interest rate based on the LIBOR plus a fixed number of basis points through 
February 1, 2020. Accordingly, our exposure to fluctuations in market interest rates is on the hedged 
fixed-rate debt of $900 million. An immediate hypothetical 50 basis points increase or decrease in market 
interest rates would not have a significant impact on our results of operations. 

As of November 28, 2014, the total carrying amount of the Notes was $1.5 billion and the related fair 
value based on inactive market prices was $1.6 billion. 

2.3 Other Market Risk 

Privately Held Long-Term Investments 

The privately held companies in which we invest can still be considered in the start-up or development 
stages which are inherently risky. The technologies or products these companies have under 
development are typically in the early stages and may never materialize, which could result in a loss of a 
substantial part of our initial investment in these companies. The evaluation of privately held companies is 
based on information that we request from these companies, which is not subject to the same disclosure 
regulations as U.S. publicly traded companies, and as such, the basis for these evaluations is subject to 
the timing and accuracy of the data received from these companies. 

Marketable Equity Securities 

We have minimal exposure to equity price risk on our portfolio of marketable equity securities. As of 
November 28, 2014 and November 29, 2013, our total equity holdings in publicly traded companies were 
insignificant. 



PART II — PROSPECTUS 

 32 
1302370-v6\NYCDMS 

SECTION B — SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ESPP 

I. THE OUTLINE 

1.1 Purpose of the ESPP 

The purpose of the ESPP is to provide eligible employees of the Company and its subsidiaries 
designated by the Board to participate in the ESPP with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in 
the Company through the purchase of Shares.  The ESPP was initially approved by Adobe’s stockholders 
at the stockholders’ meeting held on April 9, 1997, was most recently amended by the Board on February 
28, 2011 and was most recently amended by stockholders on April 21, 2011. 

1.2 Shares Offered Under the ESPP 

A total of 93 million Shares are reserved for issuance under the ESPP, following the approval by Adobe’s 
stockholders on April 21, 2011, of an amendment to the ESPP to increase the Shares available from 76 
million to 93 million.  As of May 1, 2015, 12,185,364 Shares remain available for future issuance, 
representing approximately 2.4% of the 500,269,100 Shares outstanding as of March 20, 2015.  Such 
number is subject to adjustments effected in accordance with the ESPP.  Each Share has a par value of 
$0.0001. 

Except as provided in the ESPP, on the Offering Date of each Offering Period, each Participating 
Employee in such Offering Period shall be granted automatically a purchase right consisting of an option 
to purchase five thousand (5,000) Shares.  No purchase right will be granted on an Offering Date to any 
person who is not, on such Offering Date, an eligible employee.  Notwithstanding any provision of the 
ESPP to the contrary, no purchase right will entitle a Participating Employee to purchase Shares under 
the ESPP at a rate which, when aggregated with such Participating Employee's rights to purchase Shares 
under all other employee stock purchase plans of a participating company intended to meet the 
requirements of Section 423 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), 
exceeds $25,000 in Fair Market Value (or such other limit, if any, as may be imposed by the Code) for 
each calendar year in which such purchase right has been outstanding at any time. For purposes of the 
preceding sentence, the Fair Market Value of Shares purchased during a given Offering Period will be 
determined as of the Offering Date for such Offering Period.  

In the event of any stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, recapitalization, combination, 
reclassification or similar change in the capital structure of the Company, or in the event of any merger 
(including a merger effected for the purpose of changing the Company's domicile), sale of assets or other 
reorganization in which the Company is a party, appropriate adjustments will be made in the number and 
class of shares subject to the ESPP and each purchase right and in the Purchase Price. If a majority of 
the shares which are of the same class as the shares that are subject to outstanding purchase rights are 
exchanged for, converted into, or otherwise become shares of another corporation (the “New Shares”), 
the Board may unilaterally amend the outstanding purchase rights to provide that such purchase rights 
are exercisable for New Shares. In the event of any such amendment, the number of shares subject to, 
and the Purchase Price of, the outstanding purchase rights will be adjusted in a fair and equitable 
manner, as determined by the Board, in its sole discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any fractional 
share resulting from an adjustment will be rounded down to the nearest whole number, and in no event 
may the Purchase Price be decreased to an amount less than the par value, if any, of the stock subject to 
the purchase right. The adjustments determined by the Board will be final, binding and conclusive. 

1.3 Purchase Period 

The ESPP is comprised of Offering Periods of approximately twenty-four (24) months duration or such 
other duration as the Board determines. Offering Periods commence on or about January 1 and July 1 of 
each year and end on or about the second December 31 and June 30, respectively, occurring thereafter. 
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If the first or last day of an Offering Period is not a day on which the national securities exchanges or 
NASDAQ are open for trading, the Company will specify the trading day that will be deemed the first or 
last day, as the case may be, of the Offering Period. 

Each Offering Period consists of four (4) consecutive Purchase Periods of approximately six (6) months 
duration, or such other number or duration as the Board determines. A Purchase Period commencing on 
or about January 1 will end on or about the next June 30. A Purchase Period commencing on or about 
July 1 will end on or about the next December 31.  If the first or last day of a Purchase Period is not a day 
on which the national securities exchanges or NASDAQ are open for trading, the Company will specify 
the trading day that will be deemed the first or last day, as the case may be, of the Purchase Period. 

1.4 Purchase Price 

The Purchase Price at which each Share may be acquired in an Offering Period upon the exercise of all 
or any portion of a purchase right will be established by the Board; provided, however, that the Purchase 
Price will not be less than eighty-five percent (85%) of the lesser of (a) the Fair Market Value of a Share 
on the first business day of the 24-month Offering Period or (b) the Fair Market Value of a Share on each 
purchase date within a 24-month Offering Period.  

1.5 Purchase of Shares 

On each Purchase Date of an Offering Period, each Participating Employee who has not withdrawn from 
the ESPP and whose participation in the offering has not terminated before such Purchase Date, will 
automatically acquire pursuant to the exercise of the Participating Employee's purchase right the number 
of whole Shares determined by dividing (a) the total amount of the Participating Employee's payroll 
deductions accumulated in the Participating Employee's ESPP account during the Offering Period and not 
previously applied toward the purchase of Shares by (b) the Purchase Price. However, in no event will the 
number of Shares purchased by the Participating Employee during an Offering Period exceed the number 
of Shares subject to the Participating Employee's purchase right. No Shares will be purchased on a 
Purchase Date on behalf of a Participating Employee whose participation in the Offering or the Plan has 
terminated before such Purchase Date. 

Any cash balance remaining in a Participating Employee's ESPP account following any Purchase Date 
will be refunded to the Participating Employee as soon as practicable after such Purchase Date. 
However, if the cash to be returned to a Participating Employee is an amount less than the amount that 
would have been necessary to purchase an additional whole Share on such Purchase Date, the 
Company may retain such amount in the Participating Employee's ESPP account to be applied toward 
the purchase of Shares in the subsequent Purchase Period or Offering Period, as the case may be.   

1.6 Term of the ESPP 

The ESPP will continue in effect until the earlier of its termination by the Board or the date on which all of 
the Shares available for issuance under the ESPP have been issued. 

1.7 Termination or Amendment of the ESPP 

The Board may at any time amend or terminate the ESPP, except that (a) such termination should not 
affect purchase rights previously granted under the ESPP, except as permitted under the ESPP, and (b) 
no amendment may adversely affect a purchase right previously granted under the ESPP (except to the 
extent permitted by the ESPP or as may be necessary to qualify the ESPP as an employee stock 
purchase plan pursuant to the Code or to obtain qualification or registration of the Shares under 
applicable foreign, federal or state securities laws). In addition, an amendment to the ESPP must be 
approved by the stockholders of the Company within twelve (12) months of the adoption of such 
amendment if the amendment would authorize the sale of more Shares than are authorized for issuance 
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under the ESPP or would change the definition of the corporations that may be designated by the Board 
as Participating Companies. 

II. ELIGIBILITY 

2.1 Eligible Employees 

The Board designates from among the subsidiaries, as determined from time to time, the subsidiary or 
subsidiaries whose employees will be eligible to participate in the ESPP.  The Board has the sole and 
absolute discretion in determining which subsidiaries or affiliates will be Participating Companies. 

Each employee of a Participating Company is eligible to participate in the ESPP and will be deemed an 
eligible employee, except the Board, in its discretion, may exclude employees who own stock or hold 
options to purchase stock possessing five (5) percent or more of the total combined voting power or value 
of all classes of stock of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. 

Under the ESPP, an eligible employee is any employee of the Company or a Participating Company, 
except an employee who is customarily employed by the Participating Company Group for 20 hours or 
less per week or for not more than five months in a calendar year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
employees of a Participating Company may be Participating Employees even if their customary 
employment is less than the aforementioned requirements, to the extent required by local law. 

2.2 Participation of Eligible Employees 

An eligible employee may become a Participating Employee in an Offering Period by delivering a properly 
completed subscription agreement to the office designated by the Company not later than the 
Subscription Date. An eligible employee who does not deliver a properly completed subscription 
agreement to the Company's designated office on or before the Subscription Date for an Offering Period 
shall not participate in the ESPP for that Offering Period or for any subsequent Offering Period unless the 
eligible employee subsequently delivers a properly completed subscription agreement to the appropriate 
office of the Company on or before the Subscription Date for such subsequent Offering Period. An 
employee who becomes an eligible employee on or after the Offering Date of an Offering Period will not 
be eligible to participate in such Offering Period but may participate in any subsequent Offering Period 
provided such employee is still an eligible employee as of the Offering Date of such subsequent Offering 
Period. 

A Participating Employee will automatically participate in the next Offering Period commencing 
immediately after the final Purchase Date of each Offering Period in which the Participating Employee 
participates provided that such Participating Employee remains an eligible employee on the Offering Date 
of the new Offering Period and has not either (a) withdrawn from the ESPP or (b) terminated employment. 
A Participating Employee who may automatically participate in a subsequent Offering Period is not 
required to deliver any additional subscription agreement for the subsequent Offering Period in order to 
continue participation in the ESPP. However, a Participating Employee may deliver a new subscription 
agreement for a subsequent Offering Period if the Participant desires to change any of the elections 
contained in the Participating Employee's then effective subscription agreement. Eligible employees may 
not participate simultaneously in more than one Offering. 

In the event that the Fair Market Value of the Shares on a new Purchase Date is less than the Fair Market 
Value of the Shares on the previous Offering Date, the Participating Employee will be automatically 
withdrawn from the Offering Period and re-enrolled in the new Offering Period.  The Participating 
Employee acknowledges that in the event of such re-enrollment, the Fair Market Value of the Shares on 
the new Offering Date may be higher than that on the previous Offering Date (as the result of an increase 
in the Fair Market Value of the Shares between the Purchase Date and the Offering Date the next trading 
day).  The Participating Employee may withdraw from the ESPP as described below. 
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2.3 Payroll Deductions 

Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of all or any portion of a purchase right may be paid for only by 
means of payroll deductions from the Participating Employee's compensation accumulated during the 
Offering Period for which such purchase right was granted (however, if local law outside the U.S. does 
not permit payroll deductions, the Board may modify the procedure for the payment of the Purchase Price 
to conform to such laws). 

Except as otherwise provided in the ESPP, the amount to be deducted under the ESPP from a 
Participating Employee's compensation on each payday during an Offering Period will be determined by 
the Participating Employee's subscription agreement. The subscription agreement will set forth the 
percentage of the Participating Employee's compensation to be deducted on each payday during an 
Offering Period in whole percentages of not less than one percent (1%) (except as a result of an election 
to stop payroll deductions made effective following the first payday during an offering) or more than 
twenty-five percent (25%).  

Payroll deductions commence on the first payday following the Offering Date and continue to the end of 
the Offering Period unless sooner altered or terminated.  During an Offering Period, a Participating 
Employee may elect to decrease the rate of or to stop deductions from his or her compensation by 
delivering to the Company's designated office an amended subscription agreement authorizing such 
change on or before the “Change Notice Date.” The “Change Notice Date” will be a date prior to the 
beginning of the first pay period for which such election is to be effective as established by the Company 
from time to time and announced to the Participating Employees. A Participating Employee who elects to 
decrease the rate of his or her payroll deductions to zero percent (0%) will nevertheless remain a 
Participating Employee in the current Offering Period unless such Participant withdraws from the ESPP. 

2.4 Discontinuance of Participation of Participating Employees 

A Participating Employee may withdraw from the ESPP by signing and delivering to the Company's 
designated office a written notice of withdrawal on a form provided by the Company for such purpose. 
Such withdrawal may be elected at any time prior to the end of an Offering Period; provided, however, if a 
Participating Employee withdraws from the ESPP after the Purchase Date of a Purchase Period, the 
withdrawal will not affect Shares acquired by the Participating Employee on such Purchase Date. A 
Participating Employee who voluntarily withdraws from the ESPP is prohibited from resuming participation 
in the ESPP in the same offering from which he or she withdrew, but may participate in any subsequent 
offering by again satisfying the requirements of eligibility and enrolling in the ESPP. The Company may 
impose, from time to time, a requirement that the notice of withdrawal from the ESPP be on file with the 
Company's designated office for a reasonable period prior to the effectiveness of the Participating 
Employee's withdrawal. 

Upon a Participating Employee's voluntary withdrawal from the ESPP or automatic withdrawal from an 
offering (when the Participating Employee is automatically enrolled in a subsequent offering), the 
Participating Employee's accumulated payroll deductions which have not been applied toward the 
purchase of Shares (except, in the case of an automatic withdrawal, for an amount necessary to 
purchase an additional whole Share) will be returned as soon as practicable after the withdrawal, without 
the payment of any interest, to the Participating Employee, and the Participating Employee's interest in 
the ESPP or the offering, as applicable, will terminate. Such accumulated payroll deductions may not be 
applied to any other offering under the ESPP. 

2.5 Termination of Employment of Participating Employees 

Upon a Participating Employee's ceasing, prior to a Purchase Date, to be an employee of the 
Participating Company group for any reason, including retirement, disability or death, or the failure of a 
Participating Employee to remain an eligible employee, the Participating Employee's participation in the 
ESPP will terminate immediately. In such event, the payroll deductions credited to the Participating 
Employee's ESPP account since the last Purchase Date will, as soon as practicable, be returned to the 
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Participating Employee or, in the case of the Participating Employee's death, to the Participating 
Employee's legal representative, and all of the Participating Employee's rights under the ESPP will 
terminate. Interest will not be paid on sums returned. A Participating Employee whose participation has 
been so terminated may again become eligible to participate in the ESPP by again satisfying the 
requirements of eligibility and enrollment. 

III. DELIVERY AND SALE OF THE SHARES 

As soon as practicable after each Purchase Date, the Company will arrange the delivery to each 
Participating Employee, as appropriate, of a certificate representing the Shares acquired by the 
Participating Employee on such Purchase Date; provided that the Company may deliver such Shares to a 
broker that holds such Shares in street name for the benefit of the Participating Employee. Shares to be 
delivered to a Participating Employee under the ESPP will be registered in the name of the Participating 
Employee, or, if requested by the Participating Employee, in the name of the Participating Employee and 
his or her spouse, or, if applicable, in the names of the heirs of the Participating Employee. 

A purchase right may not be transferred in any manner otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and 
distribution and will be exercisable during the lifetime of the Participating Employee only by the 
Participating Employee. 

IV. RIGHTS RELATED TO THE SHARES 

4.1 Type and the Class of the Securities Being Offered, Including the Security Identification 
Code 

As of February 27, 2015, Adobe was authorized to issue 900,000,000 Shares and 2,000,000 shares of 
preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share.  As of March 20, 2015, there were 500,269,100 Shares 
outstanding and no shares of preferred stock issued or outstanding.  

Adobe’s Shares, including any Shares that may be issued or purchased pursuant to the ESPP, are listed 
on NASDAQ under the symbol “ADBE.”  The CUSIP number for the Shares is 00724F101. 

4.2 Legislation Under Which the Securities Have Been Created 

The Shares were created under the DGCL.  Except as otherwise expressly required under the laws of a 
country, the ESPP and all rights thereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the state of Delaware, United States of America. 

4.3 Form of Securities, Name and Address of the Entity in Charge of Keeping the Records 

In general, stockholders may hold Shares, at their choosing, either in book entry, certificated or street 
name form.  The records of the registered stockholders are kept by Adobe’s transfer agent, 
Computershare Trust Company, N.A. The address and telephone number of Computershare Trust 
Company, N.A. are: 

Computershare Trust Company, N.A. 
250 Royall Street 
Canton, MA  02021 
U.S.A. 
+ 1-800-455-1130  
+ 1-312-360-5148 (outside the U.S.A.) 

By Regular Mail 
P.O. BOX 30170 
College Station, TX 77842 
U.S.A. 

 

By Overnight Delivery 
211 Quality Circle Suite 210 
College Station, TX 77845 
U.S.A. 

http://www.etrade.com/stockplans
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The Company’s designated ESPP broker is E*Trade.  The Shares are deposited into the Participating 
Employee’s E*Trade account.  The Participating Employee can activate his or her E*Trade Account on 
the Internet at the following address: www.etrade.com/stockplans or via IVR (Interactive Voice Response) 
at 1-650-599-0125 (outside the United States).  Confirmations of purchase statements are made available 
to the Participating Employees both online or by contacting Adobe’s designated office. 

Commission 

The SEC imposes a fee on the transfer of Shares.  This fee is paid to the SEC at the time of sale and is 
required for all equity trades. Upon selling the Shares, Participating Employees will be charged a fee 
equal to $0.0000184 multiplied by the total principal amount of the sale proceeds.  The SEC will publish a 
revised fee rate 30 days after the SEC’s regular appropriation for fiscal year 2016 is enacted, and this 
new fee rate will become effective 60 days after the appropriation is enacted.  

4.4 Currency of the Securities Issue 

The United States Dollar is the currency of the securities issue.  Participating Employees assume the risk 
of any currency fluctuations from the time of their contributions to the ESPP by payroll deductions through 
the selling of their Shares purchased under the ESPP. 

4.5 Rights Attached to the Securities 

No Participating Employee shall have any voting, dividend, or other stockholder rights with respect to any 
offering under the ESPP until the Shares have been purchased and delivered to the Participating 
Employee as provided in Section III above.  Following such purchase and delivery, the Participating 
Employee shall be entitled to the rights attached to the Shares, as further described below: 

Dividend Rights. Adobe’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation does not provide for dividend rights for 
the Shares.  Under the DGCL and subject to preferences that may apply to shares of Adobe preferred 
stock outstanding at the time, the holders of outstanding Shares are entitled to receive dividends either 
(1) out of the surplus, or (2) in case there shall be no such surplus, out of the company’s net profits for the 
fiscal year in which the dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal year as Adobe’s Board may from 
time to time determine (see Section 170 DGCL).   

Adobe did not declare or pay any cash dividends on its Shares during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 or fiscal 
2012. Under the terms of its credit agreement and lease agreements, Adobe is not prohibited from paying 
cash dividends unless payment would trigger an event of default or one currently exists. Adobe does not 
anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. 

Voting Rights. Each holder of Shares is entitled to one vote for each Share held on all matters submitted 
to a vote of Adobe’s stockholders. Any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of 
Adobe must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of such holders and may not be 
effected by consent in writing by such stockholders (Article V, Section B.(3) of the Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation of Adobe Systems Incorporated).  Special meetings of stockholders of Adobe may be 
called, for any purpose or purposes, by (i) the Chairman of the Board, (ii) the President, (iii) the Board 
pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of authorized directors (whether or not 
there exist any vacancies in previously authorized directorships at the time any such resolution is 
presented to the Board for adoption) or (iv) by the holders of the Shares entitled to cast not less than ten 
percent (10%) of the votes at the meeting (Article V, Section B.(4) of the Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation of Adobe Systems Incorporated).   

An annual meeting of stockholders shall be held for the election of directors at such date, time and place, 
either within or without the State of Delaware, as the Board shall each year fix.  Any other business 
properly brought before the Annual Meeting in accordance with Article III, Section 5(b) of the Amended 
and Restated Bylaws may be conducted at the meeting. 
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Except as provided in Section 18 of Article IV of the Amended and Restated Bylaws, a nominee for 
director shall be elected to the Board if the votes cast for such nominee’s election exceed the votes cast 
against such nominee’s election (excluding the effect of any abstentions with respect to that nominee’s 
election); provided, however, that directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast at any meeting 
of stockholders for which (i) the Secretary of the corporation receives a notice that a stockholder has 
nominated a person for election to the Board in compliance with the advance notice requirements for 
stockholder nominees for director set forth in Article III, Section 5(b)(iii) of these Bylaws and (ii) such 
nomination has not been withdrawn by such stockholder on or before the tenth (10th) day before the 
corporation first mails its notice of meeting for such meeting to the stockholders. 

The Amended and Restated Bylaws require a stockholder who desires to nominate one or more persons 
for election as a member of the Board at the Company’s annual meeting to provide written notice to the 
Company at least 75 days and no more than 105 days prior to the first anniversary of the date on which 
the Company released its proxy materials to its stockholders for the prior year’s annual meeting of 
stockholders.  

Pursuant to Section 242 of the DGCL, after a corporation has received payment for any of its capital 
stock, it may amend its certificate of incorporation, from time to time, in any and as many respects as may 
be desired, so long as its certificate of incorporation as amended would contain only such provisions as it 
would be lawful and proper to insert in an original certificate of incorporation filed at the time of the filing of 
the amendment; and, if a change in stock or the rights of stockholders, or an exchange, reclassification, 
subdivision, combination or cancellation of stock or rights of stockholders is to be made, such provisions 
as may be necessary to effect such change, exchange, reclassification, subdivision, combination or 
cancellation. In particular, and without limitation upon such general power of amendment, a corporation 
may amend its certificate of incorporation, from time to time, so as: 

(1) To change its corporate name; or 

(2) To change, substitute, enlarge or diminish the nature of its business or its corporate powers and 
purposes; or 

(3) To increase or decrease its authorized capital stock or to reclassify the same, by changing the 
number, par value, designations, preferences, or relative, participating, optional, or other special 
rights of the shares, or the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such rights, or by changing 
shares with par value into shares without par value, or shares without par value into shares with par 
value either with or without increasing or decreasing the number of shares, or by subdividing or 
combining the outstanding shares of any class or series of a class of shares into a greater or lesser 
number of outstanding shares; or 

(4) To cancel or otherwise affect the right of the holders of the shares of any class to receive dividends 
which have accrued but have not been declared; or 

(5) To create new classes of stock having rights and preferences either prior and superior or subordinate 
and inferior to the stock of any class then authorized, whether issued or unissued; or 

(6) To change the period of its duration. 

Any or all such changes or alterations may be effected by one certificate of amendment. 

The board of directors shall adopt a resolution setting forth the amendment proposed, declaring its 
advisability, and either calling a special meeting of the stockholders entitled to vote in respect thereof for 
the consideration of such amendment or directing that the amendment proposed be considered at the 
next annual meeting of the stockholders. Such special or annual meeting shall be called and held upon 
notice. The notice shall set forth such amendment in full or a brief summary of the changes to be effected 
thereby, as the directors shall deem advisable. At the meeting, a vote of the stockholders entitled to vote 
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thereon shall be taken for and against the proposed amendment. If a majority of the outstanding stock 
entitled to vote thereon, and a majority of the outstanding stock of each class entitled to vote thereon as a 
class has been voted in favor of the amendment, a certificate setting forth the amendment and certifying 
that such amendment has been duly adopted in accordance with Section 242 of the DGCL shall be 
executed, acknowledged and filed and shall become effective. 

Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions.  Upon a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the 
company, the assets legally available for distribution to stockholders are distributable ratably among the 
holders of the outstanding Shares at that time after payment of any liquidation preferences on any 
outstanding preferred stock. 

No Preemptive, Redemptive or Conversion Provisions. The Shares are not entitled to preemptive 
rights and are not subject to conversion or redemption.  

4.6 Transferability 

The Shares in this offering under the ESPP are registered on a registration statement on Form S-8 with 
the SEC and are generally freely transferable.  

The ESPP is intended to provide Shares for investment and not for resale. The Company does not, 
however, intend to restrict or influence any Participating Employee in the conduct of his or her own affairs. 
A Participating Employee, therefore, may sell Shares purchased under the ESPP at any time he or she 
chooses, subject to compliance with any applicable securities laws.  THE PARTICIPATING EMPLOYEE 
ASSUMES THE RISK OF ANY MARKET FLUCTUATIONS IN THE PRICE OF THE SHARES. 

4.7 General Provisions Applying to Business Combinations 

Adobe is subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, which, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits a Delaware 
corporation from engaging in any “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of 
three years following the time that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:  

• the board of directors of the corporation approves either the business combination or the transaction 
that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, prior to the time the interested 
stockholder attained that status; 

• upon the closing of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested 
stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation 
outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the 
number of shares outstanding those shares owned (i) by persons who are directors and also officers 
and (ii) by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine 
confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange 
offer; or 

• at or subsequent to such time, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and 
authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the 
affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the 
interested stockholder. 

With certain exceptions, an “interested stockholder” is a person or group who or which owns 15% or more 
of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock (including any rights to acquire stock pursuant to an option, 
warrant, agreement, arrangement or understanding, or upon the exercise of conversion or exchange 
rights, and stock with respect to which the person has voting rights only), or is an affiliate or associate of 
the corporation and was the owner of 15% or more of such voting stock at any time within the previous 
three years.  
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In general, Section 203 defines a business combination to include:  

• any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder; 

• any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation 
involving the interested stockholder; 

• subject to certain exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the 
corporation of any stock of the corporation to the interested stockholder; 

• any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of 
the stock or any class or series of the corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; or 

• the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges 
or other financial benefits provided by or through the corporation.  

A Delaware corporation, such as Adobe, may “opt out” of this provision with an express provision in its 
original certificate of incorporation or an express provision in its certificate of incorporation or bylaws 
resulting from a stockholders’ amendment approved by at least a majority of the outstanding voting 
shares. However, Adobe has not “opted out” of this provision. Section 203 could prohibit or delay mergers 
or other takeover or change-in-control attempts and, accordingly, may discourage attempts to acquire 
Adobe.  

Section 253 of the DGCL authorizes the board of directors of a Delaware corporation that owns 90% or 
more of each of the outstanding classes of stock of a subsidiary that are entitled to vote on a merger to 
merge the subsidiary into itself without any requirement for action to be taken by the board of directors of 
the subsidiary. 

Section 251(h) of the DGCL, subject to certain exceptions, permits parties entering into a merger 
agreement to “opt in” to eliminate a target stockholder vote on a back-end merger following a tender or 
exchange offer in which the acquirer accumulates sufficient shares to approve the merger agreement (a 
majority unless the target has adopted a higher vote requirement) but less than the 90% necessary to 
effect a short-form merger.  

V. STATEMENT OF CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS (AS OF FEBRUARY 27, 2015) 

5.1 Capitalization and Indebtedness (in thousands – unaudited) 

Total Current debt $ 64 
- Guaranteed  - 
- Secured (capital lease obligations) $ 64 
- Unguaranteed / Unsecured  - 
   
Total Non-Current debt (excluding current portion of long-term debt) $ 1,901,554 
- Guaranteed  - 
- Secured (capital lease obligations)  - 
- Unguaranteed / Unsecured  $ 1,901,554 
   
Stockholders’ equity   
a. Share Capital and Additional Paid-in Capital $ 3,897,899 
b. Legal Reserve  - 
c. Total Other Reserves $ 2,691,121 
 - Retained earnings $ 6,756,803 
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 - Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (103,810) 
  - Treasury stock, at cost (100,786 Shares), net of re-issuances $ (3,961,872) 

Total $ 6,589,020 

5.2 Net Indebtedness (in thousands – unaudited) 

A.+ B. Cash and cash equivalents $ 712,884 
C. Short-term investments $ 2,463,936 
D. Liquidity (A) + (B) + (C) $ 3,176,820 
    
E. Current Financial Receivable   - 
F. Current Bank debt  - 
G. Current portion of non-current debt (capital lease obligations) $ 64 
H. Other current financial debt  - 
I. Other Financial Debt (F) + (G) + (H) $ 64 
    
J. Net Current Financial Indebtedness (I) – (E) – (D) $ (3,176,756) 
    
K. Non-current Bank loans  - 
L. Bonds Issued $ 1,901,554 
M. Other non-current loans (capital lease obligations)  - 
    
N. Non-current Financial Indebtedness (K) + (L) + (M) $ 1,901,554 
    
O. Net Financial Indebtedness (J) + (N) $ (1,275,202) 

5.3 Indirect and Contingent Indebtedness 

Lease Commitments  

We occupy three office buildings in San Jose, California where our corporate headquarters are located. 
We reference these office buildings as the Almaden Tower and the East and West Towers. We own the 
land and the East and West Tower buildings, and lease the Almaden Tower building. 

The lease agreement for the Almaden Tower is effective through March 2017. We are the investors in the 
lease receivable related to the Almaden Tower lease in the amount of $80.4 million, which is recorded as 
investment in lease receivable on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of February 27, 
2015, the carrying value of the lease receivable related to the Almaden Tower approximated fair value. 
Under the agreement for the Almaden Tower, we have the option to purchase the building at any time 
during the lease term for $103.6 million. If we purchase the building, the investment in the lease 
receivables may be credited against the purchase price. The residual value guarantee under the Almaden 
Tower obligation is $89.4 million.  

The Almaden Tower lease is subject to standard covenants including certain financial ratios that are 
reported to the lessor quarterly. As of February 27, 2015, we were in compliance with all of the 
covenants. In the case of a default, the lessor may demand we purchase the building for an amount equal 
to the lease balance, or require that we remarket or relinquish the building. If we choose to remarket or 
are required to do so upon relinquishing the building, we are bound to arrange the sale of the building to 
an unrelated party and will be required to pay the lessor any shortfall between the net remarketing 
proceeds and the lease balance, up to the residual value guarantee amount less our investment in lease 
receivable. The Almaden Tower lease qualifies for operating lease accounting treatment and, as such, 
the building and the related obligation are not included in our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.  
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Royalties 

We have royalty commitments associated with the shipment and licensing of certain products. Royalty 
expense is generally based on a dollar amount per unit sold or a percentage of the underlying revenue. 

Indemnifications 

In the normal course of business, we provide indemnifications of varying scope to customers against 
claims of intellectual property infringement made by third parties arising from the use of our products and 
from time to time, we are subject to claims by our customers under these indemnification provisions. 
Historically, costs related to these indemnification provisions have not been significant and we are unable 
to estimate the maximum potential impact of these indemnification provisions on our future results of 
operations. 

To the extent permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our directors 
and officers for certain events or occurrences while the director or officer is or was serving at our request 
in such capacity. The indemnification period covers all pertinent events and occurrences during the 
director’s or officer’s lifetime. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to 
make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited, however, we have director and officer 
insurance coverage that limits our exposure and enables us to recover a portion of any future amounts 
paid.  

Legal Proceedings 

In connection with disputes relating to the validity or alleged infringement of third-party intellectual 
property rights, including patent rights, we have been, are currently and may in the future be subject to 
claims, negotiations or complex, protracted litigation. Intellectual property disputes and litigation may be 
very costly and can be disruptive to our business operations by diverting the attention and energies of 
management and key technical personnel. Although we have successfully defended or resolved past 
litigation and disputes, we may not prevail in any ongoing or future litigation and disputes. Third-party 
intellectual property disputes could subject us to significant liabilities, require us to enter into royalty and 
licensing arrangements on unfavorable terms, prevent us from licensing certain of our products or offering 
certain of our services, subject us to injunctions restricting our sale of products or services, cause severe 
disruptions to our operations or the markets in which we compete, or require us to satisfy indemnification 
commitments with our customers including contractual provisions under various license arrangements 
and service agreements. 

Between May 4, 2011 and July 14, 2011, five putative class action lawsuits were filed in Santa Clara 
Superior Court and Alameda Superior Court in California. On September 12, 2011, the cases were 
consolidated into In Re High-Tech Employee Antitrust Litigation pending in the United States District 
Court for the Northern District of California, San Jose Division. In the consolidated complaint, Plaintiffs 
alleged that Adobe, along with Apple, Google, Intel, Intuit, Lucasfilm and Pixar, agreed not to recruit each 
other's employees in violation of Federal and state antitrust laws. Plaintiffs claim the alleged agreements 
suppressed employee compensation and deprived employees of career opportunities. Plaintiffs seek 
injunctive relief, monetary damages, treble damages, costs and attorneys fees. All defendants deny the 
allegations and that they engaged in any wrongdoing of any kind. On October 24, 2013, the court certified 
a class of all persons who worked in the technical, creative, and/or research and development fields on a 
salaried basis in the United States for one or more of the following: (a) Apple from March 2005 through 
December 2009; (b) Adobe from May 2005 through December 2009; (c) Google from March 2005 
through December 2009; (d) Intel from March 2005 through December 2009; (e) Intuit from June 2007 
through December 2009; (f) Lucasfilm from January 2005 through December 2009; or (g) Pixar from 
January 2005 through December 2009, excluding retail employees, corporate officers, members of the 
boards of directors, and senior executives of all defendants. During the first quarter of fiscal 2015, the 
parties reached another agreement to settle the litigation. On March 2015, the court granted preliminary 
approval of the settlement. The hearing for final approval is set for July 2015. We accrued a loss 
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contingency of $10.0 million associated with this matter during the first quarter of fiscal 2014. If the 
settlement is approved, we expect to incur no additional losses associated with this matter.  

In addition to intellectual property disputes, we are subject to legal proceedings, claims and investigations 
in the ordinary course of business, including claims relating to commercial, employment and other 
matters. Some of these disputes and legal proceedings may include speculative claims for substantial or 
indeterminate amounts of damages. We consider all claims on a quarterly basis in accordance with U.S. 
GAAP and based on known facts assess whether potential losses are considered reasonably possible, 
probable and estimable. Based upon this assessment, we then evaluate disclosure requirements and 
whether to accrue for such claims in our financial statements. This determination is then reviewed and 
discussed with our Audit Committee and our independent registered public accounting firm. 

We make a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the 
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are reviewed at least quarterly and 
adjusted to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel and other 
information and events pertaining to a particular case. Unless otherwise specifically disclosed in this note, 
we have determined that no provision for liability nor disclosure is required related to any claim against us 
because: (a) there is not a reasonable possibility that a loss exceeding amounts already recognized (if 
any) may be incurred with respect to such claim; (b) a reasonably possible loss or range of loss cannot be 
estimated; or (c) such estimate is immaterial. 

All legal costs associated with litigation are expensed as incurred. Litigation is inherently unpredictable. 
However, we believe that we have valid defenses with respect to the legal matters pending against us. It 
is possible, nevertheless, that our consolidated financial position, cash flows or results of operations could 
be negatively affected by an unfavorable resolution of one or more of such proceedings, claims or 
investigations. 

In connection with our anti-piracy efforts, conducted both internally and through organizations such as the 
Business Software Alliance, from time to time we undertake litigation against alleged copyright infringers. 
Such lawsuits may lead to counter-claims alleging improper use of litigation or violation of other laws. We 
believe we have valid defenses with respect to such counter-claims; however, it is possible that our 
consolidated financial position, cash flows or results of operations could be affected in any particular 
period by the resolution of one or more of these counter-claims. 

VI. MAXIMUM DILUTION AND NET PROCEEDS 

6.1 Maximum Dilution 

The Shares under the ESPP are offered pursuant to this prospectus to 1,564 eligible employees (as of 
February 27, 2015) in France, Germany, Romania and the United Kingdom.  As indicated in Section 1.2 
above, the maximum rate at which employees may purchase Shares may not exceed $25,000 of the Fair 
Market Value of Shares (at the time of the Offering Date) per calendar year in which the right is 
outstanding.  However, as noted above, there are other limitations on Share purchases (such as no more 
than 25% of eligible compensation may be contributed to ESPP purchases) which may result in 
employees not being able to purchase $25,000 worth of Shares in a calendar year. 

Assuming that (i) eligible employees did not participate in the ESPP Purchase Period ending June 30, 
2015, (ii) no other ESPP limitations are exceeded, and (iii) no Participating Employee has carried or will 
carry over any contributions from the prior calendar year into the following calendar year, if the employees 
enroll in the Purchase Period which begins in July 2015, each Participating Employee would be able to 
purchase a maximum of 330 whole Shares for a maximum of $21,219 in contributions for the 2015 
calendar year.  These amounts are based on a hypothetical Purchase Price of $64.30 (85% of 75.65, the 
closing price on April 7, 2015) and assuming that the July 1, 2015 Share price is less than the December 
31, 2015 Share price.  No additional purchases will be permitted in calendar year 2015.  However, 
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Participating Employees would be able to purchase additional Shares during the Purchase Period in the 
next Offering Period.  Assuming that employees participated in the next Purchase Period (i.e., January 1, 
2016 to June 30, 2016) and assuming other ESPP contribution limits are not exceeded, on June 30, 2016 
a Participating Employee would again be able to purchase a maximum of 330 whole Shares for a 
maximum of $21,219.  These amounts are calculated assuming a hypothetical Purchase Price of $64.30 
(85% of $75.65, the closing price on April 7, 2015) and assuming that the December 31, 2015 Share price 
is less than the June 30, 2016 Share price (so the look back pricing feature is activated).  Assuming that 
all of the Participating Employees would each purchase 660 Shares in the Offering Periods beginning in 
July 2015 and January 2016, the maximum number of Shares offered pursuant to this prospectus 
amounts to 1,032,240.  

Based on the above assumptions, the holdings of a Stockholder of Adobe currently holding 1% of the 
total outstanding Share capital of Adobe as of March 20, 2015 that is 5,002,691 Shares, and who would 
not participate in the offer, would be diluted as indicated in the following dilution table: 

 Percentage of the total 
outstanding Shares 

Total number of outstanding 
Shares 

Before the offering (as of March 
20, 2015) 1.00% 500,269,100 

After issuance of 1,032,240 
Shares under the ESPP 0.998% 501,301,340 

6.2 Net Proceeds 

Assuming that the 1,564 eligible employees in France, Germany, Romania and the United Kingdom 
would purchase the maximum amount of Shares under the ESPP offered pursuant to this prospectus, 
that is, a total of $42,438 each, then the gross proceeds of Adobe in connection with the offer under the 
ESPP pursuant to this prospectus would be approximately $66,373,032.  After deducting legal and 
accounting expenses in connection with the offer, the net proceeds, based on the above assumptions, 
would be approximately $66,283,032. 

VII. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

7.1 Board of Directors as of April 9, 2015 

Name Age* Director Since 

Amy L. Banse 55 2012 

Kelly J. Barlow 46 2012 

Edward W. Barnholt 71 2005 

Robert K. Burgess 57 2005 

Frank A. Calderoni 57 2012 

Michael R. Cannon 62 2003 

James E. Daley 73 2001 

Laura B. Desmond 49 2012 

Charles M. Geschke 75 1983 

Shantanu Narayen 51 2007 

Daniel L. Rosensweig 53 2009 
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Name Age* Director Since 

Robert Sedgewick 68 1990 

John E. Warnock 74 1983 

* Ages and biographical information are as of February 27, 2015. 

Ms. Banse serves as Managing Director and Head of Funds, Comcast Ventures and Senior Vice 
President, Comcast Corporation. Prior to this role, she was President of Comcast Interactive Media (CIM), 
a division of Comcast responsible for developing Comcast’s online strategy and operating Comcast’s 
digital properties, including Fandango, Xfinity.com and Xfinitytv.com. Ms. Banse joined Comcast in 1991 
and spent the early part of her career at Comcast overseeing the development of Comcast’s cable 
network portfolio. She received a B.A. from Harvard and a J.D. from Temple University School of Law. 

Mr. Barlow has been a Partner of ValueAct Capital, an investment partnership engaged in public and 
private equity investing, since August 2003. Prior to joining ValueAct Capital, Mr. Barlow worked at EGM 
Capital from 1997 to 2003 where he served primarily as portfolio manager of the firm’s long/short equity 
fund. Prior to EGM Capital, Mr. Barlow worked at Wells Capital Management, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of Wells Fargo Bank, in the small capitalization equity department from 1993 to 1997. Mr. Barlow 
previously served as a director of KAR Auction Services, Inc. from December 2011 to September 2013, of 
Allscripts Healthcare Solutions, Inc. from October 2008 to August 2010 and of SIRVA, Inc. from 
September 2006 to December 2007. Mr. Barlow holds a B.S. from California State University, Chico and 
is a CFA Charterholder. 

Mr. Barnholt served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Agilent Technologies, Inc., a 
measurement company, from March 1999 to March 2005 and as its Chairman of the Board from 
November 2002 until his retirement in March 2005. From 1990 to 1999, Mr. Barnholt served in several 
executive positions at Hewlett-Packard Company, a computer and electronics company, including serving 
as Executive Vice President and General Manager of its Measurements Organization. Mr. Barnholt 
currently serves on the board of directors of eBay Inc., a global online marketplace, and as Chairman of 
the Board of KLA-Tencor Corporation, a provider of process control and yield management solutions. Mr. 
Barnholt holds a B.S. and a M.S. in Electrical Engineering from Stanford University. 

Mr. Burgess has been an independent consultant since December 2005. He served as Chief Executive 
Officer of Macromedia, Inc., a provider of internet and multimedia software, from November 1996 to 
January 2005. He also served on the board of directors of Macromedia from November 1996 until 
December 2005, as Chairman of the Board of Macromedia from July 1998 until December 2005 and as 
Executive Chairman of Macromedia from January 2005 until December 2005, when Macromedia was 
acquired by Adobe. Prior to joining Macromedia, Mr. Burgess held key executive positions at Silicon 
Graphics, Inc., a graphics and computing company, and from 1991 to 1995 served as Chief Executive 
Officer and a member of the board of directors of Alias Research, Inc., a publicly traded 3D software 
company, prior to its acquisition by Silicon Graphics. Mr. Burgess currently serves on the board of NVIDIA 
Corporation, a provider of programmable graphics processing technologies. He previously served on the 
board of IMRIS Inc. from September 2010 to November 2013. Mr. Burgess holds a B.Com. from 
McMaster University in Canada. 

Mr. Calderoni currently serves as an Executive Advisor at Cisco Systems Inc., a designer, manufacturer 
and seller of Internet Protocol (IP)-based networking and other products related to the communications 
and information technology industry. From 2008 to January 2015, Mr. Calderoni served as Executive Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer at Cisco, managing the company’s financial strategy and 
operations. He joined Cisco in 2004 from QLogic Corporation, a storage networking company where he 
was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Prior to that, he was Senior Vice President, 
Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer for SanDisk Corporation, a flash data storage 
company. Before joining SanDisk, Mr. Calderoni spent 21 years at IBM, a global services, software and 
systems company, where he became Vice President and held controller responsibilities for several 
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divisions within the company. Mr. Calderoni holds a B.S. in Accounting and Finance from Fordham 
University and an M.B.A. in Finance from Pace University. 

Mr. Cannon served as President, Global Operations of Dell Inc., a computer systems manufacturer and 
services provider, from February 2007 until his retirement in January 2009, and as a consultant to Dell 
from January 2009 until January 2011. Prior to joining Dell, Mr. Cannon was the President and Chief 
Executive Officer of Solectron Corporation, an electronic manufacturing services company, from January 
2003 until February 2007. From July 1996 until January 2003, Mr. Cannon served as the Chief Executive 
Officer of Maxtor Corporation, a disk drive and storage systems manufacturer. Prior to joining Maxtor, Mr. 
Cannon held senior management positions at IBM, a global services, software and systems company. Mr. 
Cannon also serves on the board of directors of Seagate Technology Public Limited Company, a disk 
drive and storage solutions company, Lam Research Corporation, a semiconductor wafer fabrication 
equipment company, and Dialog Semiconductor, a mixed signal semiconductor company. He previously 
served as a director of Elster Group SE from October 2010 to August 2012. Mr. Cannon studied 
mechanical engineering at Michigan State University and completed the Advanced Management Program 
at Harvard Business School. 

Mr. Daley has been an independent consultant since his retirement in July 2003 from Electronic Data 
Systems Corporation (EDS), an information technology service company. Mr. Daley served as Executive 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of EDS from March 1999 to February 2003, and as its 
Executive Vice President of Client Solutions, Global Sales and Marketing from February 2003 to July 
2003. From 1963 until his retirement in 1998, Mr. Daley was with Price Waterhouse, L.L.P., an accounting 
firm, where he served as Co-Chairman-Operations and Vice-Chairman-International from 1988 to 1998. 
Mr. Daley currently serves on the board of directors of The Guardian Life Insurance Company of America. 
Mr. Daley holds a B.B.A. from Ohio University. 

Ms. Desmond is the Global Chief Executive Officer of Starcom MediaVest Group (SMG), a global 
marketing and media services company which is part of the Publicis Groupe. She is also a member of the 
Publicis Groupe P12, an executive committee, and the Directoire+, a management board, which are both 
comprised of the company’s top global leaders. Prior to her appointment as Global Chief Executive 
Officer in 2008, Ms. Desmond was Chief Executive Officer of SMG–The Americas from 2007 to 2008 
where she managed a network spanning the United States, Canada and Latin America. She was Chief 
Executive Officer of MediaVest, based in New York, from 2003 to 2007, and from 2000 to 2002 she was 
Chief Executive Officer of SMG’s Latin America group. Ms. Desmond previously served as a director of 
Tremor Video, Inc. from January 2012 to September 2013. She holds a B.B.A. in Marketing from the 
University of Iowa. 

Dr. Geschke was a founder of Adobe and has served as our Chairman of the Board since September 
1997, sharing that office with John E. Warnock. He was our Chief Operating Officer from December 1986 
until July 1994 and our President from April 1989 until his retirement in April 2000. Dr. Geschke holds a 
Ph.D. in Computer Science from Carnegie Mellon University. 

Mr. Narayen currently serves as our President and Chief Executive Officer. He joined Adobe in January 
1998 as Vice President and General Manager of our engineering technology group. In January 1999, he 
was promoted to Senior Vice President, Worldwide Products, and in March 2001 he was promoted to 
Executive Vice President, Worldwide Product Marketing and Development. In January 2005, Mr. Narayen 
was promoted to President and Chief Operating Officer, and effective December 2007, he was appointed 
our Chief Executive Officer and joined our Board. Mr. Narayen serves on the board of directors of Pfizer 
Inc., a multinational pharmaceutical corporation. He previously served as a director of Dell Inc. from 
September 2009 to October 2013. Mr. Narayen holds a B.S. in Electronics Engineering from Osmania 
University in India, a M.S. in Computer Science from Bowling Green State University and an M.B.A. from 
the Haas School of Business, University of California, Berkeley. 

Mr. Rosensweig is currently President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the board of directors of 
Chegg.com, an online textbook rental company. Prior to joining Chegg.com in February 2010, Mr. 
Rosensweig served as President and Chief Executive Officer of RedOctane, a business unit of Activision 
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Publishing, Inc., a developer, publisher and distributor of interactive entertainment and leisure products. 
Prior to joining RedOctane in March 2009, Mr. Rosensweig was an Operating Principal at the Quadrangle 
Group, a private investment firm. Prior to joining the Quadrangle Group in August 2007, Mr. Rosensweig 
served as Chief Operating Officer of Yahoo! Inc., an internet content and service provider, which he 
joined in April 2002. Prior to joining Yahoo!, Mr. Rosensweig was President of CNET Networks, Inc., an 
interactive media company, which he joined in October 2000. Mr. Rosensweig served for 18 years with 
Ziff-Davis, an integrated media and marketing services company, including roles as President and Chief 
Executive Officer of its subsidiary ZDNet, from 1997 until 2000 when ZDNet was acquired by CNET. Mr. 
Rosensweig holds a B.A. in Political Science from Hobart College. 

Dr. Sedgewick has been a Professor of Computer Science at Princeton University since 1985, where he 
was the founding Chairman of the Department of Computer Science and is now the William O. Baker 
Professor of Computer Science. From 1975 to 1985, he served on the faculty at Brown University. Dr. 
Sedgewick holds a Ph.D. in Computer Science from Stanford University. 

Dr. Warnock was a founder of Adobe and has been our Chairman of the Board since April 1989. Since 
September 1997, he has shared the position of Chairman with Charles M. Geschke. Dr. Warnock served 
as our Chief Executive Officer from 1982 until December 2000. From December 2000 until his retirement 
in March 2001, Dr. Warnock served as our Chief Technical Officer. Dr. Warnock currently serves as 
Chairman of the Board of Salon Media Group, Inc. Dr. Warnock holds a Ph.D. in Electrical Engineering 
from the University of Utah. 

7.2 Executive Officers as of March 31, 2015* 

Name Age Position with the Company 

Shantanu Narayen 51 President and Chief Executive Officer 

Mark Garrett  57 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 

Matthew Thompson 56 Executive Vice President, Worldwide Field Operations 

Michael Dillon 56 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary 

Bryan Lamkin 54 Senior Vice President, Technology and Corporate Development 

Ann Lewnes 53 Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer 

Donna Morris 47 Senior Vice President, People and Places 

Bradley Rencher 41 Senior Vice President and General Manager, Digital Marketing 

David Wadhwani 43 Senior Vice President and General Manager, Digital Media 

Richard T. Rowley 58 Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer 

* Ages and bios as of January 16, 2015. 

Mr. Narayen. For information concerning Mr. Narayen, please see Section 7.1 above. 

Mr. Garrett joined Adobe in February 2007 as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. 
Garrett served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Software Group of EMC 
Corporation, a products, services and solutions provider for information management and storage, from 
June 2004 to January 2007, his most recent position since EMC’s acquisition of Documentum, Inc., an 
enterprise content management company, in December 2003. Mr. Garrett first joined Documentum as 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in 1997, holding that position through October 1999 
and then re-joining Documentum as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in 2002. Mr. 
Garrett is also a director of Informatica Corporation and Model N, Inc. 
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Mr. Thompson currently serves as Executive Vice President, Worldwide Field Operations. Mr. Thompson 
joined Adobe in January 2007 as Senior Vice President, Worldwide Field Operations. In January 2013, he 
was promoted to Executive Vice President, Worldwide Field Operations. Prior to joining Adobe, Mr. 
Thompson served as Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales at Borland Software Corporation, a 
software delivery optimization solutions provider, from October 2003 to December 2006. Prior to joining 
Borland, Mr. Thompson was Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Field Operations for Marimba, Inc., a 
provider of products and services for software change and configuration management, from February 
2001 to January 2003. From July 2000 to January 2001, Mr. Thompson was Vice President of Worldwide 
Sales for Calico Commerce, Inc., a provider of eBusiness applications. Prior to joining Calico, Mr. 
Thompson spent six years at Cadence Design Systems, Inc., a provider of electronic design 
technologies. While at Cadence, from January 1998 to June 2000, Mr. Thompson served as Senior Vice 
President, Worldwide Sales and Field Operations and from April 1994 to January 1998 as Vice President, 
Worldwide Professional Services. 

Mr. Dillon joined Adobe in August 2012 as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate 
Secretary. Prior to joining Adobe, Mr. Dillon served as General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of Silver 
Spring Networks, a networking solutions provider, from November 2010 to August 2012. Before joining 
Silver Spring Networks, Mr. Dillon served in various capacities at Sun Microsystems, a diversified 
computer networking company, prior to its acquisition by Oracle Corporation. While at Sun Microsystems, 
from April 2006 to January 2010, Mr. Dillon served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and 
Secretary, from April 2004 to April 2006, as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate 
Secretary, and from July 2002 to March 2004 as Vice President, Products Law Group. From October 
1999 until June 2002, Mr. Dillon served as Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of 
ONI Systems Corp, an optical networking company.  

Mr. Lamkin rejoined Adobe in February 2013 as Senior Vice President, Technology and Corporate 
Development. From June 2011 to May 2012, Mr. Lamkin served as President and Chief Executive Officer 
of Clover, a mobile payments platform. Prior to Clover, Mr. Lamkin co-founded and served as the Chief 
Executive Officer of Bagcheck, a sharing and discovery platform, from June 2010 to May 2011. From April 
2009 to June 2010, Mr. Lamkin served as Senior Vice President of Consumer Products and Applications 
at Yahoo!, a global technology company providing online search, content and communication tools. From 
May 2008 to April 2009 Mr. Lamkin served as Executive in Residence at Sutter Hill Ventures. Mr. Lamkin 
previously was with Adobe from 1992 to 2006 and held various senior management positions including 
Senior Vice President, Creative Solutions Business Unit. 

Ms. Lewnes joined Adobe in November 2006 as Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer. Prior 
to joining Adobe, Ms. Lewnes spent 20 years at Intel Corporation, where she was Vice President of Sales 
and Marketing. Ms. Lewnes has been elected to the board of directors of Mattel, Inc., effective February 
1, 2015. 

Ms. Morris currently serves as Senior Vice President of Adobe’s Global People and Places organization. 
Ms. Morris joined Adobe as Senior Director of Global Talent Management in April 2002 through the 
acquisition of Accelio Corporation, a Canadian software company, where she served as Vice President of 
Human Resources and Learning. In December 2005 Ms. Morris was promoted to Vice President Global 
Human Resources Operations and subsequently to Senior Vice President Human Resources in March 
2007.  

Mr. Rencher serves as Senior Vice President and General Manager of Adobe’s Digital Marketing 
business unit. Mr. Rencher joined Omniture, Inc. in January 2008 as Vice President of Corporate 
Development and was promoted to Senior Vice President of Business Operations prior to Adobe’s 
acquisition of Omniture in 2009. Following the acquisition he joined Adobe as Vice President of Business 
Operations. Mr. Rencher was promoted to Vice President and General Manager, Omniture business unit 
in 2010 and subsequently to Senior Vice President in 2011. Prior to joining Omniture, Mr. Rencher was a 
member of the technology investment banking team at Morgan Stanley from 2005 to 2008 and a member 
of the investment banking team at RBC Capital Markets from 1998 to 2004. 
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Mr. Wadhwani serves as Senior Vice President and General Manager of Adobe’s Digital Media business 
unit. Prior to June 2010, Mr. Wadhwani was Vice President and General Manager of Adobe’s Platform 
business unit. He joined Adobe in 2005 through the acquisition of Macromedia. Prior to his time at 
Macromedia, Mr. Wadhwani founded and was VP of Engineering at iHarvest, a content management 
company that was acquired by Interwoven and worked at Oracle in their database tools division. 

Mr. Rowley joined Adobe in November 2006 as Vice President, Corporate Controller and Principal 
Accounting Officer. Prior to joining Adobe, Mr. Rowley served as Vice President, Corporate Controller, 
Treasurer and Principal Accounting Officer at Synopsys, Inc., a semiconductor design software company, 
from December 2002 to September 2005 and from 1999 to December 2002, Mr. Rowley served as Vice 
President, Corporate Controller and Principal Accounting Officer. From 1994 to 1999, Mr. Rowley served 
in several finance-related positions at Synopsys. Mr. Rowley is a certified public accountant. 

7.3 Fraudulent Offences and Bankruptcy, Etc. 

For at least the last five years, none of the directors or executive officers of Adobe has: 

(a) been convicted in relation to fraudulent offenses; 

(b) been associated with any bankruptcies, receiverships or liquidations when acting in their capacity 
 of directors or executive officers of Adobe; or 

(c) been subject to any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by statutory or regulatory 
authorities (including designated professional bodies) or ever been disqualified by a court from 
acting as a member of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies of an issuer or from 
acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any issuer. 

There is no family relationship among any Adobe executive officers or directors. 

7.4 Conflicts of Interest  

Independence of Directors 

As required by the NASDAQ's listing standards, a majority of the members of our Board must qualify as 
“independent,” as affirmatively determined by our Board. Our Board consults with our legal counsel to 
ensure that its determinations are consistent with all relevant securities and other laws and regulations 
regarding the definition of “independent,” including those set forth in the applicable NASDAQ listing 
standards. 

After review of all relevant transactions and relationships between each director, any of their family 
members, Adobe, our executive officers and our independent registered public accounting firm, the Board 
has affirmatively determined that a majority of our Board is comprised of independent directors. Our 
independent directors are: Ms. Banse, Mr. Barlow, Mr. Barnholt, Mr. Burgess, Mr. Calderoni, Mr. Cannon, 
Mr. Daley, Ms. Desmond, Dr. Geschke, Mr. Rosensweig, Dr. Sedgewick and Dr. Warnock. 

Perquisites and Additional Benefits and Programs 

We provide limited perquisites to our executives, including our Named Executive Officers (“NEOs”) 
identified in “Executive Compensation—Summary Compensation Table” on page 43 of Adobe’s Definitive 
Proxy Statement, filed with the SEC on February 27, 2015 (“Adobe’s Proxy Statement”). In considering 
potential perquisites, the Committee considers the cost to Adobe as compared to the perceived value to 
our employees as well as other corporate governance and employee relations factors. We offer our 
executives at the director level and above, including our NEOs, an annual comprehensive physical 
examination that is fully funded by Adobe, as an added benefit to the Adobe medical insurances provided. 
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Alternatively, our NEOs may choose to enroll in a health concierge service. Adobe recognizes the 
significant role of its executives and offers this program to encourage a focus on keeping well. 

In addition, we maintain a limited membership in a private jet program. Our policy related to this program, 
adopted to enable efficient travel, allows our Chief Executive Officer the use of a private jet for business 
travel only. A limited number of other executive officers and employees may accompany our Chief 
Executive Officer only if required for business purposes, and none of our executives or employees are 
permitted to use our private jet program for personal or other non-business-related travel. Our policy 
allows family members to accompany the Chief Executive Officer during business travel only if additional 
costs for the family members are paid for by the executive officer. The Chief Executive Officer complied 
with this policy at all times during fiscal year 2014.  

We also provide the following benefits to our NEOs, on the same terms and conditions as provided to all 
other eligible employees: health, dental and vision insurance; life insurance; an ESPP; health savings 
account; medical and dependent care flexible spending account; and short- and long-term disability, 
accidental death and dismemberment. We believe these benefits are consistent with benefits provided by 
companies with which we compete for executive-level talent. 

Employment Agreements 

Each of our NEOs is employed “at will.” Except in limited circumstances, such as when an employment 
agreement that provides for severance is assumed or renegotiated as part of a corporate transaction, we 
only enter into agreements providing for severance benefits with our U.S. executive officers in relation to 
a change of control of Adobe or an executive transition plan. 

Severance and Change of Control Compensation 

The Committee believes that change of control vesting and severance benefits, if structured 
appropriately, serve to minimize the distraction caused by a potential transaction and reduce the risk that 
an executive departs Adobe before an acquisition is consummated. The Committee and the company 
believe that a pre-existing plan will allow our executives to focus on continuing normal business 
operations and on the success of a potential business combination, rather than on seeking alternative 
employment. Further, a pre-existing plan ensures stability and will enable our executives to maintain a 
balanced perspective in making overall business decisions during a potentially uncertain period. To that 
end, Adobe provides certain change of control benefits as described below. 

From and after December 13, 2014, each of our NEOs is, or could be, an eligible participant in our 2014 
Executive Severance Plan in the Event of a Change of Control (the “2014 Change of Control Plan”). Prior 
to December 13, 2014, including during fiscal year 2014, each of our NEOs was an eligible participant in 
our Executive Severance Plan for Prior Participants in the Event of a Change of Control, which was 
adopted in 2011 (the “2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan”). The 2011 Prior Participant Change 
of Control Plan replaced the former executive change of control severance plan (the “Former Plan”), 
which expired in December 2011, for all employees who were eligible under such former Plan, on 
substantially the same terms as the Former Plan. Also in December 2011, we adopted a change of 
control severance plan for members of senior management who were not eligible under the Former Plan 
upon its expiration (the “2011 New Participant Change of Control Plan”), but all of our NEOs were eligible 
for the 2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan.  

The 2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan as well as the 2011 New Participant Change of 
Control Plan both expired by their terms on December 13, 2014 and were replaced by our 2014 Change 
of Control Plan. Both 2011 plans and the 2014 Change of Control Plan provide for severance payments 
and fully accelerated vesting of outstanding equity awards for our NEOs and other members of senior 
management upon an involuntary termination of employment upon or following a qualifying change of 
control.  
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The terms of the 2014 Change of Control Plan are described below. Likewise, although it has expired, the 
terms of the 2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan are described below as it was the operative 
plan during fiscal year 2014 and its terms are reflected in the “Executive Compensation—Change of 
Control—Potential Payments upon Termination and/or a Change of Control” table contained in Adobe's 
Proxy Statement. 

We also maintain a Retention Agreement with Mr. Narayen, which provides similar benefits but does not 
require termination of his employment in order for him to receive the equity acceleration, as described 
below under “Executive Compensation—Change of Control.” Mr. Narayen’s original Retention 
Agreement, dated January 12, 1998, was amended February 11, 2008 based on his promotion to Chief 
Executive Officer, and was further amended on both December 11, 2010 and December 5, 2014 in order 
to clarify the manner of compliance with, or exemption from, Internal Revenue Code Section 409A.  

The 2011 plans, the 2014 Change of Control Plan and the Retention Agreement with Mr. Narayen do not 
provide for reimbursements or “gross-ups” of excise tax amounts under Section 4999 of the Code. 
Rather, under all of these arrangements, benefits would be reduced if doing so would result in a better 
after-tax economic position for the affected executive. The Committee and the Company believe this is an 
appropriate allocation of the tax cost of these arrangements between Adobe and the executive and is 
consistent with market practice. 

Our change of control arrangements are designed to be competitive with the pay practices of our peer 
group. The Committee periodically reviews the terms and conditions of our change of control 
arrangements and will make adjustments when and to the extent it deems appropriate. The 2014 Change 
of Control Plan will expire on December 13, 2017. 

Additional details regarding our 2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan, our 2014 Change of 
Control Plan and the Retention Agreement with Mr. Narayen, including estimates of amounts payable in 
specified circumstances as of the last day of fiscal year 2014, are disclosed in the “Executive 
Compensation—Change of Control—Potential Payments upon Termination and/or a Change of Control” 
table contained in Adobe's Proxy Statement. 

Change of Control 

Each of the NEOs is eligible to receive severance benefits in the event of certain terminations of 
employment upon or after a change of control of Adobe, pursuant to the terms of our 2011 Prior 
Participant Change of Control Plan applicable to each of our current NEOs through December 13, 2014 
and pursuant to the terms of our 2014 Change of Control Plan after December 13, 2014 or, in the case of 
our Chief Executive Officer, upon or after a change of control of Adobe, in some cases whether or not his 
employment is terminated, pursuant to his Retention Agreement. Mr. Narayen would need to waive all 
benefits under his Retention Agreement to receive any benefits under the 2011 Prior Participant Change 
of Control Plan, or after December 13, 2014, the 2014 Change of Control Plan. 

The terms of the 2014 Change of Control Plan are described below. Likewise, although it has expired, the 
terms of the 2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan are described below as it was the operative 
plan during fiscal year 2014 and its terms are reflected in the “Executive Compensation—Change of 
Control—Potential Payments upon Termination and/or a Change of Control” table contained in Adobe's 
Proxy Statement. 

Change of Control Terms on or after December 13, 2014 

2014 Change of Control Plan. From and after December 13, 2014, each of our NEOs is an eligible 
participant in our 2014 Executive Severance Plan in the Event of a Change of Control. The 2014 Change 
of Control Plan will expire on December 13, 2017, unless extended by Adobe. If a change of control 
occurs prior to its expiration, the 2014 Change of Control Plan will terminate following the later of the date 
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which is twelve months after the occurrence of a change of control or the payment of all severance 
benefits due under the 2014 Change of Control Plan.  

Pursuant to the 2014 Change of Control Plan, if there is a qualifying change of control of Adobe (as 
defined in the plan), and within three months prior and twelve months following the change of control, 
Messrs. Garrett, Thompson, Wadhwani or Rencher experience a separation from service as a result of 
Adobe (or any successor) terminating his employment without cause (and not due to death or disability) 
or if he resigns for good reason, such executive officer would be eligible to receive: 

• twenty-four months of salary and target bonus; 

• Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act ("COBRA") premiums for the eligible executive 
and covered dependents until the earlier of (1) the last month in which the executive and his 
covered dependents are eligible for and enrolled in COBRA coverage and (2) twenty-four months; 
and 

• accelerated vesting of all outstanding equity awards (including, for performance shares, solely to 
the extent shares are credited to the executive based upon performance achieved as of the 
change of control). 

In the event that any amount under the 2014 Change of Control Plan would constitute an excess 
parachute payment within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, the amounts payable will not exceed 
the amount which produces the greatest after-tax benefit to the affected individual. All of the benefits 
under the 2014 Change of Control Plan are conditioned upon the executive officer signing a release of 
claims. 

Chief Executive Officer Retention Agreement. Effective January 12, 1998, Adobe entered into a Retention 
Agreement with Mr. Narayen, which has been amended three times: the first time effective February 11, 
2008, based on his promotion to Chief Executive Officer, and the second and third times on December 
17, 2010 and December 5, 2014, respectively, both times in order to clarify the manner of compliance 
with, or exemption from, Section 409A of the Code, in light of updates to, and interpretations of, 
applicable tax regulations. 

Pursuant to his Retention Agreement, if there is a qualifying change of control of Adobe (as defined in the 
agreement), and prior to or within two years following the change of control Mr. Narayen experiences a 
separation from service as a result of Adobe (or any successor) terminating his employment without 
cause, or as a result of his disability, or if he resigns for good reason, Mr. Narayen would be eligible to 
receive:  

• thirty-six months of salary and target bonus; 

• pro-rata target bonus for the fiscal year of termination; and 

• COBRA premiums for him and covered dependents until the earlier of (1) the last month in which 
he and his covered dependents are eligible for and enrolled in COBRA coverage and (2) thirty-six 
months. 

Upon a change of control, regardless of whether his employment is terminated, Mr. Narayen would be 
eligible to receive accelerated vesting of all outstanding equity awards (including, for performance shares, 
solely to the extent shares are credited to him based upon performance achieved at the change of 
control) and all stock options would become fully exercisable. 

In the event that any amount under Mr. Narayen’s Retention Agreement would constitute an “excess 
parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, the amounts payable will not 
exceed the amount which produces the greatest after-tax benefit to Mr. Narayen. All benefits provided 
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under the Retention Agreement are conditioned upon his signing a release of claims. The Retention 
Agreement has no expiration date. 

Change of Control Terms prior to December 13, 2014 and during Fiscal Year 2014 

2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan. Prior to December 13, 2014, each of our NEOs was an 
eligible participant in our Executive Severance Plan for Prior Participants in the Event of a Change of 
Control, which was adopted in 2011 (the “2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan”). The 2011 Prior 
Participant Change of Control Plan, replaced the former executive change of control severance plan (the 
“Former Plan”), which expired in December 2011, for all employees who were eligible under such former 
Plan, on substantially the same terms as the Former Plan. Also in December 2011, we adopted a change 
of control severance plan for members of senior management who were not eligible under the Former 
Plan, but all of our NEOs were eligible for the 2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan. 

Pursuant to the 2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan, if there is a qualifying change of control of 
Adobe (as defined in the plan), and within two years following the change of control, Messrs. Garrett, 
Thompson, Wadhwani or Rencher experiences a separation from service as a result of Adobe (or any 
successor) terminating his employment without cause (and not due to death or disability) or if he resigns 
for good reason, such executive officer would be eligible to receive: 

• twenty-four months of salary and target bonus plus one month of salary and target bonus per 
year of service up to an additional twelve months; 

• pro-rata target bonus for the fiscal year of termination; 

• COBRA premiums for the eligible executive and covered dependents until the earlier of (1) the 
last month in which the executive and his covered dependents are eligible for and enrolled in 
COBRA coverage and (2) twenty-four months plus one month per year of service with Adobe (up 
to a maximum of an additional twelve); and 

• accelerated vesting of all outstanding equity awards (including, for performance shares, solely to 
the extent shares are credited to the executive based upon performance achieved as of the 
change of control). 

In the event that any amount under the 2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan would constitute an 
excess parachute payment within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, the amounts payable will not 
exceed the amount which produces the greatest after-tax benefit to the affected individual. All of the 
benefits under the Prior Participant Change of Control Plan are conditioned upon the executive officer 
signing a release of claims. 

Chief Executive Officer Retention Agreement. The terms of Mr. Narayen’s Retention Agreement are not 
substantively different before or after December 13, 2014. See the description above under “Executive 
Compensation—Change of Control—Change of Control Terms after December 13, 2014—Chief 
Executive Officer Retention Agreement” for details. 

Performance Share Programs  

Pursuant to our Performance Share Programs prior to 2013, in the event of a change of control prior to 
the certification date, there will be an automatic crediting to each NEO of a prorated (based on time 
elapsed during the performance period) target award immediately prior to the date of the change of 
control, but the applicable time-based service vesting requirements will continue to apply. Pursuant to our 
Performance Share Programs in 2013 and 2014, in the event of a change of control prior to the 
certification date, the performance period will be shortened and the Committee will determine the level of 
achievement and the number of shares credited as of immediately prior to the date of the change of 
control, but the applicable time-based service vesting requirements will continue to apply. The 2011 Prior 
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Participant Change of Control Plan and the 2014 Change of Control Plan, as applicable, and Mr. 
Narayen’s Retention Agreement provide for acceleration of the applicable time-based service vesting 
requirements under our Performance Share Programs for the awards held by the NEOs, as described 
above. 

Potential Payments upon Termination and/or a Change of Control  

The table on pages 52 - 54 of Adobe's Proxy Statement sets forth the estimated potential payments and 
benefits payable to each NEO under the 2011 Prior Participant Change of Control Plan (which was in 
effect on November 28, 2014), and in the case of Mr. Narayen, his Retention Agreement, in the event of a 
termination of employment and/or a change of control of Adobe (“COC”), as if such termination or COC 
event had occurred on November 28, 2014, the last day of fiscal year 2014. The value of the equity 
awards is based on the closing market price of our Shares as reported on NASDAQ on November 28, 
2014, which was $73.68 per share. Each NEO must sign a release of claims to receive any of the benefits 
below except those for Death/Disability, COC Only (continued employment), or COC Only/Equity Not 
Assumed or Substituted. 

Transactions with Related Persons 

 Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons 

Adobe’s Code of Business Conduct requires that all employees and directors avoid conflicts of interests 
that interfere with the performance of their duties or are not in the best interests of Adobe. 

In addition, pursuant to its written charter, the Nominating and Governance Committee considers and 
approves or disapproves any related person transaction as defined under Item 404 of Regulation S-K 
promulgated by the SEC, after examining each such transaction for potential conflicts of interest and 
other improprieties. The Nominating and Governance Committee has not adopted any specific written 
procedures for conducting such reviews and considers each transaction in light of the specific facts and 
circumstances presented. 

 Transactions with Related Persons 

Since the beginning of fiscal year 2014, there have not been any transactions, nor are there any currently 
proposed transactions, in which Adobe was or is to be a participant, where the amount involved exceeded 
$120,000, and any related person had or will have a material direct or indirect interest. As is the case with 
most multinational corporations, from time to time in the ordinary course of business we engage in arms-
length transactions with companies in which members of the Board or our executive team have 
professional relationships.  

VIII. EMPLOYEES 

8.1 Directors’ and Executive Officers’ Holdings of Shares and Options 

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of our Shares as of February 13, 2015 by each 
entity or person who is known to beneficially own 5% or more of our Shares, each of our directors, each 
NEO and all of our directors and current executive officers as a group. 

Name of Beneficial Owner(1)   

Amount and Nature of  
Beneficial 

Ownership(2)(3)   
Percent of 

Class 

       
PRIMECAP Management Company 38,410,166  (4)   7.67% 

225 South Lake Avenue, No. 400     
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Name of Beneficial Owner(1)   

Amount and Nature of  
Beneficial 

Ownership(2)(3)   
Percent of 

Class 

       
Pasadena, CA 91101, U.S.A. 

FMR LLC 27,905,360  (5)   5.57% 
245 Summer Street 
Boston, MA 02210, U.S.A.     

Entities associated with BlackRock, Inc. 26,175,688  (6)   5.23% 
55 East 52nd Street 
New York, NY 10022, U.S.A.     

Shantanu Narayen 658,458  (7)   * 
Mark Garrett 58,722  (8)   * 
Matthew Thompson 51,296    * 
David Wadhwani 27,026  (9)   * 
Bradley Rencher 117,777  (10)   * 
Amy L. Banse 24,365  (11)   * 
Kelly J. Barlow 3,986  (12)   * 
Edward W. Barnholt 84,698  (13)   * 
Robert K. Burgess 84,698  (14)   * 
Frank A. Calderoni 17,625  (15)   * 
Michael R. Cannon 84,698  (16)   * 
James E. Daley 93,776  (17)   * 
Laura B. Desmond 17,625  (18)   * 
Charles M. Geschke 442,245  (19)   * 
Daniel L. Rosensweig 48,142  (20)   * 
Robert Sedgewick 163,139  (21)   * 
John E. Warnock 813,429  (22)   * 
All directors and current executive officers as a group (23 
persons) 3,105,388  (23)  0.62% 

_________________________ 

* Less than 1%. 

(1) The address of each person named in the table, unless otherwise indicated, is c/o Adobe Systems Incorporated, 345 Park 
Avenue, San Jose, California 95110, U.S.A. 

(2) This table is based upon information supplied by executive officers, directors and principal stockholders. Unless otherwise 
indicated in the footnotes to this table and subject to community property laws where applicable, each of the stockholders 
named in this table has sole voting and investment power with respect to the Shares indicated as beneficially owned. None 
of the Shares beneficially owned by our executive officers and directors are pledged as security. Applicable percentages are 
based on 500,922,824 Shares outstanding on February 13, 2015, adjusted as required by rules promulgated by the SEC. 

(3) Holdings reported include any equity awards deferred under our deferred compensation plan. 

(4) Includes 38,410,166 Shares beneficially held by PRIMECAP Management Company (“PRIMECAP”) as of December 31, 
2014, with sole dispositive power as to all Shares and sole voting power as to 6,042,233 Shares. Of those Shares 
beneficially held by PRIMECAP, Vanguard-related entities have sole voting power over 28,681,570 Shares. This information 
is based on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 13, 2015 by PRIMECAP and additional information provided 
by a representative of PRIMECAP on February 17, 2015. 

(5) FMR LLC has the sole power to vote or direct the vote of 2,369,625 Shares and the sole power to dispose or direct the 
disposition of all 27,905,360 Shares held by certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates. FMR LLC is controlled by Edward C. 
Johnson 3d, its Director and Chairman, and Abigail P. Johnson, its Director, Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and 
President. This information is based solely upon a Schedule 13G/A filed on February 13, 2015. 
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(6) Based solely on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 3, 2015, reporting beneficial ownership as of December 31, 
2014. Such entities have sole dispositive power as to all Shares and sole voting power with respect to 22,171,924 Shares. 

(7) Consists of 276,181 Shares held by the Narayen Family Trust, of which Mr. Narayen is a trustee, and 382,277 Shares 
issuable upon exercise of outstanding options held by Mr. Narayen exercisable within 60 days of the date of this table. 

(8) Consists of 50,000 Shares held by the Garrett Living Trust, of which Mr. Garrett is a trustee; 107 Shares held by the Garrett 
Family Investment Partnership LP; and 8,615 Shares held by Mr. Garrett. 

(9) Includes 1,605 Shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding options held by Mr. Wadhwani exercisable within 60 days of 
the date of this table. 

(10) Includes 72,400 Shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding options held by Mr. Rencher exercisable within 60 days of the 
date of this table.  

(11) Includes 3,986 Shares issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units held by Ms. 
Banse. 

(12) Includes 3,986 Shares issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units. After vesting, 
the Shares will be transferred to ValueAct Capital. As a partner of ValueAct Capital, Mr. Barlow may be deemed to be the 
beneficial owner of additional Shares held by the ValueAct entities, totaling 16,006,753 Shares. Mr. Barlow disclaims 
beneficial ownership except to the extent of his pecuniary interest in each applicable ValueAct entity.  

(13) Consists of 5,000 Shares held by a family trust, of which Mr. Barnholt is a trustee; 25,712 Shares held by Mr. Barnholt; and 
53,986 Shares issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units or the exercise of 
outstanding exercisable options held by Mr. Barnholt. 

(14) Consists of 29,092 Shares held by the Burgess Family Trust, of which Mr. Burgess is a trustee; 1,620 Shares, for which Mr. 
Burgess has shared voting and dispositive power, held in trust for the benefit of his children; and 53,986 Shares issuable 
within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units or the exercise of outstanding exercisable 
options held by Mr. Burgess. 

(15) Includes 3,986 Shares issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units held by Mr. 
Calderoni. 

(16) Consists of 5,000 Shares held by the Michael Cannon 2004 Trust, of which Mr. Cannon is a trustee; 25,712 Shares held by 
Mr. Cannon; and 53,986 Shares issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units or the 
exercise of outstanding exercisable options held by Mr. Cannon. 

(17) Includes 73,102 Shares issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units or the exercise 
of outstanding exercisable options held by Mr. Daley. 

(18) Includes 3,986 Shares issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units held by Ms. 
Desmond. 

(19) Consists of 272,074 Shares held by the Geschke Family Trust, of which Dr. Geschke is a trustee; and 170,171 Shares 
issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units or the exercise of outstanding 
exercisable options held by Dr. Geschke. 

(20) Consists of 44,156 Shares held by The Rosensweig 2012 Irrevocable Children’s Trust, of which Mr. Rosensweig is a trustee 
and 3,986 Shares issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units held by Mr. 
Rosensweig. 

(21) Includes 91,204 Shares issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units or the exercise 
of outstanding exercisable options held by Dr. Sedgewick. 

(22) Consists of 723,703 Shares held by the Warnock Family Trust, of which Dr. Warnock is a trustee; 18,882 Shares held by Dr. 
Warnock; and 70,844 Shares issuable upon vesting of restricted stock units or the exercise of outstanding options held by 
Dr. Warnock exercisable within 60 days of the date of this table. 

(23) Includes 1,092,909 Shares issuable within 60 days of the date of this table upon vesting of restricted stock units or the 
exercise of outstanding exercisable options held by our directors and current executive officers. See also footnotes 7 
through 22. 

8.2 Stock Plans 

Restricted Stock Unit Plans 

We grant restricted stock units to all eligible employees under our 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as 
amended (“2003 Plan”), and our 2005 Equity Incentive Assumption Plan (“2005 Assumption Plan”). 
Restricted stock units granted under these plans as part of our annual review process vest annually over 
three years. Other restricted stock units granted under these plans generally vest over four years, the 
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majority of which vest 25% annually. Certain grants have other vesting periods approved by our Board or 
an authorized committee of the Board. 

We grant performance awards to officers and key employees under our 2003 Plan. Performance awards 
granted under these plans from fiscal 2009 to fiscal 2012 vest annually over three years, and 
performance awards granted in fiscal 2013 and 2014 cliff-vest after three years. Performance awards 
granted prior to fiscal 2009 vest annually over four years. 

As of November 28, 2014, we had reserved 163.2 million and 5.7 million Shares for issuance under our 
2003 Plan and 2005 Assumption Plan, respectively, and had 45.7 million and 28.6 million Shares 
available for grant under our 2003 Plan and 2005 Assumption Plan, respectively.  

For further information, please see Note 8. Stock-Based Compensation on pages 16 – 20 of Adobe’s 
Form 10-Q.  

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

Our ESPP allows eligible employee participants to purchase Shares at a discount through payroll 
deductions. The ESPP consists of a twenty-four month Offering Period with four six-month Purchase 
Periods in each Offering Period. Employees purchase Shares in each Purchase Period at 85% of the 
market value of our Shares at either the beginning of the Offering Period or the end of the Purchase 
Period, whichever price is lower. The ESPP will continue until the earlier of (i) termination by the Board or 
(ii) the date on which all of the Shares available for issuance under the plan have been issued. 

As of November 28, 2014, we had reserved 93.0 million Shares for issuance under the ESPP and 
approximately 12.9 million Shares remain available for future issuance. 

For further information, please see Note 8. Stock-Based Compensation on pages 16 – 20 of Adobe’s 
Form 10-Q. 

Stock Option Plans 

The 2003 Plan and the 2005 Assumption Plan allows us to grant options to all employees, including 
executive officers, outside consultants and non-employee directors. These plans will continue until the 
earlier of (i) termination by the Board or (ii) the date on which all of the Shares available for issuance 
under the plan have been issued and restrictions on issued Shares have lapsed. Option vesting periods 
are generally four years for all of these plans. Options granted under these plans generally expire seven 
years from the effective date of grant. 

The Executive Compensation Committee of Adobe’s Board eliminated the use of stock option grants for 
all employees in fiscal 2012. Stock option grants to non-employee directors were minimal in fiscal 2013, 
and in December 2013 the Board eliminated the use of options for directors going forward.  

For further information, please see Note 8. Stock-Based Compensation on pages 16 – 20 of Adobe’s 
Form 10-Q. 

Performance Share Programs 

On January 26, 2015, our Executive Compensation Committee approved the 2015 Performance Share 
Program, including the award calculation methodology, under the terms of our 2003 Equity Incentive 
Plan. Under our 2015 Performance Share Program (“2015 Program”), Shares may be earned based on 
the achievement of an objective relative total stockholder return measured over a three-year performance 
period. The purpose of the 2015 Program is to help focus key employees on building stockholder value, 
provide significant award potential for achieving outstanding Company performance and enhance the 
ability of the Company to attract and retain highly talented and competent individuals. Performance share 
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awards will be awarded and fully vest upon the Executive Compensation Committee's certification of the 
level of achievement following the three-year anniversary of the grant date on January 24, 2018. 
Participants in the 2015 Program generally have the ability to receive up to 200% of the target number of 
Shares originally granted. 

For further information, please see Note 8. Stock-Based Compensation on pages 16 – 20 of Adobe’s 
Form 10-Q. 

Issuance of Shares 

Upon exercise of stock options, vesting of restricted stock and performance shares, and purchases of 
Shares under the ESPP, we will issue treasury stock. If treasury stock is not available, Shares will be 
issued. In order to minimize the impact of on-going dilution from exercises of stock options and vesting of 
restricted stock and performance shares, we instituted a stock repurchase program. See Note 13 in 
Adobe’s Form 10-K for information regarding our stock repurchase programs and Note 10. in Adobe’s 
Form 10-Q for information regarding our stock repurchase programs.  

IX. WORKING CAPITAL STATEMENT 

Based on its current business plan and revenue prospects, Adobe believes that its existing balances, its 
anticipated cash flows from operations and the available balance under its credit facility will be sufficient 
to meet its working capital and operating resource expenditure requirements (including debt service) for 
the next twelve months. 

X. SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

10.1 Selected Financial Data 

The selected financial data of Adobe set out in this prospectus have been derived in part from Adobe’s 
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. They are derived in part from 
and should be read in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations and Adobe’s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing 
respectively on pages 36 – 57 and 61 – 106 of Adobe's Form 10-K, and its condensed consolidated 
financial statements and related notes thereto and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations appearing respectively on pages 3 – 28 and 29 – 42 of Adobe's 
Form 10-Q.  

SELECTED THREE-YEAR FINANCIAL DATA 
(In thousands of US Dollars, except per share amounts and employee data) 

  Fiscal Years 
  2014  2013  2012 
Operations:       

Revenue  $ 4,147,065   $ 4,055,240   $ 4,403,677 
Gross profit  $ 3,524,985   $ 3,468,683   $ 3,919,895 
Income before income taxes  $ 361,376   $ 356,141   $ 1,118,794 
Net income  $ 268,395   $ 289,985   $ 832,775 
Net income per share:             

Basic  $ 0.54   $ 0.58   $ 1.68 
Diluted  $ 0.53   $ 0.56   $ 1.66 

Shares used to compute basic net income per share   497,867    501,372    494,731 
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  Fiscal Years 
  2014  2013  2012 

Shares used to compute diluted net income per share   508,480    513,476    502,721 
Cash dividends declared per common share  $ —   $ —   $ — 

Financial position:(1)            
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments  $ 3,739,491   $ 3,173,752   $ 3,538,353 
Working capital  $ 2,107,893   $ 2,520,281   $ 3,125,314 
Total assets  $ 10,785,829   $ 10,380,298   $ 10,040,229 
Debt and capital lease obligations, non-current  $ 911,086   $ 1,499,297   $ 1,496,938 
Stockholders’ equity  $ 6,775,905   $ 6,724,634   $ 6,665,182 

Additional data:            
Worldwide employees   12,499    11,847    11,144 

(1) Information associated with Adobe's financial position is as of the Friday closest to November 30 for the three fiscal periods 
through 2014. 

SELECTED QUARTERLY DATA 
(In thousands of US Dollars, except per share data – Unaudited)

  Three months ended 
  February 27, 2015 February 28, 2014 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income Data    
Total revenue  $ 1,109,181 $ 1,000,120 
Gross profit  $ 942,383 $ 851,611 
Income before income taxes  $ 163,248 $ 64,892 
Net income  $ 84,888 $ 47,046 
Basic net income per share  $ 0.17 $ 0.09 
Diluted net income per share  $ 0.17 $ 0.09 

 
  February 27, 2015 November 28, 2014* 
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Data    
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments  $ 3,176,820 $ 3,739,491 
Total assets  $ 11,008,422 $ 10,785,829 
Debt and capital lease obligations  $ 1,901,618 $ 1,514,315 
Total liabilities  $ 4,419,402 $ 4,009,924 
Total stockholders’ equity  $ 6,589,020 $ 6,775,905 

*  Derived from audited consolidated balance sheet.      

10.2 Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The independent registered public accounting firm of Adobe is KPMG LLP, Santa Clara, California, 
U.S.A.  KPMG LLP is registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 

XI. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY 

Adobe’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K 
and amendments to reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge on its Investor Relations website at 
www.adobe.com/adbe as soon as reasonably practicable after Adobe electronically files such material 
with, or furnishes it to, the SEC.  In addition, investors can obtain copies of Adobe’s SEC filings free of 
charge from the SEC Web site at www.sec.gov. 
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Adobe’s Form 10-K, Adobe’s Form 10-Q and Adobe’s Proxy Statement, referred to in this prospectus, 
may be obtained free of charge upon request by an employee. 

Adobe expects to issue after market close on June 16, 2015, its earnings release for the quarter ended 
May 29, 2015.  The quarterly report on Form 10-Q for such quarter will be filed with the SEC no later than 
July 8, 2015.  The annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending November 27, 2015 will be filed 
with the SEC no later than January 26, 2016.  These documents will be available on the websites of 
Adobe and the SEC indicated above. 

XII. TAX CONSEQUENCES  

12.1 France Tax Consequences 

The following summary is based on the income and social tax laws in effect in France as of the date of 
this prospectus.  Such laws are complex and can change frequently.  As a result, the information below 
may be out of date at the time the Participating Employee purchases Shares, sells Shares or receives 
dividends.   

The following applies only to Participating Employees who are French tax residents.  If the Participating 
Employee is a citizen or resident of another country for local law purposes or transfers employment after 
enrolling in the ESPP, the income and social tax information below may not be applicable.  Furthermore, 
this information is general in nature and does not discuss all of the various laws, rules and regulations 
that may apply.  It may not apply to each Participating Employee’s particular tax or financial situation, and 
Adobe is not in a position to assure them of any particular tax result.   

The Participating Employees should address any particular questions to a specialized advisor. 

Enrollment in the ESPP 

The Participating Employee is not subject to tax when he/she enrolls in the ESPP or a new Purchase 
Period begins. 

Purchase of Shares 

When Shares are purchased under the ESPP, the Participating Employee will be subject to income tax on 
the difference between the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the Purchase Date and the Purchase 
Price.  In addition, the Participating Employee also will be subject to social security contributions on this 
amount.  The Shares acquired under the ESPP have to be included in the Participating Employee’s 
personal estate for wealth tax purposes, unless a full or partial wealth tax exemption applies. 

Dividends 

If Shares are acquired under the ESPP, dividends may be paid with respect to those Shares if Adobe, in 
its discretion, declares a dividend.  Any dividends paid will be subject to tax in France and to U.S. federal 
income tax withheld at source.  The Participating Employee may be entitled to a tax credit for the U.S. 
federal tax withheld. 

Sale of Shares 

The Participating Employee will be subject to personal income tax on any gain (i.e., the difference 
between the sale price and the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the Purchase Date) realized at 
progressive rates plus additional social taxes.  A portion of the social taxes paid may be deductible from 
the Participating Employee’s taxable income in the year following the year in which the social taxes are 
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paid.  The Participating Employee may benefit for a reduction of his or her taxable basis for personal 
income tax purposes only (but not for social taxes) if the Shares are held for a certain number of years. 

Please note that an additional surtax applies to income in excess of certain thresholds.  The surtax 
applies to all types of income received during a calendar year, including the taxable amount at purchase 
and any capital gain realized upon the sale of Shares.  If the threshold is met for the current year, but has 
not been met in the two prior tax years, the Participating Employee should consult with his or her personal 
tax advisor or tax office regarding the available surtax reduction. 

Withholding and Reporting 

The Participating Employee's employer will not withhold income tax when Shares are purchased under 
the ESPP, but will withhold social security contributions.  In addition, the Participating Employee’s 
employer will report the discount on its annual declaration of salaries and on the Participating Employee’s 
pay slip. The Participating Employee is responsible for reporting and paying any income tax and 
additional social taxes due on his or her annual tax return as a result of the Shares purchased under the 
ESPP, the sale of Shares acquired under the ESPP or the receipt of any dividends.  In addition, the 
Participating Employee is responsible for reporting and paying wealth tax (if applicable) when he or she 
files his or her wealth tax return.   

12.2  German Tax Consequences 

The following summary is based on the income and social tax laws in effect in Germany as of the date of 
this prospectus.  Such laws are complex and can change frequently.  As a result, the information below 
may be out of date at the time the Participating Employee purchases Shares, sells Shares or receives 
dividends.   

The following applies only to Participating Employees who are German tax residents.  If the Participating 
Employee is a citizen or resident of another country for local law purposes or transfers employment after 
enrolling in the ESPP, the income and social tax information below may not be applicable.  Furthermore, 
this information is general in nature and does not discuss all of the various laws, rules and regulations 
that may apply.  It may not apply to each Participating Employee’s particular tax or financial situation, and 
Adobe is not in a position to assure them of any particular tax result.   

The Participating Employees should address any particular questions to a specialized advisor. 

Enrollment in the ESPP 

The Participating Employee is not subject to tax when he/she enrolls in the ESPP or a new Purchase 
Period begins. 

Purchase of Shares 

When Shares are purchased under the ESPP, the Participating Employee will be subject to income tax on 
the difference between the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the Purchase Date and the Purchase 
Price.  The Participating Employee also will be subject to social insurance contributions on this amount to 
the extent he/she has not already exceeded his/her applicable contribution ceiling, to solidarity surcharge 
and to church tax, if applicable. 

The German Income Tax Act provides favorable tax treatment if certain conditions are met.  

Dividends 

If Shares are acquired under the ESPP, dividends may be paid with respect to those Shares if Adobe, in 
its discretion, declares a dividend.  Any dividends paid will be subject to tax in Germany and to U.S. 
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federal income tax withheld at source.  The Participating Employee may be entitled to a tax credit for the 
U.S. federal tax withheld. 

Sale of Shares 

If the Participating Employee sells Shares that were acquired on or after January 1, 2009, the 
Participating Employee will be subject to capital gains at a flat rate plus a solidarity surcharge and church 
tax, if applicable, provided the Participating Employee does not own 1% or more of Adobe’s stated capital 
(and has not owned 1% or more at any time in the last five years) and the Shares are not held as 
business assets, subject to an annual threshold exempt amount.  If the flat tax exceeds the Participating 
Employee’s standard progressive income tax rate, the Participating Employee may elect a personal 
assessment to apply his/her standard income tax rate (plus solidarity surcharge).  The taxable gain will be 
the difference between the sale price and the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the Purchase Date.  
(Different capital gains treatment applies to shares acquired prior to January 1, 2009.) 

Withholding and Reporting 

The Participating Employee's employer will withhold income tax and social insurance contributions (to the 
extent he/she has not exceeded his/her applicable ceiling for social insurance contributions), solidarity 
surcharge and church tax (if applicable) on the taxable amount.  The Participating Employee’s employer 
will report the income recognized when Shares are purchased.  Should there be a difference between the 
actual tax liability and the amount withheld, the tax office may assess additional taxes after review of the 
Participating Employee’s annual tax return.  It is the Participating Employee’s responsibility to report and 
pay taxes resulting from the sale of Shares or receipt of any dividends. 

12.3 Romanian Tax Consequences 

The following summary is based on the income and social tax laws in effect in Romania as of the date of 
this prospectus.  Such laws are complex and can change frequently.  As a result, the information below 
may be out of date at the time the Participating Employee purchases Shares, sells Shares or receives 
dividends.   

The following applies only to Participating Employees who are Romanian tax residents.  If the 
Participating Employee is a citizen or resident of another country for local law purposes or transfers 
employment after enrolling in the ESPP, the income and social tax information below may not be 
applicable.  Furthermore, this information is general in nature and does not discuss all of the various laws, 
rules and regulations that may apply.  It may not apply to each Participating Employee’s particular tax or 
financial situation, and Adobe is not in a position to assure them of any particular tax result.   

The Participating Employees should address any particular questions to a specialized advisor. 

Enrollment in the ESPP 

The Participating Employee likely is not subject to tax when he/she enrolls in the ESPP or a new 
Purchase Period begins. 

Purchase of Shares 

When Shares are purchased under the ESPP, the Participating Employee may be subject to income tax 
and social insurance contributions. 

Dividends 

If Shares are acquired under the ESPP, dividends may be paid with respect to those Shares if Adobe, in 
its discretion, declares a dividend.  Any dividends paid will be subject to tax in Romania and to U.S. 
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federal income tax withheld at source.  The Participating Employee may be entitled to a tax credit for the 
U.S. federal tax withheld. 

Sale of Shares 

When the Participating Employee subsequently sells Shares purchased under the ESPP, the 
Participating Employee will be subject to capital gains tax on the difference between the sale price and 
the Purchase Price.   

Withholding and Reporting 

The Participating Employee’s employer may be required to withhold or report tax and social insurance 
contributions when Shares are purchased under the ESPP.  However, the Participating Employee is 
responsible for reporting and paying any income tax and social insurance contributions when Shares are 
purchased under the ESPP if the Participating Employee’s employer determines that it is not required or 
is not able to withhold.  Ultimately it is the Participating Employee’s responsibility to report and pay taxes 
due in connection with the purchase and sale of Shares or receipt of any dividends. 

12.4 United Kingdom Tax Consequences 

The following summary is based on the income and social tax laws in effect in the United Kingdom as of 
the date of this prospectus.  Such laws are complex and can change frequently.  As a result, the 
information below may be out of date at the time the Participating Employee purchases Shares, sells 
Shares or receives dividends.   

The following applies only to Participating Employees who are resident, ordinarily resident and domiciled 
in the United Kingdom and will remain so up to the date Shares they received pursuant to any stock 
based award are sold, and are not subject to the remittance basis of taxation.  If the Participating 
Employee is a citizen or resident of another country for local law purposes or transfers employment after 
enrolling in the ESPP, the income and social tax information below may not be applicable.  Furthermore, 
this information is general in nature and does not discuss all of the various laws, rules and regulations 
that may apply.  It may not apply to each Participating Employee’s particular circumstances or tax or 
financial situation, and Adobe is not in a position to assure them of any particular tax result.   

The Participating Employees are strongly advised to consult their own independent personal tax advisor 
as to how the tax or other laws in their country apply to their specific situation.  

Enrollment in the ESPP 

The Participating Employee is not subject to tax when he/she enrolls in the ESPP or a new Purchase 
Period begins. 

Purchase of Shares 

When Shares are purchased under the ESPP, the Participating Employee will be subject to income tax on 
the difference between the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the Purchase Date and the Purchase 
Price.  In addition, the Participating Employee will be subject to employee’s national insurance 
contributions (“NICs”) on this amount.  If noted in the Participating Employee’s Enrollment Documents, the 
Participating Employee also may be responsible for employer NICs.   

The Participating Employee’s employer will calculate the income tax and employee’s NICs due when 
Shares are purchased under the ESPP and will account for these amounts to HM Revenue & Customs 
(“HMRC”) on the Participating Employee’s behalf.  The Participating Employee is required to reimburse 
the employer for these amounts.  The employer will withhold income tax and employee NICs when 
Shares are purchased for the Participating Employee under the ESPP. 
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Dividends 

If Shares are acquired under the ESPP, dividends may be paid with respect to those Shares if Adobe, in 
its discretion, declares a dividend.  Any dividends paid will be subject to income tax in the U.K. (but not 
NICs) and to U.S. federal tax withheld at source.  The Participating Employee may be entitled to a U.K. 
tax credit for the U.S. taxes paid provided certain conditions are met. 

Sale of Shares 

When the Participating Employee subsequently sells the Shares acquired under the ESPP, any capital 
gain (i.e., the difference between the sale price and the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the Purchase 
Date) will be subject to capital gains tax.  However, capital gains tax is payable only if the total capital 
gain exceeds the annual exemption amount. 

Also, if the Participating Employee acquires Shares, the Participating Employee will need to take into 
account the share identification rules in calculating any capital gains tax liability.   

Withholding and Reporting 

As mentioned above, the Participating Employee's employer will withhold income tax and NICs on the 
taxable amount when Shares are purchased under the ESPP (the “Taxable Event”).  If the amount 
withheld is not sufficient to cover the Participating Employee’s actual liability, the Participating Employee 
will be responsible for paying the difference within 90 days after the end of the U.K. tax year in which the 
Taxable Event occurs, or such other period specified in Section 222(1)(c) of the U.K. Income Tax 
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 to avoid further tax consequences. If the Participating Employee fails 
to pay this amount to the employer within that time limit, the Participating Employee may be treated as 
having received a deemed loan or benefit in kind (depending on the Participating Employee’s 
circumstances) equal to the amount of tax not paid to the employer and the Participating Employee may 
have to pay further tax on this benefit.  The employer is not required to withhold tax on the benefit in kind, 
and the Participating Employee must include this in his/her self-assessment tax return for the tax year in 
which the purchase occurs. 

The Participating Employee’s employer also is required to report the details of the grant of purchase 
rights and the acquisition of stock pursuant to the ESPP to HMRC on its Annual Share Schemes Return 
and the Return of Benefits Return it prepares in relation to all benefits received by a Participating 
Employee for the particular tax year. 

The Participating Employee will be responsible for paying and reporting any taxes due as a result of the 
sale of Shares acquired under the ESPP or the receipt of any dividends. 
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EXHIBIT I 
 

THE ADOBE SYSTEMS INCORPORATED 
1997 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN, AS AMENDED 



 
 

ADOBE SYSTEMS INCORPORATED  
1997 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN  

(as amended as of April 21, 2011)  
 

1. Purpose and Term of Plan.  
 

1.1 Purpose. The purpose of the Adobe Systems Incorporated 1997 Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan (the “Plan”) is to provide Eligible Employees of the Participating Company Group 
with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company through the purchase of Stock. 
The Company intends that the Plan qualify as an “employee stock purchase plan” under Section 423 
of the Code (including any amendments or replacements of such section), and the Plan shall be so 
construed.  

 
1.2 Term of Plan. The Plan shall continue in effect until the earlier of its termination 

by the Board or the date on which all of the shares of Stock available for issuance under the Plan 
have been issued.  

 
2. Definitions and Construction.  
 

2.1 Definitions. Any term not expressly defined in the Plan but defined for purposes 
of Section 423 of the Code shall have the same definition herein. Whenever used herein, the 
following terms shall have their respective meanings set forth below:  

 
(a) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company. If one or more 

Committees have been appointed by the Board to administer the Plan, “Board” also means such 
Committee(s).  

 
(b) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any 

applicable regulations promulgated thereunder.  
 
(c) “Committee” means a committee of the Board duly appointed to 

administer the Plan and having such powers as shall be specified by the Board. Unless the powers of 
the Committee have been specifically limited, the Committee shall have all of the powers of the 
Board granted herein, including, without limitation, the power to amend or terminate the Plan at any 
time, subject to the terms of the Plan and any applicable limitations imposed by law.  

 
(d) “Company” means Adobe Systems Incorporated, a Delaware corporation, 

or any successor corporation thereto.  
 
(e) “Compensation” means, with respect to any Offering Period, base wages 

or salary, overtime, bonuses, commissions, shift differentials, payments for paid time off, payments 
in lieu of notice, and compensation deferred under any program or plan, including, without 
limitation, pursuant to Section 401(k) or Section 125 of the Code. Compensation shall be limited to 
amounts actually payable in cash or deferred during the Offering Period.  
 

Compensation shall not include moving allowances, payments pursuant to a 
severance agreement, termination pay, relocation payments, sign-on bonuses, any amounts directly or 
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indirectly paid pursuant to the Plan or any other stock purchase or stock option plan, or any other 
compensation not included above.  

 
(f) “Eligible Employee” means an Employee who meets the requirements set 

forth in Section 5 for eligibility to participate in the Plan.  
 
(g) “Employee” means a person treated as an employee of a Participating 

Company for purposes of Section 423 of the Code. A Participant shall be deemed to have ceased to 
be an Employee either upon an actual termination of employment or upon the corporation employing 
the Participant ceasing to be a Participating Company. For purposes of the Plan, an individual shall 
not be deemed to have ceased to be an Employee while such individual is on a bona fide leave of 
absence approved by the Company of ninety (90) days or less. In the event an individual's leave of 
absence exceeds ninety (90) days, the individual shall be deemed to have ceased to be an Employee 
on the ninety-first (91st) day of such leave unless the individual's right to reemployment with the 
Participating Company Group is guaranteed either by statute or by contract. The Company shall 
determine in good faith and in the exercise of its discretion whether an individual has become or has 
ceased to be an Employee and the effective date of such individual's employment or termination of 
employment, as the case may be. All such determinations by the Company shall be, for purposes of 
an individual's participation in or other rights under the Plan as of the time of the Company's 
determination, final, binding and conclusive, notwithstanding that the Company or any governmental 
agency subsequently makes a contrary determination.  

 
(h) “Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, if there is then a public 

market for the Stock, the closing sale price of a share of Stock (or the mean of the closing bid and 
asked prices if the Stock is so quoted instead) as quoted on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the 
Nasdaq Small-Cap Market or such other national or regional securities exchange or market system 
constituting the primary market for the Stock, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other 
source as the Company deems reliable. If the relevant date does not fall on a day on which the Stock 
has traded on such securities exchange or market system, the date on which the Fair Market Value 
shall be established shall be the last day on which the Stock was so traded prior to the relevant date, 
or such other appropriate day as shall be determined by the Board, in its sole discretion. If there is 
then no public market for the Stock, the Fair Market Value on any relevant date shall be as 
determined by the Board without regard to any restriction other than a restriction which, by its terms, 
will never lapse.  

 
(i) “Offering” means an offering of Stock as provided in Section 6.  
 
(j) “Offering Date” means, for any Offering Period, the first day of such 

Offering Period.  
 
(k) “Offering Period” means a period established in accordance with Section 

6.1.  
 
(l) “Parent Corporation” means any present or future “parent corporation” 

of the Company, as defined in Section 424(e) of the Code.  
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(m) “Participant” means an Eligible Employee who has become a participant 
in an Offering Period in accordance with Section 7 and remains a participant in accordance with the 
Plan.  

 
(n) “Participating Company” means the Company or any Parent 

Corporation or Subsidiary Corporation designated by the Board as a corporation the Employees of 
which may, if Eligible Employees, participate in the Plan. The Board shall have the sole and absolute 
discretion to determine from time to time which Parent Corporations or Subsidiary Corporations shall 
be Participating Companies.  

 
(o) “Participating Company Group” means, at any point in time, the 

Company and all other corporations collectively which are then Participating Companies.  
 
(p) “Purchase Date” means, for any Purchase Period, the last day of such 

period.  
 
(q) “Purchase Period” means a period established in accordance with 

Section 6.2.  
 
(r) “Purchase Price” means the price at which a share of Stock may be 

purchased under the Plan, as determined in accordance with Section 9.  
 
(s) “Purchase Right” means an option granted to a Participant pursuant to 

the Plan to purchase such shares of Stock as provided in Section 8, which the Participant may or may 
not exercise during the Offering Period in which such option is outstanding. Such option arises from 
the right of a Participant to withdraw any accumulated payroll deductions of the Participant not 
previously applied to the purchase of Stock under the Plan and to terminate participation in the Plan 
at any time during an Offering Period.  

 
(t) “Stock” means the common stock of the Company, as adjusted from time 

to time in accordance with Section 4.2.  
 
(u) “Subscription Agreement” means a written agreement in such form as 

specified by the Company, stating an Employee's election to participate in the Plan and authorizing 
payroll deductions under the Plan from the Employee's Compensation.  

 
(v) “Subscription Date” means the last business day prior to the Offering 

Date of an Offering Period or such earlier date as the Company shall establish.  
 
(w) “Subsidiary Corporation” means any present or future “subsidiary 

corporation” of the Company, as defined in Section 424(f) of the Code. 
 

2.2 Construction. Captions and titles contained herein are for convenience only and 
shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of any provision of the Plan. Except when otherwise 
indicated by the context, the singular shall include the plural and the plural shall include the singular. 
Use of the term “or” is not intended to be exclusive, unless the context clearly requires otherwise.  
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3. Administration.  
 

3.1 Administration by the Board. The Plan shall be administered by the Board, 
including any duly appointed Committee of the Board. All questions of interpretation of the Plan, of 
any form of agreement or other document employed by the Company in the administration of the 
Plan, or of any Purchase Right shall be determined by the Board and shall be final and binding upon 
all persons having an interest in the Plan or the Purchase Right. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, 
the Board shall determine all of the relevant terms and conditions of Purchase Rights granted 
pursuant to the Plan; provided, however, that all Participants granted Purchase Rights pursuant to the 
Plan shall have the same rights and privileges within the meaning of Section 423(b)(5) of the Code to 
the extent required by applicable law. All expenses incurred in connection with the administration of 
the Plan shall be paid by the Company.  

 
3.2 Authority of Officers. Any officer of the Company shall have the authority to act 

on behalf of the Company with respect to any matter, right, obligation, determination or election that 
is the responsibility of or that is allocated to the Company herein, provided that the officer has 
apparent authority with respect to such matter, right, obligation, determination or election.  

 
3.3 Policies and Procedures Established by the Company. The Company may, from 

time to time, consistent with the Plan and the requirements of Section 423 of the Code, establish, 
change or terminate such rules, guidelines, policies, procedures, limitations, or adjustments as 
deemed advisable by the Company, in its sole discretion, for the proper administration of the Plan, 
including, without limitation, (a) a minimum payroll deduction amount required for participation in 
an Offering, (b) a limitation on the frequency or number of changes permitted in the rate of payroll 
deduction during an Offering, (c) an exchange ratio applicable to amounts withheld in a currency 
other than United States dollars, (d) a payroll deduction greater than or less than the amount 
designated by a Participant, or the acceptance by the Company of a direct payment from a 
Participant,  in order to adjust for the Company's delay or mistake in processing a Subscription 
Agreement or in otherwise effecting a Participant's election under the Plan or as advisable to comply 
with the requirements of Section 423 of the Code, and (e) determination of the date and manner by 
which the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock is determined for purposes of administration of the 
Plan.  

 
4. Shares Subject to Plan.  
 

4.1 Maximum Number of Shares Issuable. Subject to adjustment as provided in 
Section 4.2, and effective upon approval by the stockholders of the Company, the maximum 
aggregate number of shares of Stock that may be issued under the Plan shall be ninety-three million 
(93,000,000) and shall consist of authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of Stock, or any 
combination thereof. If an outstanding Purchase Right for any reason expires or is terminated or 
canceled, the shares of Stock allocable to the unexercised portion of such Purchase Right shall again 
be available for issuance under the Plan.  

 
4.2 Adjustments for Changes in Capital Structure. In the event of any stock 

dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, recapitalization, combination, reclassification or similar 
change in the capital structure of the Company, or in the event of any merger (including a merger 
effected for the purpose of changing the Company's domicile), sale of assets or other reorganization 
in which the Company is a party, appropriate adjustments shall be made in the number and class of 
shares subject to the Plan and each Purchase Right and in the Purchase Price. If a majority of the 
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shares which are of the same class as the shares that are subject to outstanding Purchase Rights are 
exchanged for, converted into, or otherwise become (whether or not pursuant to an Ownership 
Change Event) shares of another corporation (the “New Shares”), the Board may unilaterally amend 
the outstanding Purchase Rights to provide that such Purchase Rights are exercisable for New Shares. 
In the event of any such amendment, the number of shares subject to, and the Purchase Price of, the 
outstanding Purchase Rights shall be adjusted in a fair and equitable manner, as determined by the 
Board, in its sole discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any fractional share resulting from an 
adjustment pursuant to this Section 4.2 shall be rounded down to the nearest whole number, and in no 
event may the Purchase Price be decreased to an amount less than the par value, if any, of the stock 
subject to the Purchase Right. The adjustments determined by the Board pursuant to this Section 4.2 
shall be final, binding and conclusive.  

 
5. Eligibility.  
 

5.1 Employees Eligible to Participate. Each Employee of a Participating Company is 
eligible to participate in the Plan and shall be deemed an Eligible Employee, except the following:  

 
(a) Any Employee who is customarily employed by the Participating 

Company Group for less than twenty (20) hours per week; or  
(b) Any Employee who is customarily employed by the Participating 

Company Group for not more than five (5) months in any calendar year; 
 
provided, however, that Employees of a Participating Company may be Eligible Employees even if 
their customary employment is less than twenty (20) hours per week and/or five (5) months per 
calendar year, to the extent required by local law.  

 
5.2 Exclusion of Certain Stockholders. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to 

the contrary, no Employee shall be granted a Purchase Right under the Plan if, immediately after 
such grant, such Employee would own or hold options to purchase stock of the Company or of any 
Parent Corporation or Subsidiary Corporation possessing five percent (5%) or more of the total 
combined voting power or value of all classes of stock of such corporation, as determined in 
accordance with Section 423(b)(3) of the Code. For purposes of this Section 5.2, the attribution rules 
of Section 424(d) of the Code shall apply in determining the stock ownership of such Employee.  

 
6. Offerings.  
 

6.1 Offering Periods. Except as otherwise set forth below, the Plan shall be 
implemented by Offerings of approximately twenty-four (24) months duration or such other duration 
as the Board shall determine. Offering Periods shall commence on or about January 1 and July 1 of 
each year and end on or about the second December 31 and June 30, respectively, occurring 
thereafter. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may establish a different duration for one or 
more future Offering Periods or different commencing or ending dates for such Offering Periods; 
provided, however, that no Offering Period may have a duration exceeding twenty-seven (27) 
months. If the first or last day of an Offering Period is not a day on which the national securities 
exchanges or Nasdaq Global Select Market are open for trading, the Company shall specify the 
trading day that will be deemed the first or last day, as the case may be, of the Offering Period.  
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6.2 Purchase Periods. Each Offering Period shall consist of four (4) consecutive 
Purchase Periods of approximately six (6) months duration, or such other number or duration as the 
Board shall determine. A Purchase Period commencing on or about January 1 shall end on or about 
the next June 30. A Purchase Period commencing on or about July 1 shall end on or about the next 
December 31. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may establish a different duration for one or 
more future Purchase Periods or different commencing or ending dates for such Purchase Periods. If 
the first or last day of a Purchase Period is not a day on which the national securities exchanges or 
Nasdaq Global Select Market are open for trading, the Company shall specify the trading day that 
will be deemed the first or last day, as the case may be, of the Purchase Period.  

 
7. Participation in the Plan.  
 

7.1 Initial Participation. An Eligible Employee may become a Participant in an 
Offering Period by delivering a properly completed Subscription Agreement to the office designated 
by the Company not later than the close of business for such office on the Subscription Date 
established by the Company for such Offering Period. An Eligible Employee who does not deliver a 
properly completed Subscription Agreement to the Company's designated office on or before the 
Subscription Date for an Offering Period shall not participate in the Plan for that Offering Period or 
for any subsequent Offering Period unless such Eligible Employee subsequently delivers a properly 
completed Subscription Agreement to the appropriate office of the Company on or before the 
Subscription Date for such subsequent Offering Period. An Employee who becomes an Eligible 
Employee on or after the Offering Date of an Offering Period shall not be eligible to participate in 
such Offering Period but may participate in any subsequent Offering Period provided such Employee 
is still an Eligible Employee as of the Offering Date of such subsequent Offering Period.  

 
7.2 Continued Participation. A Participant shall automatically participate in the next 

Offering Period commencing immediately after the final Purchase Date of each Offering Period in 
which the Participant participates provided that such Participant remains an Eligible Employee on the 
Offering Date of the new Offering Period and has not either (a) withdrawn from the Plan pursuant to 
Section 12.1 or (b) terminated employment as provided in Section 13. A Participant who may 
automatically participate in a subsequent Offering Period, as provided in this Section 7.2, is not 
required to deliver any additional Subscription Agreement for the subsequent Offering Period in 
order to continue participation in the Plan. However, a Participant may deliver a new Subscription 
Agreement for a subsequent Offering Period in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 
7.1 if the Participant desires to change any of the elections contained in the Participant's then 
effective Subscription Agreement. Eligible Employees may not participate simultaneously in more 
than one Offering.  

 
8. Right to Purchase Shares.  
 

8.1 Grant of Purchase Right. Except as set forth below, on the Offering Date of each 
Offering Period, each Participant in such Offering Period shall be granted automatically a Purchase 
Right consisting of an option to purchase five thousand (5,000) shares of Stock. No Purchase Right 
shall be granted on an Offering Date to any person who is not, on such Offering Date, an Eligible 
Employee.  

 
8.2 Pro Rata Adjustment of Purchase Right. Notwithstanding the provisions of 

Section 8.1, and except as otherwise provided in Section 14.2, if the Board establishes an Offering 
Period of less than twenty-three and one-half (23½) months or more than twenty-four and one-half 
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(24½) months in duration, the number of whole shares of Stock subject to a Purchase Right shall be 
determined by multiplying 208.33 shares by the number of months (rounded to the nearest whole 
month) in the Offering Period and disregarding any resulting fractional share.  

 
8.3 Calendar Year Purchase Limitation. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan 

to the contrary, no Purchase Right shall entitle a Participant to purchase shares of Stock under the 
Plan at a rate which, when aggregated with such Participant's rights to purchase shares under all other 
employee stock purchase plans of a Participating Company intended to meet the requirements of 
Section 423 of the Code, exceeds Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000) in Fair Market Value (or 
such other limit, if any, as may be imposed by the Code) for each calendar year in which such 
Purchase Right has been outstanding at any time. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the Fair 
Market Value of shares purchased during a given Offering Period shall be determined as of the 
Offering Date for such Offering Period. The limitation described in this Section 8.3 shall be applied 
in conformance with applicable regulations under Section 423(b)(8) of the Code.  

 
9. Purchase Price. The Purchase Price at which each share of Stock may be acquired in an 

Offering Period upon the exercise of all or any portion of a Purchase Right shall be established by the 
Board; provided, however, that the Purchase Price shall not be less than eighty-five percent (85%) of 
the lesser of (a) the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock on the Offering Date of the Offering 
Period or (b) the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock on the Purchase Date. Unless otherwise 
provided by the Board prior to the commencement of an Offering Period, the Purchase Price for that 
Offering Period shall be eighty-five percent (85%) of the lesser of (a) the Fair Market Value of a 
share of Stock on the Offering Date of the Offering Period, or (b) the Fair Market Value of a share of 
Stock on the Purchase Date.  

 
10. Accumulation of Purchase Price through Payroll Deduction. Shares of Stock acquired 

pursuant to the exercise of all or any portion of a Purchase Right may be paid for only by means of 
payroll deductions from the Participant's Compensation accumulated during the Offering Period for 
which such Purchase Right was granted, subject to the following:  

 
10.1 Amount of Payroll Deductions. Except as otherwise provided herein, the 

amount to be deducted under the Plan from a Participant's Compensation on each payday during an 
Offering Period shall be determined by the Participant's Subscription Agreement. The Subscription 
Agreement shall set forth the percentage of the Participant's Compensation to be deducted on each 
payday during an Offering Period in whole percentages of not less than one percent (1%) (except as a 
result of an election pursuant to Section 10.3 to stop payroll deductions made effective following the 
first payday during an Offering) or more than twenty-five percent (25%). Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Board may change the limits on payroll deductions effective as of any future Offering 
Date.  

 
10.2 Commencement of Payroll Deductions. Payroll deductions shall commence on 

the first payday following the Offering Date and shall continue to the end of the Offering Period 
unless sooner altered or terminated as provided herein.  

 
10.3 Election to Change or Stop Payroll Deductions. Subject to any limitations 

imposed by the Board prior to the commencement of an Offering Period, during an Offering Period, 
a Participant may elect to increase or decrease the rate of or to stop deductions from his or her 
Compensation by delivering to the Company's designated office an amended Subscription 
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Agreement authorizing such change on or before the “Change Notice Date.” The “Change Notice 
Date” shall be a date prior to the beginning of the first pay period for which such election is to be 
effective as established by the Company from time to time and announced to the Participants. A 
Participant who elects to decrease the rate of his or her payroll deductions to zero percent (0%) shall 
nevertheless remain a Participant in the current Offering Period unless such Participant withdraws 
from the Plan as provided in Section 12.1.  Until otherwise provided by the Board, for all Offering 
Periods that commence on or after January 1, 2008, a Participant may only elect to decrease the rate 
of, or to stop, deductions from his or her Compensation during any on-going Offering Period, and 
may only increase his or her rate of deductions as to future Offering Periods; except however, that 
any increase to a Participant’s election approved by the Company as a result of the Company's delay 
or mistake in processing a Subscription Agreement or in otherwise effecting a Participant's election 
under the Plan shall not be subject to these increase limitations.   

 
10.4 Participant Accounts. Individual bookkeeping accounts shall be maintained for 

each Participant. All payroll deductions from a Participant's Compensation shall be credited to such 
Participant's Plan account and shall be deposited with the general funds of the Company. All payroll 
deductions received or held by the Company may be used by the Company for any corporate 
purpose.  

 
10.5 No Interest Paid. Interest shall not be paid on sums deducted from a 

Participant's Compensation pursuant to the Plan.  
 
10.6 Administrative Errors.  Notwithstanding the above, in the case of an 

administrative error by the Company, the Company may choose to accept a direct payment from a 
Participant in order to adjust for the Company's delay or mistake in processing a Subscription 
Agreement or in otherwise effecting a Participant's election under the Plan or as advisable to comply 
with the requirements of Section 423 of the Code. 

 
11. Purchase of Shares.  
 

11.1 Exercise of Purchase Right. On each Purchase Date of an Offering Period, each 
Participant who has not withdrawn from the Plan and whose participation in the Offering has not 
terminated before such Purchase Date shall automatically acquire pursuant to the exercise of the 
Participant's Purchase Right the number of whole shares of Stock determined by dividing (a) the total 
amount of the Participant's payroll deductions accumulated in the Participant's Plan account during 
the Offering Period and not previously applied toward the purchase of Stock by (b) the Purchase 
Price. However, in no event shall the number of shares purchased by the Participant during an 
Offering Period exceed the number of shares subject to the Participant's Purchase Right. No shares of 
Stock shall be purchased on a Purchase Date on behalf of a Participant whose participation in the 
Offering or the Plan has terminated before such Purchase Date.  

 
11.2 Pro Rata Allocation of Shares. In the event that the number of shares of Stock 

which might be purchased by all Participants in the Plan on a Purchase Date exceeds the number of 
shares of Stock available in the Plan as provided in Section 4.1, the Company shall make a pro rata 
allocation of the remaining shares in as uniform a manner as shall be practicable and as the Company 
shall determine to be equitable. Any fractional share resulting from such pro rata allocation to any 
Participant shall be disregarded.  
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11.3 Delivery of Certificates. As soon as practicable after each Purchase Date, the 
Company shall arrange the delivery to each Participant, as appropriate, of a certificate representing 
the shares acquired by the Participant on such Purchase Date; provided that the Company may 
deliver such shares to a broker that holds such shares in street name for the benefit of the Participant. 
Shares to be delivered to a Participant under the Plan shall be registered in the name of the 
Participant, or, if requested by the Participant, in the name of the Participant and his or her spouse, 
or, if applicable, in the names of the heirs of the Participant.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the 
extent permitted by applicable law and the Company’s governing documents, the Company may 
refrain from issuing paper certificates and may instead cause the issuance of the shares to the 
Participant under this Plan to be recorded electronically on the books of the Company, the applicable 
transfer agent and/or broker, as applicable.   

 
11.4 Return of Cash Balance. Any cash balance remaining in a Participant's Plan 

account following any Purchase Date shall be refunded to the Participant as soon as practicable after 
such Purchase Date. However, if the cash to be returned to a Participant pursuant to the preceding 
sentence is an amount less than the amount that would have been necessary to purchase an additional 
whole share of Stock on such Purchase Date, the Company may retain such amount in the 
Participant's Plan account to be applied toward the purchase of shares of Stock in the subsequent 
Purchase Period or Offering Period, as the case may be.  

 
11.5 Tax and Withholding. At the time a Participant's Purchase Right is exercised, in 

whole or in part, or at the time a Participant disposes of some or all of the shares of Stock he or she 
acquires under the Plan, the Participant shall make adequate provision for the foreign, federal, state 
and local tax and withholding obligations of the Participating Company Group, if any, which arise 
upon exercise of the Purchase Right or upon such disposition of shares, respectively.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, any tax arising from the exercise of the Purchase Right or upon the disposition of 
shares, whether initially payable by the Participant or the Participating Company Group (each a 
“Stock Tax”), shall be paid by the Participant.  Without limitation to the foregoing, any Indian Fringe 
Benefit Tax due as a result of a Participant exercising a Purchase Right shall be deemed a Stock Tax. 
The Participating Company Group may, but shall not be obligated to, withhold from the Participant's 
compensation the amount necessary to satisfy any Stock Tax and/or withholding obligations.  If the 
Participant’s compensation is not sufficient to meet the Stock Tax and/or withholding obligation, the 
Participating Group Company shall be under no obligation to deliver the Shares until the Participant 
has made adequate provisions for payment of the Stock Tax and/or withholding obligations.  

 
11.6 Expiration of Purchase Right. Any portion of a Participant's Purchase Right 

remaining unexercised after the end of the Offering Period to which the Purchase Right relates shall 
expire immediately upon the end of the Offering Period.  

 
11.7 Reports to Participants. Each Participant who has exercised all or part of his or 

her Purchase Right shall receive, as soon as practicable after the Purchase Date, a report of such 
Participant's Plan account setting forth the total payroll deductions accumulated prior to such 
exercise, the number of shares of Stock purchased, the Purchase Price for such shares, the date of 
purchase and the cash balance, if any, remaining immediately after such purchase that is to be 
refunded or retained in the Participant's Plan account pursuant to Section 11.4. The report required by 
this Section may be delivered in such form and by such means, including by electronic transmission, 
as the Company may determine. 
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12. Withdrawal from Offering or Plan.  
 

12.1 Voluntary Withdrawal from the Plan. A Participant may withdraw from the 
Plan by signing and delivering to the Company's designated office a written notice of withdrawal on 
a form provided by the Company for such purpose. Such withdrawal may be elected at any time prior 
to the end of an Offering Period; provided, however, if a Participant withdraws from the Plan after 
the Purchase Date of a Purchase Period, the withdrawal shall not affect shares of Stock acquired by 
the Participant on such Purchase Date. A Participant who voluntarily withdraws from the Plan is 
prohibited from resuming participation in the Plan in the same Offering from which he or she 
withdrew, but may participate in any subsequent Offering by again satisfying the requirements of 
Sections 5 and 7.1. The Company may impose, from time to time, a requirement that the notice of 
withdrawal from the Plan be on file with the Company's designated office for a reasonable period 
prior to the effectiveness of the Participant's withdrawal.  

 
12.2 Automatic Withdrawal From an Offering. If the Fair Market Value of a share 

of Stock on a Purchase Date other than the final Purchase Date of an Offering is less than the Fair 
Market Value of a share of Stock on the Offering Date of the Offering, then every Participant 
automatically shall be (a) withdrawn from such Offering at the close of such Purchase Date and after 
the acquisition of shares of Stock for the Purchase Period and (b) enrolled in the Offering 
commencing on the first business day subsequent to such Purchase Date.   

 
12.3 Return of Payroll Deductions. Upon a Participant's voluntary withdrawal from 

the Plan pursuant to Sections 12.1 or automatic withdrawal from an Offering pursuant to Section 
12.2, the Participant's accumulated payroll deductions which have not been applied toward the 
purchase of shares of Stock (except, in the case of an automatic withdrawal pursuant to Section 12.2, 
for an amount necessary to purchase an additional whole share as provided in Section 11.4) shall be 
returned as soon as practicable after the withdrawal, without the payment of any interest, to the 
Participant, and the Participant's interest in the Plan or the Offering, as applicable, shall terminate. 
Such accumulated payroll deductions may not be applied to any other Offering under the Plan.  

 
13. Termination of Employment or Eligibility. Upon a Participant's ceasing, prior to a 

Purchase Date, to be an Employee of the Participating Company Group for any reason, including 
retirement, disability or death, or the failure of a Participant to remain an Eligible Employee, the 
Participant's participation in the Plan shall terminate immediately. In such event, the payroll 
deductions credited to the Participant's Plan account since the last Purchase Date shall, as soon as 
practicable, be returned to the Participant or, in the case of the Participant's death, to the Participant's 
legal representative, and all of the Participant's rights under the Plan shall terminate. Interest shall not 
be paid on sums returned pursuant to this Section 13. A Participant whose participation has been so 
terminated may again become eligible to participate in the Plan by again satisfying the requirements 
of Sections 5 and 7.1.  

 
14. Transfer of Control.  
 

14.1 Definitions.  
 

(a) An “Ownership Change Event” shall be deemed to have occurred if any 
of the following occurs with respect to the Company: (i) the direct or indirect sale or exchange in a 
single or series of related transactions by the stockholders of the Company of more than fifty percent 
(50%) of the voting stock of the Company; (ii) a merger or consolidation in which the Company is a 
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party; (iii) the sale, exchange, or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or 
(iv) a liquidation or dissolution of the Company.  

 
(b) A “Transfer of Control” shall mean an Ownership Change Event or a 

series of related Ownership Change Events (collectively, the “Transaction”) wherein the 
stockholders of the Company immediately before the Transaction do not retain immediately after the 
Transaction, in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of shares of the Company's 
voting stock immediately before the Transaction, direct or indirect beneficial ownership of more than 
fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power of the outstanding voting stock of the 
Company or the corporation or corporations to which the assets of the Company were transferred (the 
“Transferee Corporation(s)”), as the case may be. For purposes of the preceding sentence, indirect 
beneficial ownership shall include, without limitation, an interest resulting from ownership of the 
voting stock of one or more corporations which, as a result of the Transaction, own the Company or 
the Transferee Corporation(s), as the case may be, either directly or through one or more subsidiary 
corporations. The Board shall have the right to determine whether multiple sales or exchanges of the 
voting stock of the Company or multiple Ownership Change Events are related, and its determination 
shall be final, binding and conclusive.  

 
14.2 Effect of Transfer of Control on Purchase Rights. In the event of a Transfer of 

Control, the surviving, continuing, successor, or purchasing corporation or parent corporation 
thereof, as the case may be (the “Acquiring Corporation”), shall assume the Company's rights and 
obligations under the Plan. If the Acquiring Corporation elects not to assume the Company's rights 
and obligations under outstanding Purchase Rights, the Purchase Date of the then current Purchase 
Period shall be accelerated to a date before the date of the Transfer of Control specified by the Board, 
but the number of shares of Stock subject to outstanding Purchase Rights shall not be adjusted. All 
Purchase Rights which are neither assumed by the Acquiring Corporation in connection with the 
Transfer of Control nor exercised as of the date of the Transfer of Control shall terminate and cease 
to be outstanding effective as of the date of the Transfer of Control.  

 
15. Nontransferability of Purchase Rights. A Purchase Right may not be transferred in any 

manner otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and shall be exercisable during 
the lifetime of the Participant only by the Participant.  

 
16. Restriction on Issuance of Shares. The issuance of shares under the Plan shall be 

subject to compliance with all applicable requirements of foreign, federal or state law with respect to 
such securities. A Purchase Right may not be exercised if the issuance of shares upon such exercise 
would constitute a violation of any applicable foreign, federal or state securities laws or other law or 
regulations or the requirements of any securities exchange or market system upon which the Stock 
may then be listed. In addition, no Purchase Right may be exercised unless (a) a registration 
statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, shall at the time of exercise of the Purchase 
Right be in effect with respect to the shares issuable upon exercise of the Purchase Right, or (b) in 
the opinion of legal counsel to the Company, the shares issuable upon exercise of the Purchase Right 
may be issued in accordance with the terms of an applicable exemption from the registration 
requirements of said Act. The inability of the Company to obtain from any regulatory body having 
jurisdiction the authority, if any, deemed by the Company's legal counsel to be necessary to the 
lawful issuance and sale of any shares under the Plan shall relieve the Company of any liability in 
respect of the failure to issue or sell such shares as to which such requisite authority shall not have 
been obtained. As a condition to the exercise of a Purchase Right, the Company may require the 
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Participant to satisfy any qualifications that may be necessary or appropriate, to evidence compliance 
with any applicable law or regulation, and to make any representation or warranty with respect 
thereto as may be requested by the Company.  

 
17. Rights as a Stockholder and Employee. A Participant shall have no rights as a 

stockholder by virtue of the Participant's participation in the Plan until the date of the issuance of a 
certificate for the shares purchased pursuant to the exercise of the Participant's Purchase Right (as 
evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer 
agent of the Company). No adjustment shall be made for dividends, distributions or other rights for 
which the record date is prior to the date such certificate is issued, except as provided in Section 4.2. 
Nothing herein creates an employment relationship between the Participant and any member of the 
Participating Group Company where such relationship does not otherwise exist, nor shall anything 
herein confer upon a Participant any right to continue in the employ of the Participating Company 
Group or interfere in any way with any right of the Participating Company Group to terminate the 
Participant's employment at any time.   

 
18. Legends. The Company may at any time place legends or other identifying symbols 

referencing any applicable foreign, federal or state securities law restrictions or any provision 
convenient in the administration of the Plan on some or all of the certificates representing shares of 
Stock issued under the Plan. The Participant shall, at the request of the Company, promptly present to 
the Company any and all certificates representing shares acquired pursuant to a Purchase Right in the 
possession of the Participant in order to carry out the provisions of this Section. Unless otherwise 
specified by the Company, legends placed on such certificates may include but shall not be limited to 
the following:  
 

“THE SHARES EVIDENCED BY THIS CERTIFICATE WERE ISSUED BY THE 
CORPORATION TO THE REGISTERED HOLDER UPON THE PURCHASE OF 
SHARES UNDER AN EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN AS DEFINED IN 
SECTION 423 OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED. THE 
TRANSFER AGENT FOR THE SHARES EVIDENCED HEREBY SHALL NOTIFY THE 
CORPORATION IMMEDIATELY OF ANY TRANSFER OF THE SHARES BY THE 
REGISTERED HOLDER HEREOF. THE REGISTERED HOLDER SHALL HOLD ALL 
SHARES PURCHASED UNDER THE PLAN IN THE REGISTERED HOLDER'S NAME 
(AND NOT IN THE NAME OF ANY NOMINEE).”  

 
19. Notification of Sale of Shares. The Company may require the Participant to give the 

Company prompt notice of any disposition of shares acquired by exercise of a Purchase Right within 
two years from the date of granting such Purchase Right or one year from the date of exercise of such 
Purchase Right. The Company may require that until such time as a Participant disposes of shares 
acquired upon exercise of a Purchase Right, the Participant shall hold all such shares in the 
Participant's name (or, if elected by the Participant, in the name of the Participant and his or her 
spouse but not in the name of any nominee) until the lapse of the time periods with respect to such 
Purchase Right referred to in the preceding sentence. The Company may direct that the certificates 
evidencing shares acquired by exercise of a Purchase Right refer to such requirement to give prompt 
notice of disposition.  

 
20. Notices. All notices or other communications by a Participant to the Company under or in 

connection with the Plan shall be deemed to have been duly given when received in the form 
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specified by the Company at the location, or by the person, designated by the Company for the 
receipt thereof.  

 
21. Indemnification. In addition to such other rights of indemnification as they may have as 

members of the Board or officers or employees of the Participating Company Group, members of the 
Board and any officers or employees of the Participating Company Group to whom authority to act 
for the Board or the Company is delegated shall be indemnified by the Company against all 
reasonable expenses, including attorneys' fees, actually and necessarily incurred in connection with 
the defense of any action, suit or proceeding, or in connection with any appeal therein, to which they 
or any of them may be a party by reason of any action taken or failure to act under or in connection 
with the Plan, or any right granted hereunder, and against all amounts paid by them in settlement 
thereof (provided such settlement is approved by independent legal counsel selected by the 
Company) or paid by them in satisfaction of a judgment in any such action, suit or proceeding, 
except in relation to matters as to which it shall be adjudged in such action, suit or proceeding that 
such person is liable for gross negligence, bad faith or intentional misconduct in duties; provided, 
however, that within sixty (60) days after the institution of such action, suit or proceeding, such 
person shall offer to the Company, in writing, the opportunity at its own expense to handle and 
defend the same.  

 
22. Amendment or Termination of the Plan. The Board may at any time amend or 

terminate the Plan, except that (a) such termination shall not affect Purchase Rights previously 
granted under the Plan, except as permitted under the Plan, and (b) no amendment may adversely 
affect a Purchase Right previously granted under the Plan (except to the extent permitted by the Plan 
or as may be necessary to qualify the Plan as an employee stock purchase plan pursuant to Section 
423 of the Code or to obtain qualification or registration of the shares of Stock under applicable 
foreign, federal or state securities laws). In addition, an amendment to the Plan must be approved by 
the stockholders of the Company within twelve (12) months of the adoption of such amendment if 
such amendment would authorize the sale of more shares than are authorized for issuance under the 
Plan or would change the definition of the corporations that may be designated by the Board as 
Participating Companies.  

 
23. Continuation of Plan Terms as to Outstanding Purchase Rights. Any other provision 

of the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, the terms of the Plan prior to amendment (other than the 
maximum aggregate number of shares of Stock issuable thereunder) shall remain in effect and apply 
to all Purchase Rights granted pursuant to the Plan prior to amendment.  
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Item 2.02. Results of Operations and Financial Condition. 

On March 17, 2015, Adobe Systems Incorporated (“Adobe”) issued a press release announcing its financial results for its 
first fiscal quarter ended February 27, 2015. A copy of this press release is furnished and attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 
and is incorporated herein by reference. 

The information in this report and the exhibit attached hereto are being furnished and shall not be deemed filed for 
purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), nor shall it be deemed incorporated 
by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly 
stated by specific reference in such filing. 

The attached press release includes non-GAAP operating income, non-GAAP net income, non-GAAP tax rate, and non-
GAAP diluted net income per share. 

These non-GAAP measures are not in accordance with, or an alternative for, generally accepted accounting principles and 
may be different from non-GAAP measures used by other companies. In addition, these non-GAAP measures are not based 
on any comprehensive set of accounting rules or principles. We believe that non-GAAP measures have limitations in that 
they do not reflect all of the amounts associated with our results of operations as determined in accordance with GAAP and 
that these measures should only be used to evaluate our results of operations in conjunction with the corresponding GAAP 
measures. 

For our internal budgeting and resource allocation process, we use non-GAAP financial measures, net of the related tax 
impacts, which exclude: (A) stock-based and deferred compensation expenses; (B) restructuring and other charges; (C) 
amortization of purchased intangibles; (D) investment gains and losses; (E) accrued loss contingencies; (F) income tax 
adjustments; and (G) the income tax effect of the non-GAAP pre-tax adjustments from the provision for income taxes.  

We use these non-GAAP financial measures in making operating decisions because we believe the measures provide 
meaningful supplemental information regarding our operational performance and give us a better understanding of how we 
should invest in research and development and fund infrastructure and go-to-market strategies. We use these measures to 
help us make budgeting decisions, for example, as between product development expenses and research and development, 
sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses and to facilitate our internal comparisons to our historical 
operating results. In addition, we believe these non-GAAP financial measures are useful because they allow for greater 
transparency with respect to key metrics used by management in its financial and operational decision-making. This allows 
institutional investors, the analyst community and others to better understand and evaluate our operating results and future 
prospects in the same manner as management and to compare operating results across accounting periods and to those of 
our peer companies.  

As described above, we exclude the following items from one or more of our non-GAAP measures: 

A. Stock-based and deferred compensation expenses and related tax impact. Stock-based compensation expense consists of 
charges for employee restricted stock units, performance shares, stock options and employee stock purchases in accordance 
with current GAAP related to stock-based compensation including expense associated with stock-based compensation 
related to unvested options and restricted stock units assumed in connection with our acquisitions. As we apply current 
stock-based compensation standards, we believe that it is useful to investors to understand the impact of the application of 
these standards to our operational performance, liquidity and our ability to invest in research and development and fund 
acquisitions and capital expenditures. Although stock-based compensation expense is calculated in accordance with current 
GAAP and constitutes an ongoing and recurring expense, such expense is excluded from non-GAAP results because it is 
not an expense that typically requires or will require cash settlement by us and because such expense is not used by us to 
assess the core profitability of our business operations. Deferred compensation expense consists of charges associated with 
movements in our liability related to our deferred compensation plan. Although deferred compensation expense constitutes 
an ongoing and recurring expense, such expense is excluded from non-GAAP results because it is not an expense that 
typically requires current cash settlement by us and because such expense is not used by us to assess the core profitability 
of our business operations. We further believe these measures are useful to investors in that they allow for greater 
transparency to certain line items in our financial statements. In addition, excluding these items from various non-GAAP 
measures facilitates comparisons to our competitors’ operating results. 



B. Restructuring and other charges and related tax impact. During the past several years, we have initiated certain 
restructuring activities in order to align our costs in connection with both our operating plans and our business strategies 
based on then-current economic conditions. As a result, we recognized costs related to termination benefits for former 
Adobe employees whose positions were eliminated and the consolidation of leased facilities. Restructuring and other 
charges are excluded from non-GAAP results because such expense is not used by us to assess the core profitability of our 
business operations. 

2 

 
  



C. Amortization of purchased intangibles and related tax impact. We incur amortization of purchased intangibles in 
connection with our acquisitions. Purchased intangibles include (i) purchased technology, (ii) trademarks, (iii) customer 
contracts and relationships and (iv) other intangibles. We expect to amortize for accounting purposes the fair value of the 
purchased intangibles based on the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible assets will be consumed as 
revenue is generated. Although the intangible assets generate revenue for us, we exclude this item because this expense is 
non-cash in nature and because we believe the non-GAAP financial measures excluding this item provide meaningful 
supplemental information regarding our operational performance, liquidity and our ability to invest in research and 
development and fund acquisitions and capital expenditures. In addition, excluding this item from various non-GAAP 
measures facilitates our internal comparisons to our historical operating results and comparisons to our competitors’ 
operating results.  

D. Investment gains and losses and related tax impact. We incur investment gains and losses principally from realized 
gains or losses from the sale and exchange of marketable equity investments, other-than-temporary declines in the value of 
marketable and non-marketable equity securities, unrealized holding gains and losses associated with our deferred 
compensation plan assets (classified as trading securities) and gains and losses on the sale of equity securities held 
indirectly through investment partnerships. We do not actively trade publicly held securities nor do we rely on these 
securities positions for funding our ongoing operations. We exclude gains and losses and the related tax impact on these 
equity securities because these items are unrelated to our ongoing business and operating results. 

E. Accrued loss contingencies associated with one-time litigation events. In connection with ongoing litigation or similar 
events, we accrue losses in the event such losses are determined to be both probable and estimable in accordance with 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 450-20, Loss Contingencies. From time to time we exclude such losses and the 
related tax impact when they relate to one-time events that are unrelated to our ongoing business and operating results. 

F. Income tax adjustments. Our Income tax expense is based on our GAAP taxable income and actual tax rates in effect, 
which can differ significantly from the long-term non-GAAP tax rate applied to our non-GAAP financial results. In 
arriving at our long-term non-GAAP tax rate, certain non-recurring and period specific income tax adjustments, such as a 
one-time tax charge in connection with an acquisition, reenactment of the Federal Research and Development tax credit 
and resolution of an income tax audit, are made to help us to assess the core profitability of our business operations. We 
evaluate this long-term non-GAAP tax rate only on an annual basis. This long-term non-GAAP tax rate could be subject to 
change for a number of reasons including significant changes in our geographic earnings mix or fundamental tax law 
changes in major jurisdictions in which we operate. Based on our long-term projections, a long-term non-GAAP tax rate of 
21% has been applied to our non-GAAP financial results in both fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2015.  

G. Income tax effect of the non-GAAP pre-tax adjustments from the provision for income taxes. Excluding the income tax 
effect of the non-GAAP pre-tax adjustments from the provision for income taxes assists investors in understanding the tax 
provision associated with those adjustments and the effective tax rate related to our ongoing operations. 

We believe that non-GAAP measures have limitations in that they do not reflect all of the amounts associated with our 
financial results as determined in accordance with GAAP and that these measures should only be used to evaluate our 
financial results in conjunction with the corresponding GAAP measures and that is why we qualify the use of non-GAAP 
financial information in a statement when non-GAAP information is presented. 
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Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits. 

(d) Exhibits 

99.1 Press release issued on March 17, 2015 entitled “Adobe Reports Strong Q1 FY 2015 Financial Results” 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized. 

     ADOBE SYSTEMS INCORPORATED 
   By: /s/ MARK GARRETT 
  Mark Garrett 
  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 

Officer 
 

Date: March 17, 2015  
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

    Exhibit No. 
 

Description 
99.1 

 
Press release issued on March 17, 2015 entitled “Adobe Reports Strong Q1 FY2015 Financial Results” 
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Adobe Reports Strong Q1 FY2015 Financial Results 

Company Announces Newest Offering, Adobe Document Cloud 
SAN JOSE, Calif. - Mar. 17, 2015 - Adobe (Nasdaq:ADBE) today reported financial results for its first quarter fiscal year 2015 ended Feb. 27, 2015. 
Financial Highlights  

  • Adobe achieved revenue of $1.11 billion, above the high end of the targeted range of $1.05 billion to $1.10 billion. 

• Adobe added 517 thousand net new Creative Cloud subscriptions in the quarter, which represents 28 percent year-over-year growth when 
compared to net new subscription additions in Q1 fiscal year 2014. 

• Creative Annualized Recurring Revenue (“ARR”) grew to $1.79 billion, and total Digital Media ARR grew to $2.09 billion. 

• Adobe Marketing Cloud revenue was $311 million. 

• Diluted earnings per share were $0.17 on a GAAP-basis, and $0.44 on a non-GAAP basis. 

• Cash flow from operations was $183 million and deferred revenue grew to a record $1.18 billion. 

• A record 70 percent of Adobe’s Q1 revenue was from recurring sources, compared to 52 percent of Q1 revenue in fiscal 2014. 

• The company repurchased approximately 2.4 million shares during the quarter, returning $174 million of cash to stockholders. 

A reconciliation between GAAP and non-GAAP results is provided at the end of this press release and on Adobe’s website. 

Executive Quotes 

"Adobe Marketing Cloud and Creative Cloud continue to be growth engines for Adobe," said Shantanu Narayen, Adobe president and chief executive 
officer. "We are excited about today's announcement of the Adobe Document Cloud, which brings innovative new capabilities, including built-in e-
signing, to millions of customers." 

“Fiscal 2015 is off to a strong start, and Q1 revenue and earnings are evidence of successful execution against our strategy,” said Mark Garrett, Adobe 
executive vice president and chief financial officer. 

 
 

 



 
Adobe to Webcast Earnings Conference Call 
Adobe will webcast its first quarter fiscal year 2015 earnings conference call today at 2:00 p.m. Pacific Time from its investor relations website: 
www.adobe.com/ADBE. Earnings documents, including Adobe management’s prepared conference call remarks with slides, financial targets and an 
investor datasheet are posted to Adobe’s investor relations website in advance of the conference call for reference. A reconciliation between GAAP 
and non-GAAP earnings results and financial targets is also provided on the website. 
Forward-Looking Statements Disclosure 
This press release contains forward-looking statements, including those related to business momentum, product innovation and capabilities and the 
strength of our cloud business and growth of our revenue and earnings, all of which involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to 
differ materially. Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to: failure to develop, market and distribute 
products and services that meet customer requirements, introduction of new products and business models by competitors, failure to successfully 
manage transitions to new business models and markets, fluctuations in subscription renewal rates, risks associated with cyber-attacks and information 
security, potential interruptions or delays in hosted services provided by us or third parties, uncertainty in economic conditions and the financial 
markets, and failure to realize the anticipated benefits of past or future acquisitions. 
For a discussion of these and other risks and uncertainties, please refer to Adobe’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year 2014 ended Nov. 
28, 2014. 
The financial information set forth in this press release reflects estimates based on information available at this time. These amounts could differ from 
actual reported amounts stated in Adobe’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for our quarter ended Feb. 27, 2015, which Adobe expects to file in March 
2015. 
Adobe assumes no obligation to, and does not currently intend to, update these forward-looking statements. 
About Adobe Systems Incorporated 
Adobe is changing the world through digital experiences. For more information, visit www.adobe.com. 

### 
© 2015 Adobe Systems Incorporated. All rights reserved. Adobe, the Adobe logo and Creative Cloud are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Adobe Systems Incorporated in the United States and/or other countries. All other trademarks are the property of their 
respective owners. 
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income  
(In thousands, except per share data; unaudited) 
         
 

Three Months Ended 

 

February 27,  
2015 

 

February 28,  
2014 

Revenue: 
   Subscription $ 713,442 

  
$ 423,563 

 Products 290,774 
  

471,454 
 Services and support 104,965 

  
105,103 

 Total revenue 1,109,181 
  

1,000,120 
     Cost of revenue: 

   Subscription 95,527 
  

76,732 
 Products 19,703 

  
27,498 

 Services and support 51,568 
  

44,279 
 Total cost of revenue 166,798 

  
148,509 

     Gross profit 942,383 
  

851,611 
     Operating expenses: 

   Research and development 215,509 
  

209,525 
 Sales and marketing 392,741 

  
410,141 

 General and administrative 145,081 
  

138,984 
 Restructuring and other charges 1,755 

  
663 

 Amortization of purchased intangibles 14,272 
  

13,552 
 Total operating expenses 769,358 

  
772,865 

     Operating income 173,025 
  

78,746 
     Non-operating income (expense): 

   Interest and other income (expense), net 3,338 
  

3,145 
 Interest expense (14,545 ) 

 
(16,590 ) 

Investment gains (losses), net 1,430 
  

(409 ) 
Total non-operating income (expense), net (9,777 ) 

 
(13,854 ) 

Income before income taxes 163,248 
  

64,892 
 Provision for income taxes 78,360 

  
17,846 

 Net income $ 84,888 
  

$ 47,046 
 Basic net income per share $ 0.17 

  
$ 0.09 

 Shares used to compute basic net income per share 498,754 
  

496,948 
 Diluted net income per share $ 0.17 

  
$ 0.09 

 Shares used to compute diluted net income per share 507,526 
  

508,340 
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Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets  
(In thousands, except par value; unaudited)  
        

 

February 27,  
2015 

 

November 28,  
2014 

ASSETS 
       Current assets: 
   Cash and cash equivalents $ 712,884 

  
$ 1,117,400 

 Short-term investments 2,463,936 
  

2,622,091 
 Trade receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $7,201 and $7,867, 

respectively 532,427 
  

591,800 
 Deferred income taxes 60,470 

  
95,279 

 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 202,442 
  

175,758 
 Total current assets 3,972,159 

  
4,602,328 

     Property and equipment, net 784,314 
  

785,123 
 Goodwill 5,396,174 

  
4,721,962 

 Purchased and other intangibles, net 629,317 
  

469,662 
 Investment in lease receivable 80,439 

  
80,439 

 Other assets 146,019 
  

126,315 
 Total assets $ 11,008,422 

  
$ 10,785,829 

     LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
       Current liabilities: 
   Trade payables $ 71,670 

  
$ 68,377 

 Accrued expenses 564,211 
  

683,866 
 Debt and capital lease obligations 64 

  
603,229 

 Accrued restructuring 2,580 
  

17,120 
 Income taxes payable 19,934 

  
23,920 

 Deferred revenue 1,129,701 
  

1,097,923 
 Total current liabilities 1,788,160 

  
2,494,435 

     Long-term liabilities: 
   Debt 1,901,554 

  
911,086 

 Deferred revenue 53,568 
  

57,401 
 Accrued restructuring 4,495 

  
5,194 

 Income taxes payable 245,063 
  

125,746 
 Deferred income taxes 348,644 

  
342,315 

 Other liabilities 77,918 
  

73,747 
 Total liabilities 4,419,402 

  
4,009,924 

     Stockholders' equity: 
   referred stock, $0.0001 par value; 2,000 shares authorized — 

  
— 

 Common stock, $0.0001 par value 61 
  

61 
 Additional paid-in-capital 3,897,838 

  
3,778,495 

 Retained earnings 6,756,803 
  

6,924,294 
 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (103,810 ) 

 
(8,094 ) 

Treasury stock, at cost (100,786 and 103,350 shares, respectively), net of reissuances (3,961,872 ) 
 

(3,918,851 ) 
Total stockholders' equity 6,589,020 

  
6,775,905 

 Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 11,008,422 
  

$ 10,785,829 
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(In thousands; unaudited) 
         
 

Three Months Ended 

 

February 27,  
2015 

 

February 28,  
2014 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
   Net income $ 84,888 

  
$ 47,046 

 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 
   Depreciation, amortization and accretion 79,635 

  
77,636 

 Stock-based compensation expense 84,193 
  

82,750 
 Unrealized investment (gains) losses, net (9,687 ) 

 
975 

 Changes in deferred revenue 19,044 
  

52,275 
 Changes in other operating assets and liabilities (75,058 ) 

 
(9,009 ) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 183,015 
  

251,673 
     Cash flows from investing activities: 

   Purchases, sales and maturities of short-term investments, net 152,402 
  

(61,746 ) 
Purchases of property and equipment (35,546 ) 

 
(29,393 ) 

Purchases and sales of long-term investments, intangibles and other assets, net (14,885 ) 
 

(3,283 ) 
Acquisitions, net of cash (800,342 ) 

 
— 

 Net cash used for investing activities (698,371 ) 
 

(94,422 ) 
    Cash flows from financing activities: 

   Purchases of treasury stock (200,000 ) 
 

(200,000 ) 
Cost of reissuance of treasury stock, net (93,697 ) 

 
(53,776 ) 

Proceeds from debt 989,280 
  

— 
 Repayment of debt and capital lease obligations (602,189 ) 

 
(4,433 ) 

Debt issuance costs (7,718 ) 
 

— 
 Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 33,599 

  
— 

 Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities 119,275 
  

(258,209 ) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (8,435 ) 

 
318 

 Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (404,516 ) 
 

(100,640 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,117,400 

  
834,556 

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 712,884 
  

$ 733,916 
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Non-GAAP Results 
(In thousands, except per share data) 
The following tables show Adobe's GAAP results reconciled to non-GAAP results included in this release. 

             
 

Three Months Ended 

 

February 27,  
2015 

 

February 28,  
2014 

 

November 28,  
2014 

Operating income: 
           GAAP operating income $ 173,025 

  
$ 78,746 

  
$ 124,505 

 Stock-based and deferred compensation expense 86,597 
  

83,549 
  

85,025 
 Restructuring and other charges 1,755 

  
663 

  
19,385 

 Amortization of purchased intangibles  33,791 
  

32,054 
  

31,331 
 Loss contingency — 

  
10,000 

  
— 

 Non-GAAP operating income $ 295,168 
  

$ 205,012 
  

$ 260,246 
       Net income: 

           GAAP net income $ 84,888 
  

$ 47,046 
  

$ 88,136 
 Stock-based and deferred compensation expense 86,597 

  
83,549 

  
85,025 

 Restructuring and other charges 1,755 
  

663 
  

19,385 
 Amortization of purchased intangibles  33,791 

  
32,054 

  
31,331 

 Investment (gains) losses (1,430 ) 
 

409 
  

(343 ) 
Loss contingency — 

  
10,000 

  
— 

 Income tax adjustments 18,728 
  

(22,383 ) 
 

(27,872 ) 
Non-GAAP net income $ 224,329 

  
$ 151,338 

  
$ 195,662 

       Diluted net income per share: 
           GAAP diluted net income per share $ 0.17 

  
$ 0.09 

  
$ 0.17 

 Stock-based and deferred compensation expense 0.17 
  

0.16 
  

0.17 
 Restructuring and other charges — 

  
— 

  
0.04 

 Amortization of purchased intangibles  0.07 
  

0.06 
  

0.06 
 Loss contingency — 

  
0.02 

  
— 

 Income tax adjustments 0.03 
  

(0.03 ) 
 

(0.05 ) 
Non-GAAP diluted net income per share $ 0.44 

  
$ 0.30 

  
$ 0.39 

       Shares used in computing diluted net income per share 507,526 
  

508,340 
  

507,451 
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Non-GAAP Results (continued) 
 

    

 

Three Months 
Ended 

 

February 27,  
2015 

Effective income tax rate: 
   GAAP effective income tax rate 48.0 % 

One-time charge related to acquisition (42.0 ) 
Retroactive reinstatement of 2014 R&D tax credit 16.0 

 Income tax adjustments (1.0 ) 
Non-GAAP effective income tax rate 21.0 % 

 
 
 
 
Use of Non-GAAP Financial Information 
 
Adobe continues to provide all information required in accordance with GAAP, but believes evaluating its ongoing operating results 
may not be as useful if an investor is limited to reviewing only GAAP financial measures. Adobe uses non-GAAP financial information 
to evaluate its ongoing operations and for internal planning and forecasting purposes. Adobe's management does not itself, nor does it 
suggest that investors should, consider such non-GAAP financial measures in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial 
information prepared in accordance with GAAP. Adobe presents such non-GAAP financial measures in reporting its financial results to 
provide investors with an additional tool to evaluate Adobe's operating results. Adobe believes these non-GAAP financial measures are 
useful because they allow for greater transparency with respect to key metrics used by management in its financial and operational 
decision-making. This allows institutional investors, the analyst community and others to better understand and evaluate our operating 
results and future prospects in the same manner as management. 
 
Adobe's management believes it is useful for itself and investors to review, as applicable, both GAAP information that may include 
items such as stock-based and deferred compensation expenses, restructuring and other charges, amortization of purchased intangibles 
and certain activity in connection with technology license arrangements, investment gains and losses, loss contingencies and the related 
tax impact of all of these items, income tax adjustments, the income tax effect of the non-GAAP pre-tax adjustments from the provision 
for income taxes, and the non-GAAP measures that exclude such information in order to assess the performance of Adobe's business 
and for planning and forecasting in subsequent periods. Whenever Adobe uses such a non-GAAP financial measure, it provides a 
reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measure to the most closely applicable GAAP financial measure. Investors are encouraged to 
review the related GAAP financial measures and the reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to their most directly 
comparable GAAP financial measure as detailed above. 
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CROSS-REFERENCE LISTS 

1302370-v6\NYCDMS i 

CROSS-REFERENCE LISTS 

ANNEX I 
 

MINIMUM DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE SHARE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 
(SCHEDULE) 

(Page numbering refers to the page contained in the relevant document) 

Item # Item contents Chapter/Exhibit Page 

1. Persons Responsible   

1.1. All persons responsible for the information given in 
the prospectus Prospectus 

4 (Company 
Representative 
for Prospectus) 

1.2. A declaration by those responsible for the prospectus  Prospectus 
4 (Company 

Representative 
for Prospectus) 

2. Statutory Auditors   

2.1. Names and addresses of the issuer’s auditors  Part II - Section B 

59 (10.2 
Independent 

Registered Public 
Accounting Firm) 

2.2. 

If auditors have resigned, been removed or not been 
re-appointed during the period covered by the 
historical financial information, indicate details if 
material. 

Not applicable Not applicable 

3. Selected Financial Information   

3.1. Selected historical financial information  Part II - Section B 
58 - 59 (10.1 

Selected 
Financial Data) 

3.2. Interim periods  Part II - Section B 
58 - 59 (10.1 

Selected 
Financial Data) 

4. Risk Factors Part II - Section A 14 - 31 (Risk 
Factors) 

5. Information about the Issuer   

5.1. History and Development of the Issuer   



CROSS-REFERENCE LISTS 

1302370-v6\NYCDMS ii 

Item # Item contents Chapter/Exhibit Page 

5.1.1. the legal and commercial name of the issuer; Part I - Section B 

5 (B.1 Legal and 
Commercial 
Name of the 

Issuer) 

12. Trend Information   

12.1. 

Significant trends that affected production, sales and 
inventory, and costs and selling prices since the end 
of the last financial year to the date of the 
prospectus. 

Exhibit II All pages 

12.2. Trends, uncertainties or events that are likely to 
affect the issuer for at least the current financial year.  

Part II - Section A 14 - 31 (Risk 
Factors) 

Exhibit II All pages 

13. Profit Forecasts or Estimates Not applicable Not applicable 

14. Administrative, Management, Supervisory Bodies 
and Senior Management   

14.1. 

Names, business addresses and functions in the 
issuer of the following persons and an indication of 
the principal activities performed by them outside the 
issuer where these are significant with respect to that 
issuer: 

a) members of the administrative, management or 
supervisory bodies; 

Part II - Section B 

44 - 47 (7.1 
Board of 

Directors as of 
April 9, 2015) and 

54 - 56 (8.1 
Directors’ and 

Executive 
Officers’ Holdings 

of Shares and 
Options) 

b) partners with unlimited liability, in the case of a 
limited partnership with a share capital;  Not applicable Not applicable 

c) founders, if the issuer has been established for 
fewer than five years and  Not applicable Not applicable 



CROSS-REFERENCE LISTS 

1302370-v6\NYCDMS iii 

Item # Item contents Chapter/Exhibit Page 

d) any senior manager who is relevant to establishing 
that the issuer has the appropriate expertise and 
experience for the management of the issuer’s 
business. 

Part II - Section B 

47 - 49 (7.2 
Executive 

Officers as of 
March 31, 2015) 

and 

54 - 56 (8.1 
Directors’ and 

Executive 
Officers’ Holdings 

of Shares and 
Options) 

The nature of any family relationship between any of 
those persons. Part II - Section B 

49 (7.3 
Fraudulent 

Offences and 
Bankruptcy, Etc.) 

In the case of each member of the administrative, 
management or supervisory bodies of the issuer and 
each person mentioned in points (b) and (d) of the 
first subparagraph, details of that person’s relevant 
management expertise and experience and the 
following information: 

(a) the nature of all companies and partnerships of 
which such person has been a member of the 
administrative, management and supervisory bodies 
or partner at any time in the previous five years, 
indicating whether or not the individual is still a 
member of the administrative, management or 
supervisory bodies or partner.  It is not necessary to 
list all the subsidiaries of an issuer of which the 
person is also a member of the administrative, 
management or supervisory bodies or partner. It is 
not necessary to list all the subsidiaries of an issuer 
of which the person is also a member of the 
administrative, management or supervisory bodies. 

Part II - Section B 

44 - 47 (7.1 
Board of 

Directors as of 
April 9, 2015) and 

47 - 49 (7.2 
Executive 

Officers as of 
March 31, 2015) 
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(b) any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences 
for at least the previous five years; 

(c) details of any bankruptcies, receiverships or 
liquidations with which a person described in (a) and 
(d) of the first subparagraph who was acting in the 
capacity of any of the positions set out in (a) and (d) 
of the first subparagraph was associated for at least 
the previous five years; 

(d) details of any official public incrimination and/or 
sanctions of such person by statutory or regulatory 
authorities (including designated professional bodies) 
and whether such person has ever been disqualified 
by a court from acting as a member of the 
administrative, management or supervisory bodies of 
an issuer or from acting in the management or 
conduct of the affairs of any issuer for at least the 
previous five years. 

If there is no such information to be disclosed, a 
statement to that effect is to be made. 

Part II - Section B 

49 (7.3 
Fraudulent 

Offences and 
Bankruptcy, Etc.) 

14.2. Administrative, management, and supervisory bodies 
and senior management conflicts of interests. Part II - Section B 

49 - 54 (7.4 
Conflicts of 

Interest) 

17. Employees   

17.2. 
Shareholdings and stock options with respect to each 
person referred to in points (a) and (d) of the first 
subparagraph of item 14.1. 

Part II - Section B 

54 - 56 (8.1 
Directors’ and 

Executive 
Officers’ Holdings 

of Shares and 
Options) 

17.3 Description of any arrangements for involving the 
employees in the capital of the issuer. 

Exhibit I All sections 

Part II - Section B 56 - 58 (8.2 Stock 
Plans) 

20.7. Dividend policy, etc.   

20.7.1 
The amount of the dividend per share for each 
financial year for the period covered by the historical 
financial information  

Part II - Section B 37 (Dividend 
Rights) 

20.8. Legal and arbitration proceedings Part II - Section B 42 - 43 (Legal 
Proceedings) 

20.9. Significant change in the issuer’s financial or trading 
position since the end of the last financial period Not applicable Not applicable 
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23. Third Party Information and Statement by Experts 
and Declarations of Any Interest   

23.1. 

Where a statement or report attributed to a person as 
an expert is included in the Registration Document, 
provide such person’s name, business address, 
qualifications and material interest if any in the 
issuer.   

Not applicable Not applicable 

23.2. 
Where information has been sourced from a third 
party, provide a confirmation that this information has 
been accurately reproduced. 

Not applicable Not applicable 

24. Documents on Display Part II - Section B 
59 - 60 (XI. 

Documents on 
Display) 
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ANNEX III 
 

MINIMUM DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE SHARE SECURITIES NOTE (SCHEDULE) 

(Page numbering refers to the page contained in the relevant document) 

Item 
# Item contents Chapter/Exhibit Page 

1. Persons Responsible   

1.1. All persons responsible for the information given in the 
prospectus. Prospectus 

4 (Company 
Representative 
for Prospectus) 

1.2. A declaration by those responsible for the prospectus  Prospectus 
4 (Company 

Representative 
for Prospectus) 

2. Risk Factors   Part II - Section A 14 - 31 (Risk 
Factors) 

3. Key Information   

3.1 Working capital statement Part II - Section B 
58 (IX. Working 

Capital 
Statement) 

3.2 Capitalization and indebtedness Part II - Section B 

40 - 43 (V. 
Statement of 
Capitalization 

and 
Indebtedness as 
of February 27, 

2015) 

3.4 Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds 
Part II - Section B 32 (1.1 Purpose 

of the ESPP) 

Exhibit I Section 1.1 

4. Information Concerning the Securities to be 
Offered/ Admitted to Trading   

4.1 Type and the class of the securities being offered, 
including the security identification code. Part II - Section B 

36 (4.1 Type and 
the Class of the 
Securities being 

Offered, 
Including the 

Security 
Identification 

Code) 
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Exhibit I Section 2(t) and 
4 

4.2 Legislation under which the securities have been 
created. Part II - Section B 

36 (4.2 
Legislation 

Under Which the 
Securities Have 
Been Created) 

4.3 Form of securities, name and address of the entity in 
charge of keeping the records. Part II - Section B 

36 - 37 (4.3 Form 
of Securities, 

Name and 
address of the 

Entity in Charge 
of Keeping the 

Records) 

4.4 Currency of the securities issue. Part II - Section B 
37 (4.4 Currency 
of the Securities 

Issue) 

4.5 Rights attached to the securities Part II - Section B 
37 - 39 (4.5 

Rights Attached 
to the Securities) 

4.6 
Statement of the resolutions, authorizations and 
approvals by virtue of which the securities have been 
or will be created and/or issued. 

Part II - Section B 32 (1.1 Purpose 
of the ESPP) 

Exhibit I Subheader 

4.7 Expected issue date of the securities. Part II - Section B 32 - 33 (1.3 
Purchase Period) 

4.8 Description of any restrictions on the free transferability 
of the securities. 

Part II - Section B 

36 (III. Delivery 
and Sale of the 

Shares) and 

39 (4.6 
Transferability) 

Exhibit I Sections 11 and 
15 

4.9 Mandatory takeover bids and/or squeeze-out and sell-
out rules in relation to the securities. Part II - Section B 

39 - 40 (4.7 
General 

Provisions 
Applying to 
Business 

Combinations) 

4.11 Information on taxes on the income from the securities Part II - Section B 60 - 64 (XII. Tax 
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withheld at source Consequences) 

5. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER   

5.1 Conditions, offer statistics, expected timetable and 
action required to apply for the offer   

5.1.1  Conditions to which the offer is subject. 
Part II - Section B 

32 - 36 (I. The 
Outline, II. 

Eligibility and III. 
Delivery and 
Sale of the 

Shares) 

Exhibit I All sections 

5.1.2 Total amount of the issue/offer.  
Part II - Section B 44 (6.2 Net 

Proceeds) 

Exhibit I Section 4 

5.1.3 Time period during which the offer will be open and 
description of the application process.  

Part II - Section B 

32 - 36 (I. The 
Outline, II. 

Eligibility and III. 
Delivery and 
Sale of the 

Shares) 

Exhibit I Sections 5, 6, 7, 
8 and 11 

5.1.4 

Circumstances under which the offer may be revoked 
or suspended and whether revocation can occur after 
dealing has begun.  

Part II - Section B 

33 - 34 (1.7 
Termination or 
Amendment of 
the ESPP) and 

35 - 36 (2.5 
Termination of 
Employment of 

Participating 
Employees) 

Exhibit I Sections 12, 13, 
14 and 22 

5.1.5 Possibility to reduce subscriptions and the manner for 
refunding excess amount paid by applicants.  Part II - Section B 

35 (2.4 
Discontinuance 

of Participation of 
Participating 
Employees) 
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5.1.6 Minimum and/or maximum amount of application. 
Part II - Section B 

32 (1.2 Shares 
Offered Under 
the ESPP) and 

34 (2.2 
Participation of 

Eligible 
Employees) 

Exhibit I Section 5 

5.1.7 Period during which an application may be withdrawn.  Part II - Section B 

35 (2.4 
Discontinuance 

of Participation of 
Participating 
Employees 

5.1.8 Method and time limits for paying up the securities and 
for delivery of the securities.  

Part II - Section B 

35 (2.3 Payroll 
Deductions) and 

36 (III. Delivery 
and Sale of the 

Shares) 

Exhibit I Sections 9, 10 
and 11 

5.3 Pricing   

5.3.1. An indication of the price at which the securities will be 
offered.  

Part II - Section B 33 (1.4 Purchase 
Price) 

Exhibit I Section 9 

5.3.2. Process for the disclosure of the offer price. 
Part II - Section B 

33 (1.4 Purchase 
Price) and 

36 - 37 (4.3 Form 
of Securities, 

Name and 
Address of the 

Entity in Charge 
of Keeping the 

Records) 

Exhibit I Section 9 

5.3.3. If the issuer’s equity holders have pre-emptive 
purchase rights and this right is restricted or withdrawn. Part II - Section B 

39 (No 
Preemptive, 

Redemptive or 
Conversion 
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Provisions) 

5.3.4 

Where there is or could be a material disparity between 
the public offer price and the effective cash cost to 
members of the administrative, management or 
supervisory bodies or senior management, or affiliated 
persons, of securities acquired by them in transactions 
during the past year. 

Not applicable Not applicable 

5.4. Placing and Underwriting   

5.4.2 Name and address of any paying agents and 
depository agents in each country. Part II - Section B 

36 - 37 (4.3 Form 
of Securities, 

Name and 
Address of the 

Entity in Charge 
of Keeping the 

Records) 

6. Admission to Trading and Dealing Arrangements   

6.1 Whether the securities offered are or will be the object 
of an application for admission to trading. Part II - Section B 

36 (4.1 Type and 
Class of the 

Securities being 
Offered, 

Including the 
Security 

Identification 
Code) 

6.2 

Regulated markets or equivalent markets on which 
securities of the same class of the securities to be 
offered or admitted to trading are already admitted to 
trading. 

Part II - Section B 

36 (4.1 Type and 
Class of the 

Securities being 
Offered, 

Including the 
Security 

Identification 
Code) 

8. Expense of the Issue/Offer   

8.1. The total net proceeds and an estimate of the total 
expenses of the issue/offer. Part II - Section B 44 (6.2 Net 

Proceeds) 

9. Dilution   

9.1. The amount and percentage of immediate dilution 
resulting from the offer. Part II - Section B 

43 - 44 (6.1 
Maximum 
Dilution) 

9.2. In the case of a subscription offer to existing equity 
holders, the amount and percentage of immediate 

Not applicable Not applicable 



CROSS-REFERENCE LISTS 

1302370-v6\NYCDMS xi 

Item 
# Item contents Chapter/Exhibit Page 

dilution if they do not subscribe to the new offer. 

10. Additional Information   

10.1. 
If advisors connected with an issue are mentioned in 
the Securities Note, a statement of the capacity in 
which the advisors have acted. 

Not applicable Not applicable 

10.3. 

Where a statement or report attributed to a person as 
an expert is included in the Securities Note, provide 
such persons’ name, business address, qualifications 
and material interest if any in the issuer. 

Not applicable Not applicable 

10.4. Where information has been sourced from a third party. Not applicable Not applicable 
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